ALEA, Lat. Am. J. Probab. Math. Stat. 18, 1127–1194 (2021) DOI: 10.30757/ALEA.v18-43



Fluctuations of nodal sets on the 3-torus and general cancellation phenomena

Massimo Notarnicola

Department of Mathematics, Université du Luxembourg 2 Avenue de l'Université, 4365 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg. *E-mail address*: massimo.notarnicola@uni.lu

Abstract. Benatar and Maffucci (2019) established an asymptotic law for the variance of the nodal surface of arithmetic random waves on the 3-torus in the high-energy limit. In a subsequent work, Cammarota (2019) proved a universal non-Gaussian limit theorem for the nodal surface. In this paper, we study the nodal intersection length and the number of nodal intersection points associated, respectively, with two and three independent arithmetic random waves of same frequency on the 3-torus. For these quantities, we compute their expected value, asymptotic variance as well as their limiting distribution. Our results are based on Wiener-Itô expansions for the volume and naturally complement the findings of Cammarota (2019). At the core of our analysis lies an abstract cancellation phenomenon applicable to the study of level sets of arbitrary Gaussian random fields, that we believe has independent interest.

Contents

1. Introduction	1128
1.1. Overview	1128
1.2. Models of ARW and relevant existing results	1129
1.3. Our main results	1133
1.4. Further connection with literature	1136
1.5. Plan of the paper	1137
Acknowledgement	1137
2. Wiener Chaos and abstract cancellation phenomena	1138
2.1. Preliminaries on Wiener Chaos	1138
2.2. An abstract cancellation phenomenon	1138
2.3. Applications to nodal sets of Gaussian Laplace eigenfunctions	1141
3. Proof of Theorem 1.1	1143

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 60G60, 60B10, 60D05, 58J50, 35P20.

Key words and phrases. Arithmetic Random Waves, Limit theorems, Random fields, Nodal volumes, Gaussian analysis, Wiener-Itô decomposition, Berry's Cancellation Phenomenon.

Received by the editors October 30th, 2020; accepted April 1st, 2021.

Research supported by Luxembourg National Research Fund PRIDE15/10949314/GSM.

3.1. The proof	1143
3.2. Complete study of the fourth chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$	1148
Appendix A. Proof of Theorem 2.5 and chaos expansion of level functionals	1161
A.1. Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$	1161
A.2. Proof of Theorem 2.5	1165
Appendix B. Fourier-Hermite coefficients of Gramian determinants on the fourth Wiene	r
chaos	1166
B.1. A representation of the Gramian determinant	1167
B.2. Technical computations	1169
Appendix C. On the two-point correlation function	1173
C.1. Covariances	1173
C.2. Two-point correlation function	1173
C.3. Taylor expansions	1177
Appendix D. Continuity of nodal volumes	1180
Appendix E. Singular and non-singular cubes	1183
E.1. Definitions and ancillary results	1183
E.2. Proof of Lemma 3.1	1185
E.3. Proofs of Lemma 3.6 and Lemma 3.7	1190
References	1191

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview. The present paper deals with the high-energy behaviour of the nodal set associated with arithmetic random waves (ARW) on the 3-torus, \mathbb{T}^3 . ARWs (first introduced in Oravecz et al., 2008; Rudnick and Wigman, 2008 for tori of arbitrary dimension) are Gaussian stationary eigenfunctions of the Laplace operator on the torus. In recent years, such a model has been intensively studied, in the framework of a more general program, focussing on the high-energy behaviour of local and non-local functionals of random Laplace eigenfunctions on generic manifolds (see e.g. Canzani and Sarnak, 2019; Sarnak and Wigman, 2019; Rozenshein, 2017; Wigman and Yesha, 2019; Krishnapur et al., 2013; Rudnick and Wigman, 2008; Granville and Wigman, 2017; Marinucci et al., 2016; Dalmao et al., 2019; Todino, 2020, 2019; Peccati and Vidotto, 2020; Dalmao et al., 2021).

Our specific aim is to extend the findings of Benatar and Maffucci (2019), that first provided an exact asymptotic variance for the nodal surface area of the nodal set of ARW on \mathbb{T}^3 , and Cammarota (2019), that subsequently derived the limiting distribution of the normalised nodal surface area. More precisely, the goal of this paper is to study the high-energy behaviour of two further geometric quantities associated with vectors of ARWs, namely: (i) the nodal length of so-called *dislocation lines* of ARWs (see e.g. Dennis, 2001), obtained when intersecting the zero sets of two independent ARWs with the same eigenvalue and (ii) the number of intersection points obtained when intersecting the zero sets of three independent ARWs with the same eigenvalue. For both quantities, we provide the exact expected value, precise variance asymptotics and second-order limit results. Our findings recover and extend the work of Cammarota (2019). Such a contribution is the latest installment in a series of works exploiting Wiener chaos techniques for deriving limit results of geometric functionals associated with Gaussian fields (see e.g. Cammarota et al., 2016; Dalmao et al., 2019; Marinucci et al., 2016; Nourdin et al., 2019; Cammarota, 2019; Dalmao et al., 2021). Our main source of arithmetic results, serving as building blocks for the nodal variance asymptotics, is Benatar and Maffucci (2019).

An important contribution of our analysis is a detailed study of the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion associated with non-linear geometric functionals of (possibly multi-dimensional) Gaussian fields admitting an integral representation in terms of generalised Jacobians (see Appendix A). In particular, our findings of Section 2.2 provide a full description of a general cancellation phenomenon that (i) explains all exact cancellations for the nodal length of Gaussian Laplace eigenfunctions on manifolds without boundary encountered so far (see e.g. Dalmao et al., 2019; Marinucci et al., 2020, 2016; Cammarota, 2019); (ii) contains as special cases the projection formulae (see also Appendix B) for nodal length and number of phase singularities of Berry's Random Wave model (see Nourdin et al., 2019).

Notation. Throughout this paper, every random object is defined on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. We denote by $\mathbb{E}[\cdot]$ and $\operatorname{Var}[\cdot]$ the mathematical expectation and the variance with respect to \mathbb{P} , respectively. Also, $\gamma(x) := (2\pi)^{-1/2} e^{-x^2/2}$ denotes the standard Gaussian probability density on the real line.

For sequences $\{A_n : n \ge 1\}$, $\{B_n : n \ge 1\}$, we will use the notation $A_n \ll B_n$ or $A_n = O(B_n)$ to indicate that $A_n \le CB_n$ for some absolute constant C. We write $A_n = o(B_n)$ whenever $A_n/B_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Also, we write $A_n \sim B_n$ whenever $A_n/B_n \to 1$ as $n \to \infty$. For random variables, the symbols $\stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=}$ and $\stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{\to}$ denote equality and convergence in distribution, respectively.

For an integer $n \ge 1$, we write $[n] := \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For $n \ge 0$, we denote by Id_n the *n*-dimensional identity matrix with the convention that $\mathrm{Id}_0 := 0 \in \mathbb{R}$. For $A \in \mathrm{Mat}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ and $B \in \mathrm{Mat}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R})$, we write

$$A \oplus B := \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{p+p',q+q'}(\mathbb{R})$$

for the direct sum of A and B with the convention $A \oplus \mathrm{Id}_0 := A$ for every $A \in \mathrm{Mat}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$.

1.2. Models of ARW and relevant existing results. Let (M, g) be a smooth compact Riemannian manifold and let Δ be the associated Beltrami-Laplace operator. The spectrum of Δ is purely discrete, that is: (i) there exists a non-decreasing sequence $\{\lambda_j : j \ge 0\}$ of non-negative eigenvalues of $-\Delta$, customarily called the *energy levels of* M, and (ii) the associated eigenfunctions $\{f_j : j \ge 0\}$, satisfying

$$\Delta f_j + \lambda_j f_j = 0 , \quad j \ge 0 , \tag{1.1}$$

form an $L^2(M)$ -orthonormal system. The nodal set of f_j is its zero set $f_j^{-1}(\{0\})$. In Cheng (1976) it is shown that, except on a closed set of lower dimension, $f_j^{-1}(\{0\}) \subset M$ is a submanifold of codimension one. Of particular interest are quantities associated with the nodal set of f_j , such as the nodal volume, in the high-energy regime, that is, as $\lambda_j \to \infty$. Yau's conjecture (Yau, 1982, 1993) asserts that there exist constants $c_M, C_M > 0$, uniquely depending on M, such that

$$c_M \sqrt{\lambda_j} \le \operatorname{vol}(f_j^{-1}(\{0\})) \le C_M \sqrt{\lambda_j}$$
,

with $vol(\cdot)$ denoting the volume measure on M. This conjecture was proven for real-analytic manifolds M in Donnelly and Fefferman (1988), whereas the lower bound is a result by Logunov (2018) in the more general case where M is smooth.

Arithmetic random waves on \mathbb{T}^d . Let us specialize the above framework to the setting of the *d*-dimensional torus. Let $d \geq 1$ be an integer, let $M = \mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d = [0,1]^d/_{\sim}$ denote the *d*-dimensional flat torus, and let Δ be the Laplace-Beltrami operator on it. One is interested in quantities associated with the nodal sets of real-valued random eigenfunctions of Δ , i.e. random solutions $f : \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ of (1.1) for some appropriate λ_j . It is a known fact that the eigenvalues of $-\Delta$ are positive real numbers of the form $E = E_n = 4\pi^2 n$, where $n \in S_d$, with

$$S_d := \left\{ m \ge 1 : \exists (m_1, \dots, m_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d, m = m_1^2 + \dots + m_d^2 \right\} ,$$

that is, n is an integer expressible as a sum of d integer squares. For $n \in S_d$, we introduce the set of frequencies

$$\Lambda_n := \left\{ \lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d : \lambda_1^2 + \dots + \lambda_d^2 = n \right\} ,$$

and write $\operatorname{card}(\Lambda_n) =: \mathcal{N}_n$ (card denoting the cardinality; note that we do not mark the dependency on d) to indicate the number of ways in which n can be represented as a sum of d integer squares. An $L^2(\mathbb{T}^d)$ -orthonormal system for the eigenspace $\mathscr{E}(E_n)$ associated with E_n is given by the complex exponentials

$$\{e_{\lambda}(\cdot) := \exp(2\pi i \langle \lambda, \cdot \rangle) : \lambda \in \Lambda_n\}$$
,

so that dim $\mathscr{E}(E_n) = \operatorname{card}(\Lambda_n) = \mathcal{N}_n$. For $n \in S_d$, the arithmetic random wave of order n, denoted by T_n , is defined as the following random linear combination of complex exponentials

$$T_n(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} a_\lambda e_\lambda(x) , \quad x \in \mathbb{T}^3$$

where the coefficients $\{a_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda_n\}$ are complex $\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ -distributed¹ and independent except for the relation $a_{\lambda} = \overline{a_{-\lambda}}$, which makes T_n real-valued. It is easily seen that the law of T_n is uniquely characterized by the property of being a centred Gaussian field on \mathbb{T}^d with covariance function

$$r_n(x,y) := \mathbb{E}\left[T_n(x) \cdot T_n(y)\right] = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} e_\lambda(x-y) =: r_n(x-y) .$$
(1.2)

The function r_n depends only on the difference of the arguments, meaning that the field $\{T_n(x) : x \in \mathbb{T}^d\}$ is stationary. Note that the normalisation factor $\mathcal{N}_n^{-1/2}$ in the definition of $T_n(x)$ does not change the zero set of T_n , and appears purely for computational reasons; indeed, it implies that $r_n(0) = 1$, that is: for every $x \in \mathbb{T}^3$, the variance of $T_n(x)$ is equal to 1.

Equidistribution of lattice points on S^{d-1} . The set of frequencies Λ_n induces a probability measure on the unit sphere $S^{d-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, given by

$$\mu_{n,d} := \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \delta_{\lambda/\sqrt{n}} ,$$

where $\delta_{\lambda/\sqrt{n}}$ denotes the Dirac mass at λ/\sqrt{n} . Since the measure $\mu_{n,d}$ is compactly supported, it is determined by its Fourier coefficients

$$\widehat{\mu_{n,d}}(k) := \int_{S^{d-1}} z^{-k} \mu_{n,d}(dz) , \quad k \in \mathbb{Z} .$$

Up to rescaling its argument, the measure $\mu_{n,d}$ is the spectral measure of the Gaussian field $\{T_n(x) : x \in \mathbb{T}^d\}$, as can be seen by rewriting (1.2) as

$$r_n(x-y) = \int_{S^{d-1}} \exp\left(2\pi i \langle \sqrt{n\xi}, x-y \rangle\right) \mu_{n,d}(d\xi)$$

The problem of angular distribution of the lattice points in dimension d has been investigated by Linnik (1968). A notable difference arises when comparing dimensions d = 2 and d = 3: indeed, it is known that there exists a density 1 subsequence $\{n_j : j \ge 1\} \subset S_2$ such that $\mu_{n_j,2}$ converges weakly to the uniform distribution on the unit circle as $\mathcal{N}_{n_j} \to \infty$ (Erdős and Hall, 1999), but there are infinitely many other weak limits of $\{\mu_{n,2} : n \in S_2\}$; such limits are referred to as *attainable measures* (Kurlberg and Wigman, 2017). Instead, when d = 3, subject to the condition $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7$ (mod 8), the probability measures $\{\mu_{n,3} : n \in S_3\}$ converge weakly to the uniform probability measure on S^2 (Duke, 1988), implying asymptotic equidistribution (Duke and Schulze-Pillot, 1990).

¹We say that a random variable X has the complex $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$ distribution, if X = Y + iZ where Y, Z are independent real $\mathcal{N}(0,1/2)$ random variables.

In this context, the arithmetic condition $n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$ arises naturally from the result by Gauss and Legendre asserting that $n \in S_3$ if and only if n is not of the form $4^a(8b+7)$ (see e.g. Grosswald, 1985).

Previous work on this model. ARWs on the *d*-dimensional torus have been introduced in Oravecz et al. (2008), where the authors consider the *Leray measure* of the nodal set of ARWs and study its asymptotic variance. A quantitative Central Limit Theorem for the Leray measure on the two-dimensional torus (in the high-frequency limit) is provided in Peccati and Rossi (2018). In Rudnick and Wigman (2008), the authors take interest in the (d-1)-dimensional nodal volume of ARWs. Denoting by Z_n the zero set of T_n and $\mathcal{V}_n := \mathcal{H}_{d-1}(Z_n)$ its (d-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure, the expected nodal volume is shown to be a constant multiple of the square root of the energy level, that is, $\mathbb{E}[\mathcal{V}_n] = C_d \sqrt{E_n}$, where C_d is an explicit constant depending only on the dimension, which is in particular consistent with Yau's conjecture. Concerning the variance of the nodal volume, the authors derive the asymptotic upper bound

$$\operatorname{Var}[\mathcal{V}_n] \ll \frac{E_n}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} , \quad \mathcal{N}_n \to \infty$$

and conjecture the stronger bound $\ll E_n/\mathcal{N}_n$ to hold.

Recent developments on the two and three-dimensional torus concerning exact asymptotic laws for variances and subsequent second-order results for fluctuations of quantities associated with the nodal set of Laplacian eigenfunctions have gained great attention in the literature. We will now briefly discuss these works.

<u>Work on the two-dimensional torus.</u> In Krishnapur et al. (2013), for any probability measure μ on the circle, the authors define

$$c(\mu) := \frac{1 + \hat{\mu}(4)^2}{512}$$

and derive a precise asymptotic law for the variance of the nodal length \mathcal{L}_n of ARW, namely

$$\operatorname{Var}[\mathcal{L}_n] \sim c(\mu_{n,2}) \cdot \frac{E_n}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} , \quad \mathcal{N}_n \to \infty .$$
 (1.3)

This suggests that, if $\{n_j : j \ge 1\} \subset S_2$ is a subsequence such that $\mu_{n_j,2}$ converges weakly to some symmetric probability measure μ on S^1 , then $c(\mu_{n_j,2}) \to c(\mu)$ as $\mathcal{N}_{n_j} \to \infty$ and hence

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\mathcal{L}_{n_j}\right] \sim c(\mu) \cdot \frac{E_{n_j}}{\mathcal{N}_{n_j}^2} , \quad \mathcal{N}_{n_j} \to \infty ,$$
 (1.4)

yielding an asymptotic variance estimate with non-fluctuating order of magnitude. In particular, the order of magnitude of the variance is E_n/\mathcal{N}_n^2 , which significantly improves the previously conjectured bound E_n/\mathcal{N}_n in Rudnick and Wigman (2008). Such a lower order of magnitude is known as *Berry's arithmetic cancellation phenomenon*, which follows from the exact vanishing of the second-order projection of the Wiener-Itô expansion of the nodal length, as pointed out in Marinucci et al. (2016); such a cancellation phenomenon is not observed when dealing with non-zero level sets, in which case the variance would be commensurate to E_n/\mathcal{N}_n .

The asymptotic estimate in (1.4) depends on the angular distribution of the lattice points, and is therefore referred to as a *non-universal* result. Second-order results of the normalised nodal length were addressed in Marinucci et al. (2016), where the authors show that for a subsequence $\{n_j: j \ge 1\} \subset S_2$ such that $|\widehat{\mu_{n_j,2}}(4)| \to \eta$, for some $\eta \in [0, 1]$ and $\mathcal{N}_{n_j} \to \infty$,

$$\frac{\mathcal{L}_{n_j} - \mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{L}_{n_j}\right]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}\left[\mathcal{L}_{n_j}\right]}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1+\eta^2}} \left(2 - (1+\eta)X_1^2 + (1-\eta)X_2^2\right) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{1+\eta^2}} \left(2 - (1+\eta$$

where (X_1, X_2) is a standard Gaussian vector in dimension two. In particular, this shows that the limiting probability distribution of the normalised nodal length is parametrised by $\eta \in [0, 1]$, which depends on the high-energy behaviour of the spectral measures $\mu_{n,2}$ via the fourth Fourier coefficient. This fact emphasizes that, similarly to the asymptotic law for the variance, the limiting distribution of the normalised length is also non-universal. It is easily checked that the above limiting distributions are different for distinct values of η and non-Gaussian. A quantitative version of this limit theorem is proven in Peccati and Rossi (2018).

Phase singularities of complex ARWs on the 2-torus have been investigated in Dalmao et al. (2019); there, the authors consider the number of intersection points of the nodal sets of two independent ARWs of same energy level. More precisely, if T_n and T'_n denote two independent ARWs associated with eigenvalue E_n and $I_n := \operatorname{card}(T_n^{-1}(\{0\}) \cap T_n'^{-1}(\{0\}))$, the authors establish the following non-universal asymptotic law for the variance: as $\mathcal{N}_n \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{Var}[I_n] \sim c(\mu_{n,2}) \cdot \frac{E_n^2}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} , \quad c(\mu_{n,2}) := \frac{3\widehat{\mu_{n,2}}(4)^2 + 5}{128\pi^2} .$$

Similar to the asymptotic variance of the nodal length, the variance of I_n fluctuates due to the fact that lattice points are not necessarily asymptotically equidistributed. The following distributional limit result is also provided: for $\{n_j : j \ge 1\} \subset S_2$ such that $|\widehat{\mu_{n_j,2}}(4)| \to \eta$, for some $\eta \in [0,1]$ and $\mathcal{N}_{n_j} \to \infty$,

$$\frac{I_{n_j} - \mathbb{E}\left[I_{n_j}\right]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}\left[I_{n_j}\right]}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \frac{1}{2\sqrt{10 + 6\eta^2}} \left(\frac{1+\eta}{2}A + \frac{1-\eta}{2}B - 2(C-2)\right) ,$$

where A, B, C are independent random variables such that $A \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} B \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} 2X_1^2 + 2X_2^2 - 4X_3^2$ and $C \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} X_1^2 + X_2^2$, and (X_1, X_2, X_3) is a standard Gaussian vector in dimension three.

Related work on the two-dimensional torus include the study of the volume of the nodal set intersected with a fixed reference curve (Rossi and Wigman, 2018), or line segment (Maffucci, 2017). In Benatar et al. (2020) the authors restrict the nodal length of ARWs to shrinking balls and prove that the restricted nodal length is asymptotically fully correlated with the total nodal length. In Granville and Wigman (2017), Granville and Wigman study the small scale distribution of the L^2 -mass of Laplacian eigenfunctions. Finally, in the recent work Cammarota et al. (2020) the authors investigate the probabilistic fluctuations of Lipschitz-Killing curvatures in the highfrequency regime.

<u>Work on the three-dimensional torus.</u> Statements on the three-dimensional torus include the arithmetic relation $n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$ and, unlike the two-dimensional case, they do not rely on the spectral measures $\{\mu_{n,3} : n \in S_3\}$ due to equidistribution of lattice points on the unit two-sphere. The existing literature in d = 3 considers the nodal set Z_n of T_n and its two-dimensional Hausdorff measure $\mathcal{A}_n := \mathcal{H}_2(Z_n)$, that is the nodal surface of Z_n . In Benatar and Maffucci (2019), an exact asymptotic law for the variance is provided, namely as $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\operatorname{Var}[\mathcal{A}_n] = \frac{n}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \left(\frac{32}{375} + O\left(n^{-1/28 + o(1)} \right) \right) .$$
(1.5)

Similarly to the two-dimensional case, the order of magnitude of the variance is commensurate to E_n/\mathcal{N}_n^2 , which originates from the cancellation of the second chaotic projection in the Wiener chaos expansion of the nodal surface. As a consequence of the asymptotic equidistribution of lattice points on S^2 , the leading coefficient in front of n/\mathcal{N}_n^2 in (1.5) does not fluctuate. The limiting distribution

of the normalised nodal surface was investigated in Cammarota (2019), where the following non-Gaussian, universal result was derived: as $n \to \infty$, $n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\frac{\mathcal{A}_n - \mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{A}_n\right]}{\sqrt{\operatorname{Var}[\mathcal{A}_n]}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{10}} \cdot \left(5 - \chi^2(5)\right) \,,$$

where $\chi^2(5)$ denotes a chi-squared random variable with 5 degrees of freedom. This distributional limit result is analogous to the case d = 2 in the sense that the limiting distribution is a linear combination of independent chi-squared random variables, but does not involve any non-universality phenomenon.

Results on the intersection of nodal sets against a surface can be found in Rudnick et al. (2016); Rudnick and Wigman (2016), see also Maffucci (2020) for a study of the intersection length obtained when intersecting nodal sets of ARWs with planes.

1.3. Our main results. Let T_n be an arithmetic random wave on \mathbb{T}^3 and $T_n^{(1)}, T_n^{(2)}, T_n^{(3)}$ be i.i.d. copies of T_n . Fix $\ell \in [3]$ and consider the centred ℓ -dimensional Gaussian field

$$\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)} := \left\{ \mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(x) := (T_{n}^{(1)}(x), \dots, T_{n}^{(\ell)}(x)) : x \in \mathbb{T}^{3} \right\} , \qquad (1.6)$$

to which we associate the quantity

$$L_n^{(\ell)} := \mathcal{H}_{3-\ell} \left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\ell} \left(T_n^{(i)} \right)^{-1} (\{0\}) \right) , \qquad (1.7)$$

where, for a k-dimensional measurable domain $A \subset \mathbb{T}^3$, $\mathcal{H}_k(A)$ denotes the k-dimensional Haussdorff measure of A, that is $(\mathcal{H}_2, \mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_0) = (\text{area, length, card})$. We denote the normalised nodal volume by

$$\widetilde{L_n^{(\ell)}} := \frac{L_n^{(\ell)} - \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}\right]}{\operatorname{Var}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}\right]^{1/2}} \,.$$

Since $T_n^{(1)}, T_n^{(2)}$ and $T_n^{(3)}$ are i.i.d. copies of T_n , we have

$$L_n^{(i)}(x-y) := \mathbb{E}\left[T_n^{(i)}(x) \cdot T_n^{(i)}(y)\right] = r_n(x-y) , \quad i \in [\ell],$$

where r_n is as in (1.2).

Our main result, stated in Theorem 1.1 below, provides exact second order results for the three quantities $L_n^{(1)}, L_n^{(2)}, L_n^{(3)}$, and thus contains the findings of Cammarota (2019) in the special case $\ell = 1$. The statement is divided into three parts: (i) gives the precise expected nodal volume, (ii) is an asymptotic law for the nodal variance and (iii) concerns the second-order fluctuations of the normalised version of the nodal volume.

Theorem 1.1. Let the above notation prevail. Then the following holds:

(i) (Expected nodal volume) For every $n \in S_3$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}\right] = \begin{cases} \frac{2\sqrt{E_n}}{\sqrt{3\pi}} , & \ell = 1\\ \frac{E_n}{3\pi} , & \ell = 2\\ \frac{E_n^{3/2}}{3\sqrt{3\pi^2}} , & \ell = 3 \end{cases}$$

(ii) (Universal asymptotic nodal variance) As $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[L_{n}^{(\ell)}\right] \sim \begin{cases} \frac{E_{n}}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \cdot \frac{8}{375\pi^{2}} , & \ell = 1\\ \frac{E_{n}^{2}}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \cdot \frac{316}{3375\pi^{2}} , & \ell = 2\\ \frac{E_{n}^{3}}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \cdot \frac{62}{675\pi^{4}} , & \ell = 3 \end{cases}$$

(iii) (Universal asymptotic distribution of the nodal volume) As $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\widetilde{L_n^{(\ell)}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\sqrt{10}} \hat{\xi}_1(5) , & \ell = 1 \\ 5\sqrt{\frac{15}{79}} \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_1(10) - \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_2(5) + \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_3(5) + \frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_4(5) - \frac{1}{6} \hat{\xi}_5(3) \right) , & \ell = 2 \\ 5\sqrt{\frac{2}{31}} \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_1(15) - \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_2(15) + \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_3(15) + \frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_4(15) - \frac{1}{6} \hat{\xi}_5(9) \right) , & \ell = 3 \end{cases}$$

where, in each line, the symbols $\hat{\xi}_i(k_i)$ denote independent centred chi-squared random variables with k_i degrees of freedom.

Remark 1.2. (a) We point out that the results stated separately in Theorem 1.1 can be written in a compact form. For integers $1 \le \ell \le k$, we set

$$\alpha(\ell,k) := \frac{(k)_{\ell} \kappa_k}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2} \kappa_{k-\ell}} , \qquad (1.8)$$

where $(k)_{\ell} := k!/(k-\ell)!$ and $\kappa_k := \frac{\pi^{k/2}}{\Gamma(1+k/2)}$ stands for the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^k . Note that one can re-write

$$\alpha(\ell,k) = \frac{\ell!\kappa_{\ell}}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \begin{bmatrix} k\\ \ell \end{bmatrix},$$

where $\begin{bmatrix} k \\ \ell \end{bmatrix} := \binom{k}{\ell} \frac{\kappa_k}{\kappa_{k-\ell}\kappa_{\ell}}$ are the so-called *flag coefficients* also appearing in the Gaussian Kinematic Formula (see for instance Adler and Taylor, 2007, Chapter 13). Using this definition, the content of Theorem 1.1 can be restated as follows: for every $\ell \in [3]$, one has that

(i) For every $n \in S_3$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}\right] = \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} .$$
(1.9)

(ii) As $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[L_{n}^{(\ell)}\right] \sim (c_{n}^{(\ell)})^{2} \left(\ell \cdot \frac{1}{250} + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \frac{76}{375}\right), \qquad (1.10)$$

where

$$c_n^{(\ell)} = \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n}$$

(iii) As $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\widetilde{L_n^{(\ell)}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \left(\ell \cdot \frac{1}{250} + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \frac{76}{375} \right)^{-1/2} Y^{(\ell)} M^{(\ell)} (Y^{(\ell)})^T , \qquad (1.11)$$

where $Y^{(\ell)} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\ell(9\ell-4)}(0, \mathrm{Id}_{\ell(9\ell-4)})$ is a $\ell(9\ell-4)$ -dimensional standard Gaussian vector and $M^{(\ell)} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell(9\ell-4),\ell(9\ell-4)}(\mathbb{R})$ is the deterministic matrix given by

$$M^{(\ell)} = \frac{-1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{5\ell} \oplus \frac{-1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{-1}{6} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{3\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} .$$

For the point (iii) above, we observe that $Y^{(\ell)}M^{(\ell)}(Y^{(\ell)})^T$ in (1.11) is a diagonal quadratic form that has the same probability distribution as

$$-\frac{1}{50}\hat{\xi}_{1}(5\ell) - \frac{1}{25}\hat{\xi}_{2}\left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{25}\hat{\xi}_{3}\left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{50}\hat{\xi}_{4}\left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{6}\hat{\xi}_{5}\left(\frac{3\ell(\ell-1)}{2}\right)$$

where $\{\hat{\xi}_i(k_i): i=1,\ldots,5\}$ denote independent centred chi-squared random variables with $k_i \geq 0$ degrees of freedom with the convention $\hat{\xi}_i(0) \equiv 0$. In particular, this shows that for every $\ell \in [3]$, in the high-energy regime, the normalised nodal volume exhibits *universal* and non-Gaussian second-order fluctuations.

(b) As already discussed, for $\ell = 1$, Theorem 1.1 coincides with known results on the nodal surface area on the three-dimensional torus: Indeed part (ii) gives

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[L_{n}^{(1)}\right] \sim \frac{E_{n}}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \cdot \frac{8}{375\pi^{2}} = \frac{n}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \cdot \frac{32}{375}$$

as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, thus recovering the same order of magnitude as in Theorem 1.2 of Benatar and Maffucci (2019), whereas our limit result (iii) is Theorem 1 of Cammarota (2019): as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\widetilde{L_n^{(1)}} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \sqrt{250} \cdot Y^{(1)} M^{(1)} (Y^{(1)})^T \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \frac{1}{\sqrt{10}} (5 - \xi(5)) ,$$

- where $\xi(5) \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} Y_1^2 + \ldots + Y_5^2$. (c) Note that the order of magnitude $E_n^{\ell}/\mathcal{N}_n^2$ of the asymptotic variance in each of the cases $\ell = 1, 2, 3$ is consistent with what is observed in other models. As we will prove, this fact emerges from the vanishing of the second Wiener chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. An abstract cancellation phenomenon for functionals of Gaussian fields, applicable to the setting of level sets of Laplacian eigenfunctions, is stated in Theorem 2.5 (ii).
- (d) By inspection of the proof of Theorem 1.1, it is clear that the arguments used to prove items (ii) and (iii) of Theorem 1.1 crucially rely on the fact that the Wiener-Itô chaos decomposition of the nodal volumes $L_n^{(\ell)}$ is dominated in the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ -sense by its projection on the fourth Wiener chaos. As we will discuss later, such a phenomenon is absent on the related models of Laplace eigenfunctions on the Euclidean space of dimension 3 (see for instance Dalmao et al. (2021) and the discussion in Section 1.4), due to the fact that the variance of the q-th Wiener chaos projection of the nodal volumes (for $q \ge 3$ even) all have the same asymptotic scaling in the high-energy regime. In view of Marinucci and Rossi (2015), a situation analogous to the one detected in Dalmao et al. (2021) is expected to take place on the sphere of dimension $d \geq 3$.

We also point out that the statements (i) and (ii) of Theorem 1.1 are sufficient to derive a universal weak law of large numbers; it tells that the distribution of the normalised random variable $L_n^{(\ell)}/E_n^{\ell/2}$ is asymptotically concentrated around its mean:

Corollary 1.3. For every $\delta > 0$, as $n \to \infty$, $n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\left|\frac{L_n^{(\ell)}}{E_n^{\ell/2}} - \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{3^{\ell/2}(2\pi)^{\ell/2}}\right| > \delta\right] = o(1) \ .$$

This immediately follows from Chebyshev's Inequality: as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\left|\frac{L_n^{(\ell)}}{E_n^{\ell/2}} - \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{3^{\ell/2}(2\pi)^{\ell/2}}\right| > \delta\right] \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[\frac{L_n^{(\ell)}}{E_n^{\ell/2}}\right] = \frac{c_\ell}{\delta^2 \mathcal{N}_n^2} (1+o(1)) = o(1) ,$$

where c_{ℓ} is a constant only depending on ℓ .

Remark 1.4. In the two points listed below, we highlight further technical novelties appearing in the proof of Theorem 1.1.

- (a) The chaos expansions of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ is obtained from the Area/Co-Area formula by an approximation argument similar to those used in Kratz and León (2001), where the authors discuss Gaussian limit theorems for general level functionals associated with stationary Gaussian fields with integrable covariance function. Our arguments for proving existence in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ rely on the use of an adequate partition of the torus into singular and non-singular regions, see for instance Oravecz et al. (2008); Krishnapur et al. (2013). To the best of our expertise, although such a route has already been effectively exploited for obtaining variance estimates for higher-order chaotic projections of nodal quantities (see Peccati and Rossi, 2018; Dalmao et al., 2019; Nourdin et al., 2019), this approach for proving existence results in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ for geometric functionals associated with multi-dimensional Gaussian fields appears for the first time in the literature. We also stress that the argument based on almost surely bounding the nodal length $L_n^{(1)}$ associated with a single ARW (see Rudnick and Wigman, 2008 and Cammarota, 2019) does not apply in the case of more than one ARW, and therefore requires a different approach.
- (b) In order to derive the explicit expression of the fourth-order chaotic projection of $L_n^{(\ell)}$, we compute the Hermite projection coefficients associated with the mapping $\mathbf{X} \mapsto \det(\mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}^T)^{1/2}$, where \mathbf{X} is a $\ell \times 3$ matrix. In order to do this, we tackle the more general task of computing these projection coefficients in the case where \mathbf{X} is a generic $\ell \times k$ matrix. Our techniques build on standard properties of the Gaussian distribution as well as Gramian determinants, and in particular recover the known results obtained in Lemma 3.3, Dalmao et al. (2019).

1.4. Further connection with literature. <u>Berry's Random Wave Model</u>. In Berry (1977), Berry introduced the so-called Berry Random Wave model (BRW), that is, the unique translation-invariant centred Gaussian field $B_i = \{B_i(x) : x \in \mathbb{R}^2\}$ on the plane with covariance function

$$r_j(x,y) = \mathbb{E}[B_j(x) \cdot B_j(y)] = J_0(\sqrt{\lambda_j} \cdot ||x-y||) =: r_j(x-y) , \qquad (1.12)$$

for $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, with J_0 denoting the Bessel function of order 0 of the first kind and $\|\cdot\|$ the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^2 . Berry conjectured that local aspects of the geometry of zero sets of generic high-energy Laplace eigenfunctions on a two-dimensional manifold can be modelled by the BRW. More precisely, his observation proposes that eigenfunctions of chaotic systems locally 'behave' like a random superposition of plane waves with fixed energy. Since Berry's publication (Berry, 2002), the study of local and non-local features associated with the geometry of nodal and (non-zero) level sets of high-energy Gaussian Laplace eigenfunctions has gained substantial consideration and different models have been studied in recent years, the case of random spherical harmonics on the 2-sphere (see e.g. Marinucci et al., 2020; Rossi, 2016; Wigman, 2010; Marinucci and Peccati, 2011) and arithmetic random waves on the torus (see e.g. Oravecz et al., 2008; Rudnick and Wigman, 2008; Krishnapur et al., 2013; Cammarota, 2019; Dalmao et al., 2019; Marinucci et al., 2016) being

of particular importance. The study of BRW on \mathbb{R}^3 has been initiated in Dalmao et al. (2021). Therein, the authors consider the nodal length restricted to growing cubes of the complex BRW and distinguish between isotropic and anisotropic covariance functions. In the isotropic case, they show that the limiting distribution of the nodal length is Gaussian whenever the underlying covariance function of the model is square-integrable. The proof of such a Central Limit Theorem, based on the Wiener chaos expansion of the nodal length, reveals in particular that, in this framework, *all* the even chaoses except the second contribute to the limit. As already mentioned, this is in stark contrast with the results of our paper, based on the dominance of fourth chaos projections. Such a discrepancy can be partially explained by comparing the underlying covariance functions of the models, which is nearly monotonically decaying in the Euclidean setting and periodically oscillating on the torus. In Canzani and Hanin (2020); Zelditch (2009), the authors study *monochromatic random waves* on a general smooth compact manifold, that is, Gaussian linear combinations of eigenfunctions associated with eigenvalues ranging in a short interval.

Berry's Cancellation Phenomenon. Berry's cancellation phenomenon was first observed in Berry (2002) for nodal sets of BRW. Using the notation introduced in (1.12), Berry considered the length $L_j(D)$ of the nodal lines of B_j (Berry random wave for eigenvalue λ_j) and the number of nodal points $N_j(D)$ of the complex version of the BRW, i.e. the random field $\{B_j(x) + iB'_j(x) : x \in \mathbb{R}^2\}$, with B'_j denoting an independent copy of B_j , when both statistics are restricted to a compact domain D. For these observables, denoting \mathcal{A}_D the area of D, Berry obtained

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_j(D)\right] = \frac{\mathcal{A}_D}{2\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{\lambda_j} , \quad \mathbb{E}\left[N_j(D)\right] = \frac{\mathcal{A}_D}{4\pi}\lambda_j ;$$

as well as variance asymptotics, as $j \to \infty$

$$\operatorname{Var}[L_j(D)] \sim \frac{\mathcal{A}_D}{256\pi} \log(\sqrt{\lambda_j}\sqrt{\mathcal{A}_D}) ,$$
$$\operatorname{Var}[N_j(D)] = \frac{11\mathcal{A}_D}{64\pi^3} \lambda_j \log(\sqrt{\lambda_j}\sqrt{\mathcal{A}_D}) .$$
(1.13)

In Nourdin et al. (2019), the authors recover these results and show that the properly scaled versions of $L_j(D)$ and $N_j(D)$ satisfy a central limit theorem in the high-energy regime. Berry's cancellation phenomenon essentially concerns the order of magnitude of the asymptotic variance in (1.13): indeed, its *logarithmic* order is unexpectedly smaller than a natural prediction. Loosely speaking, such a lower order of magnitude originates from the exact cancellation of the leading term in the *Kac-Rice formula* for the variance. A general explanation of such a cancellation, based on the use of Wiener-chaos expansions of the nodal volumes, distilling the main ideas introduced in Marinucci et al. (2016); Dalmao et al. (2019); Nourdin et al. (2019) into a general principle, will be developed in the forthcoming sections.

1.5. *Plan of the paper.* In Section 2, we provide a general result (see Theorem 2.5) leading to cancellation phenomena in the setting of geometric functionals associated with nodal sets of multiple independent Gaussian fields. The proof is deferred to Appendix A. The proof of Theorem 1.1 on nodal sets of arithmetic random waves on the three-torus is the content of Section 3. Appendices B-E contain proofs of technical results needed for the proof of Theorem 1.1.

Acknowledgement. The author acknowledges support of the Luxembourg National Research Fund PRIDE15/10949314/GSM. The author thanks an anonymous reviewer for their insightful comments and suggestions, as well as Giovanni Peccati for the guidance throughout this work.

2. Wiener Chaos and abstract cancellation phenomena

In this section, we present some general results about non-linear functionals of Gaussian fields that admit an integral representation in terms of Dirac masses and Jacobians. As discussed in Section 2.3, this contains as special cases exact and partial cancellations discovered in Dalmao et al. (2019); Nourdin et al. (2019); Marinucci et al. (2016, 2020).

2.1. *Preliminaries on Wiener Chaos.* We briefly recall standard facts from Gaussian analysis. For further details, the reader is referred to the monographs Nourdin and Peccati (2012); Nualart (1995).

Let $\{H_k : k \ge 0\}$ denote the family of Hermite polynomials on the real line given recursively by

$$H_0(x) = 1, \ H_k(x) = xH_{k-1}(x) - H'_{k-1}(x) \ , \ k \ge 1$$

The first few are then given by

$$H_0(x) = 1$$
, $H_1(x) = x$, $H_2(x) = x^2 - 1$, $H_3(x) = x^3 - 3x$, $H_4(x) = x^4 - 6x^2 + 3$.

Moreover, the following symmetry relation holds for every $k \ge 0$, and every $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$H_k(-x) = (-1)^k H_k(x) . (2.1)$$

It is well-known that $\mathbb{H} := \{H_k/\sqrt{k!} : k \ge 0\}$ forms a complete orthonormal system of $L^2(\gamma) =: L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{R}), \gamma(x)dx)$, where $\gamma(x)$ denotes the standard Gaussian probability density function.

Let $G = \{G(u) : u \in \mathscr{U}\}$ denote a centred Gaussian field on a generic set \mathscr{U} and let \mathbb{G} be the real Gaussian Hilbert space obtained as the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ -closure of the vector space of all finite real linear combinations of elements of G. For an integer $q \ge 0$, we then denote by $\mathbb{C}_q^{\mathbb{G}}$ the q-th Wiener chaos associated with \mathbb{G} , that is, the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ -closure of the vector space of all finite real linear combinations of elements of the form

$$\prod_{j=1}^m H_{q_j}(X_j) , \quad m \ge 1 ,$$

such that $q_1 + \ldots + q_m = q$ and (X_1, \ldots, X_m) is a standard *m*-dimensional Gaussian vector extracted from \mathbb{G} . In particular, $\mathbf{C}_0^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathbb{R}$ consists of all constant random variables. Since \mathbb{H} is an orthonormal system of $L^2(\gamma)$, it follows that whenever $q \neq q'$, the spaces $\mathbf{C}_q^{\mathbb{G}}$ and $\mathbf{C}_{q'}^{\mathbb{G}}$ are orthogonal with respect to the inner product of $L^2(\mathbb{P})$, and one has the following decomposition

$$L^2(\Omega, \sigma(\mathbb{G}), \mathbb{P}) = \bigoplus_{q \ge 0} \mathbf{C}_q^{\mathbb{G}} \; ,$$

that is, every $\sigma(\mathbb{G})$ -measurable random variable F can be uniquely written as series (converging in the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ -sense)

$$F = \sum_{q \ge 0} \operatorname{proj}_q(F) , \qquad (2.2)$$

where for $q \ge 0$, $\operatorname{proj}_q(F) \in \mathbf{C}_q^{\mathbb{G}}$ denotes the projection of F onto $\mathbf{C}_q^{\mathbb{G}}$. Moreover, since $\mathbf{C}_0^{\mathbb{G}} = \mathbb{R}$, it follows that $\operatorname{proj}_0(F) = \mathbb{E}[F]$.

2.2. An abstract cancellation phenomenon. We consider a finite measurable space (Z, \mathscr{Z}, μ) such that $\mu(Z) = 1$. Let $G = \{G(z) : z \in Z\}$ be a real-valued centred Gaussian field indexed by Z. For an integer $\ell \geq 1$, let $G^{(1)}, \ldots, G^{(\ell)}$ be i.i.d. copies of G and write $\mathbf{G} = \{\mathbf{G}(z) = (G^{(1)}(z), \ldots, G^{(\ell)}(z)) : z \in Z\}$ to indicate the associated ℓ -dimensional Gaussian field. Additionally, let $W = \{W(z) : z \in Z\}$ be a (not necessarily Gaussian) random field indexed by Z. We denote by δ_u the Dirac mass at $u \in \mathbb{R}$. We introduce the following definition.

Definition 2.1. For every $u^{(\ell)} := (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$, we define the random variable

$$J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)}) := \int_{Z} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \delta_{u_i}(G^{(i)}(z)) \cdot W(z) \ \mu(dz)$$
$$:= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{Z} (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(G^{(i)}(z) - u_i) \cdot W(z) \ \mu(dz)$$
(2.3)

whenever the limit exists \mathbb{P} -almost surely. In the case where the limit exists in $L^p(\mathbb{P})$ for $p \ge 1$, we say that $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$ is well-defined in $L^p(\mathbb{P})$.

Our aim is to study the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$. As we will prove later (see Lemma 3.1), the nodal volumes $L_n^{(\ell)}, \ell \in [3]$ defined in (1.7) are obtained \mathbb{P} -a.s. and in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $L_n^{(\ell)} = J(\mathbf{G}, W, (0, \dots, 0))$, where $\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}$ is as in (1.6) and W(z) is the square root of the Gramian determinant of the Jacobian matrix of $\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}$ computed at z.

For integers $1 \leq \ell \leq k$, we use the notation $\mathbf{X} = \{X_j^{(i)} : (i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k]\}$ to indicate a generic element of the class $\operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R})$ of $\ell \times k$ matrices. The following definition generalizes the notion of Gramian determinants.

Definition 2.2. We say that a map $\Phi_{\ell,k} : \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ satisfies Assumption A if it satisfies the following four requirements for every $\mathbf{X} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R})$:

(A1) $\Phi_{\ell,k}$ is invariant under permutations of columns and rows of **X**, that is,

$$\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}(\{X_{\sigma(j)}^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k]\}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}(\{X_j^{(\pi(i))} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k]\})$$

for every permutation σ of [k] and π of $[\ell]$.

- (A2) $\Phi_{\ell,k}$ is positively homogeneous as a function of the rows of **X**, that is, for every $c \in \mathbb{R}$ and every $i \in [\ell]$, $|c|\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*)$, where \mathbf{X}^* denotes the matrix obtained from **X** by multiplying the *i*-th row by *c*.
- (A3) $\Phi_{\ell,k}$ is invariant under sign changes in the columns of **X**, that is, for every $j \in [k]$, $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*)$, where \mathbf{X}^* denotes the matrix obtained from **X** by multiplying the *j*-th column by -1.
- (A4) If $\ell \geq 2$, $\Phi_{\ell,k}$ is invariant under row addition, that is, $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*)$, where \mathbf{X}^* denotes the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by replacing its i_1 -th row by the sum of its i_1 -th and i_2 -th row for $i_1 \neq i_2 \in [\ell]$.

A prototype example of a function satisfying Assumption A above is given by the Gramian determinant $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) := \det(\mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}^T)^{1/2}$ as proved in Lemma B.1 of Appendix B.

Remark 2.3 (Role of Assumption A). Although in the proof of Theorem 1.1 we apply the results of the present section only to the particular function $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}) = \det(\mathbf{X}\mathbf{X}^T)^{1/2}$, we prefer to state our findings in the more general framework of functions verifying Assumption A, thus highlighting those features of the mapping $\mathbf{X} \mapsto \det(\mathbf{X}\mathbf{X}^T)^{1/2}$ that determine cancellation phenomena.

To state our result, we introduce the following objects:

• For every $i \in [\ell]$, let

$$\mathbf{X}^{(i)} = \left\{ \mathbf{X}^{(i)}(z) := (X_0^{(i)}(z), X_1^{(i)}(z), \dots, X_k^{(i)}(z)) : z \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$

be a (k + 1)-dimensional standard Gaussian field, i.e. $\mathbf{X}^{(i)}$ is a Gaussian family and for every fixed $z \in Z$, the vector $\mathbf{X}^{(i)}(z)$ is a standard (k+1)-dimensional Gaussian vector, that is, its coordinates $X_j^{(i)}(z), j = 0, ..., k$ are independent standard Gaussian random random variables. For $z \in Z$, we let $\mathbf{X}_{\star}^{(i)}(z) := (X_1^{(i)}(z), ..., X_k^{(i)}(z))$ and write

$$\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z) := \left\{ X_{j}^{(i)}(z) : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k] \right\}$$
(2.4)

for the $\ell \times k$ matrix whose *i*-th row is given by $\mathbf{X}^{(i)}_{\star}(z)$. If $\ell \geq 2$, for every $i_1 \neq i_2 \in [\ell]$, we assume that the random fields $\mathbf{X}^{(i_1)}$ and $\mathbf{X}^{(i_2)}$ are stochastically independent.

• For every $i \in [\ell]$, we define the quantities

$$D^{(i)} := \frac{1}{k} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{Z} X_{j}^{(i)}(z)^{2} \ \mu(dz) - \int_{Z} X_{0}^{(i)}(z)^{2} \ \mu(dz) \ , \tag{2.5}$$

$$m^{(i)} := \int_{Z} X_0^{(i)}(z) \ \mu(dz) \ . \tag{2.6}$$

• Consider a map $\Phi_{\ell,k} : \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times k} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ that satisfies Assumption A of Definition 2.2 and such that for every $z \in Z$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))^2\right] < \infty ,$$

and set

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))\right] =: \alpha_{\ell,k} . \tag{2.7}$$

Our next result provides the chaotic projections onto the q-th Wiener chaos associated with $\{\mathbf{X}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathbf{X}^{(\ell)}\}$ of the random variable $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$ defined in Definition 2.1 in the case where

$$\mathbf{G} = \left\{ (X_0^{(1)}(z), \dots, X_0^{(\ell)}(z)) : z \in Z \right\} , \quad W = \left\{ \Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z)) : z \in Z \right\} .$$
(2.8)

Note that, for every $z \in Z$, W(z) as defined in (2.8) is $\sigma(\mathbf{G})$ -measurable and stochastically independent of $\mathbf{G}(z)$. Part (ii) contains a general version of the chaos cancellation phenomenon observed e.g. in Wigman (2010); Marinucci and Rossi (2021); Krishnapur et al. (2013); Dalmao et al. (2019); Marinucci et al. (2016); Nourdin et al. (2019); Cammarota (2019). Its proof is deferred to Appendix A.

Remark 2.4. We stress here that the technical assumption requiring that $\mathbf{G}(z)$ is independent of W(z) for every fixed $z \in Z$ is needed in order to deduce the Wiener chaos expansion of the the random variable $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$. Indeed, exploiting this assumption, the latter will be obtained once (formally) expanding $\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \delta_{u_i}(G^{(i)}(z))$ and W(z) into Hermite polynomials and then integrating the product over Z (see Section A.1 for more details). On the other hand, the assumption that $\mathbf{X}^{(i_1)}$ and $\mathbf{X}^{(i_2)}$ are stochastically independent as random fields is formulated for the later use in the context of nodal volumes of ARW (see in particular example (i) in Section 2.3).

Theorem 2.5. Assume the above setting. Then, we have:

(i) (General projection formulae) Fix $u^{(\ell)} := (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ and assume that $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$ with (\mathbf{G}, W) as in (2.8) is well-defined in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ in the sense of Definition 2.1. Writing $J = J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$, we have, for every $q \ge 0$,

$$\operatorname{proj}_{q}(J) = \sum_{\substack{j_{1},\dots,j_{\ell},r \ge 0\\j_{1}+\dots+j_{\ell}+r=q}} \frac{\beta_{j_{1}}^{(u_{1})}\cdots\beta_{j_{\ell}}^{(u_{\ell})}}{j_{1}!\dots j_{\ell}!} \int_{Z} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} H_{j_{i}}(G^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{r}(W(z))\mu(dz),$$
(2.9)

where $\{\beta_j^{(u_i)} : j \ge 0\}$ denote the coefficients associated with the formal Hermite expansion of the Dirac mass δ_{u_i} , given by

$$\beta_j^{(u)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \delta_u(y) H_j(y) \gamma(y) dy = H_j(u) \gamma(u) \ .$$

In particular,

$$\operatorname{proj}_{0}(J) = \mathbb{E}\left[J\right] = \alpha_{\ell,k} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{i}) , \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\operatorname{proj}_{1}(J) = \alpha_{\ell,k} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{i}) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} m^{(i)} u_{i} , \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2}(J) = \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{i}) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left(u_{i}^{2} \int_{Z} (X_{0}^{(i)}(z)^{2} - 1) \ \mu(dz) + D^{(i)} \right) .$$
(2.12)

(ii) (Abstract cancellation) If $u_i = D^{(i)} = 0$ for every $i \in [\ell]$, then (using (2.7))

$$\operatorname{proj}_{0}(J) = \mathbb{E}[J] = \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}},$$
(2.13)

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2q+1}(J) = \operatorname{proj}_2(J) = 0 , \quad q \ge 0 .$$
 (2.14)

As anticipated, we will apply Theorem 2.5 to the study of nodal sets of Gaussian Laplace eigenfunctions. The following section deals with two such examples.

2.3. Applications to nodal sets of Gaussian Laplace eigenfunctions. We provide two examples of applications of Theorem 2.5 dealing with nodal volumes associated with (possibly multi-dimensional) stationary Gaussian random fields that are Laplace eigenfunctions. Example (i) deals with ARWs on the *d*-dimensional torus and is effectively used in the proof of Theorem 1.1, whereas (ii) is Berry's random wave model in \mathbb{R}^d .

(i) ARW on \mathbb{T}^d . Let $d \geq 2$ and $(Z, \mathscr{Z}, \mu) = (\mathbb{T}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T}^d), dx)$ with dx denoting the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d . For integers $1 \leq \ell \leq d$, consider independent ARWs $T_n^{(1)}, \ldots, T_n^{(\ell)}$ on \mathbb{T}^d . By a straightforward computation, we have that, for every $i \in [\ell]$ and $j \in [d]$, the partial derivatives $\partial_j T_n^{(i)}(x)$ are centred Gaussian random variables with variance

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\partial_{j}T_{n}^{(i)}(x)\right] = \frac{E_{n}}{d}, \quad n \in S_{d}, \quad x \in \mathbb{T}^{d},$$
(2.15)

where $\partial_j := \partial/\partial x_j$. Let $\mathbf{G} = \{(T_n^{(1)}(x), \dots, T_n^{(\ell)}(x)) : x \in \mathbb{T}^d\}$ and write $\tilde{\partial}_j := (E_n/d)^{-1/2}\partial_j$ for the normalised derivatives. Denote by $\mathbf{G}_{\star}(x)$ the normalised Jacobian $\ell \times d$ matrix of \mathbf{G} computed at $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$ and consider the random field $W = \{\Phi_{\ell,d}^*(\mathbf{G}_{\star}(x)) : x \in \mathbb{T}^d\}$ where $\Phi_{\ell,d}^*(A) = \det(AA^T)^{1/2}$ for $A \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,d}(\mathbb{R})$. Then, using the Area/Co-Area formula (see e.g. Propositions 6.1 and 6.13 in Azaïs and Wschebor, 2009), the random variable

$$L_n^{(\ell)}(d) := \left(\frac{E_n}{d}\right)^{\ell/2} J(\mathbf{G}, W, (0, \dots, 0))$$

represents the $(d - \ell)$ -dimensional volume of the zero set of **G**, where J is defined according to Definition 2.1. Note that $L_n^{(\ell)}(3) = L_n^{(\ell)}, \ell = 1, 2, 3$ as defined in (1.7). The continuity result in Theorem D.3 shows that the nodal volume is defined \mathbb{P} -a.s. The fact that the random variable $L_n^{(1)}(d)$ is well-defined in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ for $d \ge 2$ is proved in Rudnick and Wigman (2008), whereas the case $(\ell, d) = (2, 2)$ is proved in Dalmao et al. (2019). The remaining cases on the three-dimensional torus corresponding to $(\ell, d) = (2, 3), (3, 3)$ will be proved in Lemma 3.1, the existence in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ of the nodal volume for arbitrary ℓ and d can be proved by similar arguments, for which we omit the details. Now, for every $i \in [\ell]$, the quantity $D^{(i)}$ in (2.5) satisfies (see also Rossi, 2016; Marinucci et al., 2016)

$$D^{(i)} = \frac{1}{d} \sum_{j=1}^{d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \tilde{\partial}_{j} T_{n}^{(i)}(x)^{2} dx - \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} T_{n}^{(i)}(x)^{2} dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \|\tilde{\nabla}T_{n}^{(i)}(x)\|^{2} dx - \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} T_{n}^{(i)}(x)^{2} dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \langle \tilde{\nabla}T_{n}^{(i)}(x), \tilde{\nabla}T_{n}^{(i)}(x) \rangle dx - \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} T_{n}^{(i)}(x)^{2} dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{E_{n}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \langle \nabla T_{n}^{(i)}(x), \nabla T_{n}^{(i)}(x) \rangle dx - \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} T_{n}^{(i)}(x)^{2} dx .$$

Using Green's first identity (see e.g. Lee, 1997, p.44) and the fact that $\Delta T_n^{(i)}(x) = -E_n T_n^{(i)}(x)$, gives

$$D^{(i)} = -\frac{1}{E_n} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} T_n^{(i)}(x) \Delta T_n^{(i)}(x) \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} T_n^{(i)}(x)^2 \, dx = 0 \; .$$

In particular, we conclude from (2.14) that the second chaotic projection of the nodal volume $L_n^{(\ell)}$ is identically zero.

(ii) **BRW** on \mathbb{R}^d . Let $1 \leq \ell \leq d$ be as above. Consider a compact convex set $D \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with C^1 boundary ∂D . Let $(Z, \mathscr{Z}, \mu) = (D, \mathcal{B}(D), dx)$. Write $\{B_E(x) : x \in D\}$ to indicate Berry's random wave with parameter E > 1 restricted to D, that is, B_E is the stationary centred Gaussian Laplace eigenfunction on \mathbb{R}^d with covariance function (see e.g. Adler and Taylor, 2007, Theorem 5.7.2)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[B_E(x) \cdot B_E(y)\right] = \frac{J_{(d-2)/2}(2\pi\sqrt{E}\|x-y\|)}{(2\pi\sqrt{E}\|x-y\|)^{(d-2)/2}}, \quad x, y \in D,$$

with J_m denoting the Bessel function of order m of the first kind, and energy $4\pi^2 E$. Consider $B_E^{(1)}, \ldots, B_E^{(\ell)}$ i.i.d. copies of B_E and $\mathbf{G} = \{(B_E^{(1)}(x), \ldots, B_E^{(\ell)}(x)) : x \in D\}$. One can show by a direct computation, that for every $i \in [\ell]$ and $j \in [d]$,

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\partial_j B_E^{(i)}(x)\right] = \frac{4\pi^2 E}{d}, \quad x \in D.$$

As in Example (i), we write $\tilde{\partial}_j := (4\pi^2 E/d)^{-1/2} \partial_j$ for the normalised derivatives and consider the random field $W = \{\Phi_{\ell,d}^*(\mathbf{G}_{\star}(x)) : x \in D\}$ with $\Phi_{\ell,d}^*(A) = \det(AA^T)^{1/2}$ for $A \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,d}(\mathbb{R})$. Then, the random variable

$$L_E^{(\ell)}(d) := \left(\frac{4\pi^2 E}{d}\right)^{\ell/2} J(\mathbf{G}, W, (0, \dots, 0))$$

is the $(d - \ell)$ -dimensional nodal volume of **G**, where as previously, J is as in Definition 2.3. Again, an application of Theorem D.3, shows that $L_E^{(\ell)}(d)$ is well-defined \mathbb{P} -a.s. The existence in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ is proved in the cases $(\ell, d) = (1, 2), (2, 2)$ in Nourdin et al. (2019) and the arguments therein can be extended to the case of arbitrary integers ℓ and d. Arguing as in the previous example, using Green's identity, the quantity $D^{(i)}$ in (2.5) is equal to

$$D^{(i)} = \frac{1}{4\pi^2 E} \int_{\partial D} B_E^{(i)}(x) \langle \nabla B_E^{(i)}(x), n(x) \rangle dx,$$

where n(x) denotes the outward unit normal vector to ∂D at x. In particular, $D^{(i)}$ and hence the second chaotic component of $L_E^{(\ell)}(d)$ reduce to an integration over the boundary of D, thus recovering the exact expression of the second Wiener chaos of $L_E^{(1)}(2)$ obtained in Nourdin et al. (2019, Lemma 4.1) for d = 2. As already pointed out, in Dalmao et al. (2021), the authors study among others the nodal length restricted to growing cubes of the complex BRW on \mathbb{R}^3 corresponding to the case $(\ell, d) = (2, 3)$. In particular, applying Green's formula to the expression of the second chaotic component (see Lemma 8, Dalmao et al., 2021), one can proceed similarly as above to show that it reduces to a boundary integration.

- *Remark* 2.6. (a) An analogous analysis as in example (i) for ARWs on \mathbb{T}^d can be carried out for the related model of spherical harmonics on the *d*-sphere, see Marinucci et al. (2020) for the case of the 2-sphere.
 - (b) From (2.12) it follows that, in the case where $D^{(i)} = 0$ for every $i \in [\ell]$ (as in example (i) above), the projection on the second Wiener chaos of the random variable J can be rewritten as (bearing in mind that $\mu(Z) = 1$)

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2}(J) = \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{i}) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} u_{i}^{2} \left\{ \|X_{0}^{(i)}\|_{L^{2}(Z)}^{2} - 1 \right\},$$

where $\|g\|_{L^2(Z)}^2 := \int_Z g(z)^2 \mu(dz)$, (see also Marinucci and Rossi, 2021 and Cammarota et al., 2020). In particular, the second order chaotic projection of J is a linear combination of the centred square (random) norms of the fields $X_0^{(i)}, i \in [\ell]$. Therefore, at least heuristically, one expects that in the setting where J is a geometric functional associated with the zero level (such as the random variables $L_n^{(\ell)}$), it should vanish as nodal lines do not depend on scaling factors.

3. Proof of Theorem 1.1

Section 3.1 contains the proof of Theorem 1.1: such a proof is based on a number of technical results, whose proofs and discussion are provided in Appendix A-E. The only exception to this strategy of presentation is given by Proposition 3.3 and 3.4: indeed, since these results follow from direct probabilistic arguments, their full proofs will be immediately provided in the forthcoming Section 3.2.

3.1. The proof.

3.1.1. An integral representation of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. The proof of Theorem 1.1 is based on the Wiener chaos expansion of the quantities $L_n^{(\ell)}$ defined in (1.7). In order to derive this expansion, we will rigorously prove that the nodal volume $L_n^{(\ell)}$ is formally obtained \mathbb{P} -almost surely and in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as

$$L_n^{(\ell)} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \delta_0(T_n^{(i)}(x)) \cdot \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)) \, dx$$

where $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(A) = \det(AA^T)^{1/2}$ for $A \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$, and $\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)$ stands for the Jacobian matrix of $\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}$ evaluated at x. More precisely, for $\varepsilon > 0$, we consider the ε -approximations $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}$ of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ given by (compare with Definition 2.1)

$$L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(T_n^{(i)}(x)) \cdot \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)) \ dx \ , \quad \varepsilon > 0$$

and prove the following statement.

Lemma 3.1. For $\ell \in [3]$ and $n \in S_3$, the random variable $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}$ converges to $L_n^{(\ell)} \mathbb{P}$ -a.s and in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

The proof of Lemma 3.1 is presented in Section E.2 of Appendix E. Note that the case $\ell = 1$ has been investigated in Rudnick and Wigman (2008) for arbitrary dimensions. To deal with the case $\ell = 3$, one can directly adapt the proof of points (i)-(v) of Lemma 3.1 in Nourdin et al. (2019) for the two-dimensional torus, based on universal bounds for the number of solutions of a system of trigonometric polynomials (see e.g. Khovanskiĭ, 1991).

The proof of the almost sure convergence relies on a deterministic continuity result for nodal volumes restricted to compact sets on the torus associated with sequences of functions converging to a non-degenerate limit in the C^1 -topology (see Appendix D). Our proof of the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ convergence takes advantage of similar techniques as those that will be exposed in the forthcoming Section 3.1.4, based on partitioning the torus into singular and non-singular subregions. We refer the reader to this part for an overview of our strategy.

3.1.2. Wiener-Itô chaos decomposition of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. The statement of Lemma 3.1 together with the fact that, for every fixed $x \in \mathbb{T}^3$, the random variables $\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x)$ and $\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)$ are stochastically independent, justify the use of the general framework of Theorem 2.5 to this precise setting, yielding in particular an explicit expression for the chaotic decomposition of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. In view of Example (i) of Section 2.3 in the case d = 3, the quantity $D^{(i)}$ in (2.5) is zero for every $i \in [\ell]$. This together with the fact that we study nodal sets, implies that (in view of Theorem 2.5 (ii)) the second-order as well as the odd-order chaoses identically vanish, yielding

$$L_n^{(\ell)} = \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}\right] + \sum_{q \ge 2} \operatorname{proj}_{2q}(L_n^{(\ell)}) , \quad \ell \in [3] , \qquad (3.1)$$

where we adopted the notation (2.2).

<u>Normalised gradients.</u> Writing $T_n^{(i_1)}(x) = \mathcal{N}_n^{-1/2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} a_{i_1,\lambda} e_{\lambda}(x)$ for $i_1 \in [\ell]$, in view of (2.15), we introduce the scaled partial derivatives having variance 1,

$$T_{n,j}^{(i_1)}(x) := \tilde{\partial}_j T_n^{(i_1)}(x) := \sqrt{\frac{3}{E_n}} \partial_j T_n^{(i_1)}(x) = i \sqrt{\frac{3}{n\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_j a_{i_1,\lambda} e_\lambda(x) , \qquad (3.2)$$

for $j \in [3]$ and adopt the same notation as in (2.4), that is

$$\mathbf{T}_{n\star}^{(\ell)}(x) := \left\{ T_{n,j}^{(i)}(x) : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [3] \right\} \in \mathrm{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$$

Using the homogeneity property (A2) in Definition 2.2 of the map $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*$, it follows that

$$L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)} = \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(T_n^{(i)}(x)) \cdot \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\mathbf{T}_{n\star}^{(\ell)}(x)) \, dx \,, \quad \varepsilon > 0.$$
(3.3)

Therefore, by virtue of the almost sure convergence stated in Lemma 3.1, we can write the nodal volume as (recall Definition 2.1)

$$L_n^{(\ell)} = \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)}),$$

where

$$\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}, \quad W = \{ \Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(\mathbf{T}_{n\star}^{(\ell)}(x)) : x \in \mathbb{T}^{3} \}, \quad u^{(\ell)} = (0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}.$$

The following proposition gives the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ and is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.5.

Proposition 3.2 (Wiener Chaos expansion of $L_n^{(\ell)}$). Fix $\ell \in [3]$. For $n \in S_3$, the chaotic projections of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ are given by

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2}(L_{n}^{(\ell)}) = \operatorname{proj}_{2q+1}(L_{n}^{(\ell)}) = 0 , \quad q \ge 0 , \qquad (3.4)$$

while for q = 0 and $q \ge 2$,

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{proj}_{2q}(L_n^{(\ell)}) &= \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \sum_{\substack{p_0^{(1)}, \dots, p_3^{(1)} \ge 0 \\ p_0^{(1)} + \dots + p_3^{(1)} + \dots + p_0^{(\ell)} + \dots + p_3^{(\ell)} \ge 0 \\ p_0^{(1)} + \dots + p_3^{(1)} + \dots + p_0^{(\ell)} + \dots + p_3^{(\ell)} = 2q}} \frac{\beta_{p_0^{(1)}} \dots \beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}}}{p_0^{(1)}! \dots p_0^{(\ell)}!} \\ &\cdot \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [3] \right\} \times \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} H_{p_0^{(i)}}(T_n^{(i)}(x)) \prod_{j=0}^3 H_{p_j^{(i)}}(T_{n,j}^{(i)}(x)) \ dx \ , \end{split}$$

where $\{\beta_j : j \ge 0\}$ and $\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{\cdot\}$ are the Wiener chaos projection coefficients of δ_0 and $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*$, that is

$$\beta_{2j+1} = 0$$
, $\beta_{2j} = \frac{H_{2j}(0)}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$, $j \ge 0$,

and for $k \geq \ell$,

$$\alpha_k^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k] \right\} := \frac{1}{\prod_{i=1}^\ell \prod_{j=1}^k (p_j^{(i)})!} \cdot \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) \cdot \prod_{i=1}^\ell \prod_{j=1}^k H_{p_j^{(i)}}(X_j^{(i)}) \right]$$

respectively. In particular,

$$\operatorname{proj}_{0}(L_{n}^{(\ell)}) = \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n}^{(\ell)}\right] = \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} , \qquad (3.5)$$

where

$$\alpha(\ell,k) = \frac{(k)_{\ell}\kappa_k}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}\kappa_{k-\ell}} ,$$

is as in (1.8).

3.1.3. Analysis of the fourth chaotic projection. Our main findings on the high-energy behaviour of the fourth-order chaotic projections $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)}), \ell \in [3]$ are contained in the next two propositions, whose proofs are presented in Section 3.2.3:

Proposition 3.3. For $\ell \in [3]$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{4}(L_{n}^{(\ell)})\right] \sim \left(c_{n}^{(\ell)}\right)^{2} \left(\ell \cdot \frac{1}{250} + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \frac{76}{375}\right)$$

where the constant $c_n^{(\ell)}$ is given by

$$c_n^{(\ell)} := \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n}$$

Proposition 3.4. For $\ell \in [3]$, we define the normalized fourth-order chaotic component

$$\left\{ \widetilde{\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})} : n \in S_3 \right\} := \left\{ \left(v_{n;4}^{(\ell)} \right)^{-1/2} \operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)}) : n \in S_3 \right\},$$

where $v_{n;4}^{(\ell)} := \operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})\right]$. As $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, $\widetilde{\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \left(\ell \cdot \frac{1}{250} + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \frac{76}{375}\right)^{-1/2} Y^{(\ell)} M^{(\ell)} (Y^{(\ell)})^T$, where $Y^{(\ell)} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\ell(9\ell-4)}(0, \mathrm{Id}_{\ell(9\ell-4)})$ and $M^{(\ell)} \in \mathrm{Mat}_{\ell(9\ell-4), \ell(9\ell-4)}(\mathbb{R})$ is the deterministic matrix given by

$$M^{(\ell)} = \frac{-1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{5\ell} \oplus \frac{-1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{-1}{6} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{3\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} .$$

Such results are proved as follows: In Section 3.2.1, we provide an exact expression of the fourthorder chaotic projection of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. In order to achieve this, we compute the Fourier-Hermite coefficients of the function $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*$ on the fourth Wiener chaos (see Proposition B.5). We then use the orthogonality relation for complex exponentials on the torus

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} e_\lambda(x) \, dx = \mathbf{1}_{\lambda=0} \,, \tag{3.6}$$

and rewrite each integral of multivariate Hermite polynomials evaluated at the arithmetic random waves and its gradient components by means of a useful summation rule over 4-correlations $C_n(4)$ and non-degenerate 4-correlations $\mathcal{X}_n(4)$ (see (3.13) and (3.14) for precise definitions).

A subsequent asymptotic analysis of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$ is presented in Section 3.2.2. This analysis is based on a multivariate Central Limit Theorem (see Proposition 3.19) for the summands composing the explicit expression of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$. Such a Central Limit Theorem, already appearing in Marinucci et al. (2016); Dalmao et al. (2019) for the two-dimensional torus and Cammarota (2019) for the nodal surface on the three-dimensional torus, is obtained by verifying a suitable condition characterising normal convergence of the so-called Fourth Moment Theorem (see Nourdin and Peccati, 2012, Theorem 5.2.7). Among others, we use the following asymptotic estimate bounding non-degenerate 4-correlations on \mathbb{T}^3 (see Benatar and Maffucci, 2019, Theorem 1.6):

$$\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{X}_n(4)) = O(\mathcal{N}_n^{7/4 + o(1)}) , \quad n \to \infty .$$
(3.7)

3.1.4. Contribution of higher-order chaotic projections. We show that the projection on the fourth Wiener chaos of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ dominates the series in (3.1), in the sense that

$$\widetilde{L_n^{(\ell)}} = \operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)}) + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1)$$

where $o_{\mathbb{P}}(1)$ denotes a sequence of random variables converging to zero in probability as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$. This is done by proving the following statement (see Appendix E):

Proposition 3.5. For $\ell \in [3]$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\sum_{q\geq 3}\operatorname{proj}_{2q}(L_n^{(\ell)})\right] = o\left(\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})\right]\right) \,. \tag{3.8}$$

The arguments for the proof of Proposition 3.5 are based on the use of a suitable partition $\mathcal{P}(M)$ (where M = M(n) is proportional to $\sqrt{E_n}$) of the torus into singular and non-singular pairs of subregions (see Definition E.1), following the route of Oravecz et al. (2008) and, later, Peccati and Rossi (2018); Dalmao et al. (2019). We denote by $L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)$ the nodal volume restricted to a cube Qand by $\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}) := \sum_{q\geq 3} \operatorname{proj}_{2q}(L_n^{(\ell)})$ the chaotic projection of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ on Wiener chaoses of order at least 6. This allows us to write the variance of higher-order chaoses as

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)})\right] = \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{P}(M)^2} \operatorname{Cov}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)), \operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q'))\right],$$
(3.9)

where the summation is over all pairs of cubes (Q, Q') of side length 1/M. Splitting this sum into the singular part S and the non-singular part S^c , we bound each of the contributions separately. For the singular part, we prove the following bound (see Section E.3 of Appendix E): **Lemma 3.6.** For $\ell \in [3]$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, we have

$$\left| S_{n,1}^{(\ell)} \right| := \left| \sum_{(Q,Q') \in \mathcal{S}} \operatorname{Cov} \left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)), \operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q')) \right] \right| = O(E_n^{\ell} \mathcal{R}_n(6)) \ .$$

Here, $\mathcal{R}_n(6)$ denotes the integral 6-th moment of the covariance function r_n , see formula (3.12) below. We give a brief overview of the proof of Lemma 3.6. We use the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and translation-invariance of the model to write

$$\left|S_{n,1}^{(\ell)}\right| \le E_n^3 \mathcal{R}_n(6) \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0))\right],$$
(3.10)

ī

where we used that the number of singular pairs of cubes in the summation index is bounded by $E_n^3 \mathcal{R}_n(6)$ and where Q_0 denotes a small cube of side length 1/M around the origin. In Lemma C.6, we justify the use of Kac-Rice formula in Q_0 , so that, writing

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0))\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right],$$

one can use Kac-Rice formulae for moments (Theorem 6.2, 6.3 of Azaïs and Wschebor (2009) for $\ell = 3$ and Theorem 6.9 of Azaïs and Wschebor (2009) for $\ell = 1, 2$). Doing so, we exploit stationarity to obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_{n}^{(\ell)}(Q_{0})^{2}\right] = \int_{Q_{0}\times Q_{0}} K^{(\ell)}(x,y;(0,\ldots,0)) \, dxdy + \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n}^{(3)}(Q_{0})\right] \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}$$

$$\leq \operatorname{Leb}(Q_{0}) \int_{2Q_{0}} K^{(\ell)}(z,0;(0,\ldots,0)) \, dz + \frac{E_{n}^{3/2}}{M^{3}} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3} , \qquad (3.11)$$

where $K^{(\ell)}$ is the two-point correlation function defined in (C.3) of Appendix C. Appendix C contains a self-contained study of the two-point correlation function; in particular, in (C.4), we derive an upper bound of $K^{(\ell)}$ in terms of the covariance function r_n and its gradient, and subsequently perform a precise Taylor-type expansion near the origin of this expression (see Lemma C.5). Using these results then yields the estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \ll E_n^{-2}\mathbf{1}_{\ell=1} + E_n^{-1}\mathbf{1}_{\ell=2} + \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3},$$

which combined with (3.10) establishes Lemma 3.6.

Concerning the contribution to the variance of the non-singular pairs of cubes, we prove the following proposition (see Section E.3 of Appendix E):

Lemma 3.7. For $\ell \in [3]$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, we have

$$\left| S_{n,2}^{(\ell)} \right| := \left| \sum_{(Q,Q') \in \mathcal{S}^c} \operatorname{Cov} \left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)), \operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q')) \right] \right| = O(E_n^{\ell} \mathcal{R}_n(6)) .$$

In order to prove Lemma 3.7, we take advantage of (i) the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ and (ii) a particular version of diagram formula for Hermite polynomials (see Proposition E.3) allowing us to handle covariances of products of Hermite polynomials. The desired bound is then obtained by exploiting the fact that the summation is over non-singular pairs of cubes.

Combining the decomposition of the variance in (3.9) with Lemma 3.6 and Lemma 3.7, the proof of Proposition 3.5 is then concluded once we derive a bound for the integral 6-th moment of r_n . In order to achieve this, we can again use the orthogonality relation for complex exponentials on the torus (3.6) in order to link moments of the covariance function r_n to *m*-correlations, for $m \ge 1$,

$$\mathcal{R}_n(m) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} r_n(z)^m dz = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^m} \sum_{(\lambda^{(1)}, \dots, \lambda^{(m)}) \in \Lambda_n^m} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} e_{\lambda^{(1)} + \dots + \lambda^{(m)}}(z) dz$$

$$= \frac{\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}_n(m))}{\mathcal{N}_n^m} \; .$$

Using this formula for m = 6 together with the estimate bounding the number of 6-correlations on \mathbb{T}^3 (Benatar and Maffucci, 2019, Theorem 1.7)

$$\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}_n(6)) = O(\mathcal{N}_n^{11/3 + o(1)}), \qquad n \to \infty,$$

yields

$$\mathcal{R}_n(6) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} r_n(z)^6 \, dz = \frac{\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}_n(6))}{\mathcal{N}_n^6} = O(\mathcal{N}_n^{-7/3 + o(1)}) \,, \qquad n \to \infty \,. \tag{3.12}$$

Combining this with the content of Proposition 3.3, we conclude that $E_n^{\ell} \mathcal{R}_n(6) = o\left(\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})\right]\right).$

Remark 3.8. As described above, we point out that the combination of the findings in Lemma 3.6, Lemma 3.7 and the estimate in (3.12) is essential in order to prove that the fourth chaotic component is dominant in the Wiener-Itô chaos decomposition of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. These results should be compared with the analog statements in Section 2.4 of Dalmao et al. (2019) for the study of ARW on the two-torus, and with the findings in Section 7 of Nourdin et al. (2019) for the somewhat similar approach in the setting of Berry random plane waves.

3.1.5. Finishing the proof of Theorem 1.1. The proof of Theorem 1.1 is concluded as follows: Relation (1.9) follows from (3.5) and the distributional identity stated in formula (B.4). The asymptotic variance in Proposition 3.3 together with Proposition 3.5 prove (1.10). Finally, (1.11) follows from the limiting distribution established in Proposition 3.4 combined with Proposition 3.5.

3.2. Complete study of the fourth chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. In this section, we provide the exact expression of the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. A subsequent asymptotic analysis of this expression serves as preparation to deriving the limiting distribution of the normalised version of $L_n^{(\ell)}$.

3.2.1. Explicit form of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$. In order to write the explicit expression of the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$, we introduce some auxiliary random variables. Fix $\ell \in [3]$.

Definition 3.9. For $i_1, i_2 \in [\ell], j, k \in [3]$ and $n \in S_3$, we define:

$$\begin{split} W^{(i_{1})}(n) &:= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_{n}}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \left(|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} - 1 \right) , \\ W^{(i_{1})}_{jk}(n) &:= \frac{1}{n\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_{n}}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \lambda_{j}\lambda_{k} (|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} - 1) , \\ M^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &:= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_{n}}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}} , \qquad i_{1} < i_{2}, \ \ell \in \{2,3\} , \\ M^{(i_{1},i_{2})}_{jk}(n) &:= \frac{i}{\sqrt{n\mathcal{N}_{n}}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \lambda_{j}a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}} , \qquad i_{1} < i_{2}, \ \ell \in \{2,3\} , \\ M^{(i_{1},i_{2})}_{jk}(n) &:= \frac{1}{n\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_{n}}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \lambda_{j}\lambda_{k}a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}} , \qquad i_{1} < i_{2}, \ \ell \in \{2,3\} , \\ R^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &:= \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} |a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} , \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} R_{jk}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{n^{2}\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \lambda_{j}^{2} \lambda_{k}^{2} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} |a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} ,\\ S^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} a_{i_{1},\lambda}^{2} \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}^{2} ,\\ S_{jk}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{n^{2}\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{n}} \lambda_{j}^{2} \lambda_{k}^{2} a_{i_{1},\lambda}^{2} \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}^{2} ,\\ X^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{(\lambda,\lambda',\lambda'',\lambda''') \in \mathcal{X}_{n}(4)} a_{i_{1},\lambda} a_{i_{1},\lambda'} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} ,\\ X_{kk}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{n\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{(\lambda,\lambda',\lambda'',\lambda''') \in \mathcal{X}_{n}(4)} \lambda_{k} \lambda_{k}' a_{i_{1},\lambda} a_{i_{1},\lambda'} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} ,\\ X_{kkjj}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) &\coloneqq \frac{1}{n^{2}\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{(\lambda,\lambda',\lambda'',\lambda''') \in \mathcal{X}_{n}(4)} \lambda_{k} \lambda_{k}' \lambda_{j}'' \lambda_{j}''' a_{i_{1},\lambda} a_{i_{1},\lambda'} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} a_{i_{2},\lambda''} . \end{split}$$

Note that $\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2 = n$ implies the relations

$$R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \sum_{k,j=1}^3 R^{(i_1,i_2)}_{jk}(n) , \quad S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \sum_{k,j=1}^3 S^{(i_1,i_2)}_{jk}(n) .$$

Definition 3.10. For $i_1 \in [\ell]$, and $n \in S_3$, we set

$$a_1^{(i_1)}(n) := \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_4(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) \, dx \,, \qquad a_2^{(i_1)}(n) := \sum_{k=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) \, dx \,,$$
$$a_3^{(i_1)}(n) := \sum_{k=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_4(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) \, dx \,, \qquad a_4^{(i_1)}(n) := \sum_{k< j} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,j}^{(i_1)}(x)) \, dx \,,$$

and for $\ell \in \{2, 3\}$ and $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell], n \in S_3$,

$$\begin{split} b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_n^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;, \\ b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \sum_{k=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;, \\ b_2'^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \sum_{k=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,j}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;, \\ b_3^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \sum_{k\neq j=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,j}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;, \\ b_4^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \sum_{k=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;, \\ b_5^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &:= \sum_{k< j}^3 \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \;. \end{split}$$

<u>Spectral correlations on \mathbb{T}^3 .</u> For $n \in S_3$ and an integer $m \ge 1$, we introduce the set of *m*-correlations on the torus,

$$\mathcal{C}_n(m) := \left\{ (\lambda^{(1)}, \dots, \lambda^{(m)}) \in \Lambda_n^m : \lambda^{(1)} + \dots + \lambda^{(m)} = 0 \right\}$$
(3.13)

and the set of non-degenerate m-correlations

$$\mathcal{X}_n(m) := \left\{ (\lambda^{(1)}, \dots, \lambda^{(m)}) \in \mathcal{C}_n(m) : \forall I \subsetneq [m], \sum_{i \in I} \lambda^{(i)} \neq 0 \right\} \subsetneq \mathcal{C}_n(m) .$$
(3.14)

Recall that $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{C}_n(4)) = 3\mathcal{N}_n^2 - 3\mathcal{N}_n + \operatorname{card}(\mathcal{X}_n(4))$, which is in accordance with the following summation rule (see (3.6) in Cammarota, 2019)

$$\sum_{\substack{(\lambda,\lambda',\lambda'',\lambda''')\in\mathcal{C}_n(4)\\\lambda''=-\lambda'''}} = \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda'\\\lambda''=-\lambda'''\\\lambda''=-\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda'''\\\lambda'=-\lambda'''\\\lambda'=-\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda'''\\\lambda'=-\lambda''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''\\\lambda'=-\lambda''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''\\\lambda'=-\lambda''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''\\\lambda'=-\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda'''\\\lambda'=-\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''\\\lambda'=-\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''\\\lambda''=\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=\lambda''\\\lambda''=\lambda'''}} + \sum_{\substack{\lambda=-\lambda''}} + \sum_$$

In the sequel, we will write $(\lambda, \lambda', \lambda'', \lambda''') = (\lambda^{(1)}, \lambda^{(2)}, \lambda^{(3)}, \lambda^{(4)})$ for elements in $C_n(4)$ and $\mathcal{X}_n(4)$ and use the following abbreviations

$$\sum_{\lambda} := \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n}, \quad \sum_{\mathcal{C}_n(4)} := \sum_{(\lambda, \lambda', \lambda'', \lambda''') \in \mathcal{C}_n(4)}, \quad \sum_{\mathcal{X}_n(4)} := \sum_{(\lambda, \lambda', \lambda'', \lambda''') \in \mathcal{X}_n(4)}$$

The following lemma is a generalization of Lemma 4.5 in Cammarota (2019) (obtained for $\ell = 1$) applying to the setting of multiple independent arithmetic random waves. These formulae follow by carefully applying the summation rule (3.15).

Lemma 3.11. Fix $\ell \in [3]$. For every $i_1, i_2 \in [\ell]$ and every $j, k \in [3]$, the following formulae hold:

$$\sum_{C_{n}(4)} a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda''} \qquad (3.16)$$

$$= \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} + 2\left(\sum_{\lambda} a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}\right)^{2}$$

$$-2\sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} |a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} - \sum_{\lambda} a_{i_{1},\lambda}^{2} \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}^{2} + \sum_{\lambda'_{n}(4)} a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''},$$

$$\sum_{C_{n}(4)} \lambda''_{k}\lambda'''_{k}a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''} \qquad (3.17)$$

$$= -\sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{k}|a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} + 2\left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_{k}a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}\right)^{2} + 2\sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{k}|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2}|a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2}$$

$$-\sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{k}a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}^{2} + \sum_{\lambda'_{n}(4)} \lambda''_{k}\lambda''_{k}a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''},$$

$$\sum_{C_{n}(4)} \lambda_{k}\lambda'_{k}\lambda''_{j}\lambda'''_{j}a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''},$$

$$(3.18)$$

$$\sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{k}|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{j}|a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} + 2\left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_{k}\lambda_{j}a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda''}}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''},$$

$$(3.18)$$

$$\sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{k}|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda^{2}_{j}|a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} + 2\left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_{k}\lambda_{k}\lambda'_{j}\lambda'''_{j}a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''},$$

$$(3.18)$$

$$\sum_{\mathcal{C}_n(4)} \lambda_k \lambda'_j \lambda''_k \lambda'''_j a_{i_1,\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda''}$$
(3.19)

=

$$=\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k\lambda_j|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k\lambda_j|a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + \sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k^2a_{i_1,\lambda}\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_j^2a_{i_1,\lambda}\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}} + \left(\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k\lambda_ja_{i_1,\lambda}\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}\right)^2 - 2\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k^2\lambda_j^2|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2|a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 - \sum_{\lambda}\lambda_k^2\lambda_j^2a_{i_1,\lambda}^2\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 + \sum_{\mathcal{X}_n(4)}\lambda_k\lambda_j'\lambda_k''\lambda_j''a_{i_1,\lambda}a_{i_1,\lambda'}a_{i_2,\lambda''}a_{i_2,\lambda'''}.$$

The next two lemmas express the random variables introduced in Definition 3.10 in terms of the quantities defined in Definition 3.9. The following expansions have been proved in Lemma 4.4 of Cammarota (2019).

Lemma 3.12. Fix $\ell \in [3]$. For every $i_1 \in [\ell]$, we have

(i)
$$a_1^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{3}{N_n} \left(W^{(i_1)}(n)^2 - R^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) + \frac{1}{3} X^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) \right)$$

(ii) $a_2^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{3}{N_n} \left(W^{(i_1)}(n)^2 - R^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) - \sum_{k=1}^3 X_{kk}^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) \right)$
(iii) $a_3^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{27}{N_n} \sum_{k=1}^3 \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n)^2 - R_{kk}^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) + \frac{1}{3} X_{kkkk}^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) \right)$
(iv) $a_4^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{9}{N_n} \sum_{k < j} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n) W_{jj}^{(i_1)}(n) + 2W_{kj}^{(i_1)}(n)^2 - 3R_{kj}^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) + X_{kkjj}^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) \right)$

The next lemma deals with mixed expressions containing indices $i_1 < i_2$.

Lemma 3.13. Fix $\ell \in \{2,3\}$. For every $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$, we have

(i)
$$b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \frac{1}{N_n} \left(W^{(i_1)}(n) W^{(i_2)}(n) + 2M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 - 2R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + X^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right)$$

(ii)
$$b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = b_2^{(i_2,i_1)}(n) = \frac{3}{N_n} \left(W^{(i_1)}(n) W^{(i_2)}(n) + 2\sum_{k=1}^3 M_k^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 - 2R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \sum_{k=1}^3 X_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right)$$

(iii)
$$b_{3}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) = \frac{9}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{k \neq j=1}^{3} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_{1})}(n) W_{jj}^{(i_{2})}(n) + 2M_{kj}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)^{2} - 2R_{kj}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) - S_{kj}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) + X_{kkjj}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n) \right)$$

Proof: Let $\ell \in \{2, 3\}$ be fixed. For (i), by (3.16), we have

$$\begin{split} b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_n^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \left(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)^2 T_n^{(i_2)}(x)^2 - T_n^{(i_1)}(x)^2 - T_n^{(i_2)}(x)^2 + 1 \right) \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\mathcal{C}_n(4)} a_{i_1,\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda'''} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + 1 \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + \frac{2}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \left(\sum_{\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}} \right)^2 - \frac{2}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 + \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\mathcal{X}_n(4)} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda'''} \\ &- \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + 1 \; . \end{split}$$

Now using the relation

$$\frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \sum_{\lambda} (|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} - 1) \sum_{\lambda} (|a_{i_{2},\lambda}|^{2} - 1) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{2},\lambda'}|^{2} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_{2},\lambda'}|^{2} + 1, \qquad (3.20)$$

we can rewrite $b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$ as

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} (|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - 1) \sum_{\lambda} (|a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 - 1) + \frac{2}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \left(\sum_{\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}} \right)^2 \\ - \frac{2}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 + \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\mathcal{X}_n(4)} a_{i_1,\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda'''} \\ = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \Big(W^{(i_1)}(n) W^{(i_2)}(n) + 2M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 - 2R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + X^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \Big) \;. \end{split}$$

Let us now prove (ii). We start by computing $\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)) dx$ for fixed $k \in [3]$. Bearing in mind that

$$T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x) = i\sqrt{\frac{3}{n\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k a_{i_2,\lambda} e_{\lambda}(x)$$

and using (3.17), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} H_2(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)) H_2(T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \left(T_n^{(i_1)}(x)^2 T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)^2 - T_n^{(i_1)}(x)^2 - T_{n,k}^{(i_2)}(x)^2 + 1 \right) \, dx \\ &= \frac{3}{n \mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 \sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda'}|^2 - \frac{6}{n \mathcal{N}_n^2} \left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}} \right)^2 \\ &\quad - \frac{6}{n \mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k^2 |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + \frac{3}{n \mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k^2 a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 \\ &\quad - \frac{3}{n \mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\chi_n(4)} \lambda_k'' \lambda_k''' a_{i_1,\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda'''} - \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 \\ &\quad - \frac{3}{n \mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 \lambda_k^2 + 1 \; . \end{split}$$

Hence, summing over k and using the fact that $\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2 = n$ for $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) \in \Lambda_n$ yields

$$\begin{split} b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) &= \frac{3}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 - \frac{6}{n\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{k=1}^3 \left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}\right)^2 \\ &- \frac{6}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + \frac{3}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}^2} \\ &- \frac{3}{n\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{k=1}^3 \sum_{\mathcal{X}_n(4)} \lambda_k'' \lambda_k''' a_{i_1,\lambda} a_{i_1,\lambda'} a_{i_2,\lambda''} a_{i_2,\lambda''} \\ &- \frac{3}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - \frac{3}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda} |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 + 3 \;. \end{split}$$

Note that we can rewrite the second term as

$$-\frac{6}{n\mathcal{N}_n^2}\sum_{k=1}^3 \left(\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}\right)^2 = \frac{6}{\mathcal{N}_n}\sum_{k=1}^3 \left(\frac{i}{\sqrt{n\mathcal{N}_n}}\sum_{\lambda} \lambda_k a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}\right)^2$$
$$= \frac{6}{\mathcal{N}_n}\sum_{k=1}^3 M_k^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 .$$

Substituting (3.20) in the computation above shows that $b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$ is equal to

$$\frac{3}{\mathcal{N}_n} \bigg(W^{(i_1)}(n) W^{(i_2)}(n) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^3 M_k^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 - 2R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \sum_{k=1}^3 X_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \bigg),$$

which is the desired equality. Relations (iii)-(v) can be proved by similar arguments.

<u>Explicit expression of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$.</u> We are now in position to provide the precise expression of the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. We introduce the following notation: We write $\mathbf{0}_{\ell} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$ for the zero-matrix; for an integer $m \geq 1$, we consider the mapping $s_m^{(\ell)} : ([\ell] \times [3])^m \to \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$ defined by

$$s_m^{(\ell)}((i_1, j_1), \dots, (i_m, j_m)) := \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{(i,j) \in \{(i_1, j_1), \dots, (i_m, j_m)\}} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [3] \right\} ,$$

that is, $s_m^{(\ell)}((i_1, j_1), \ldots, (i_m, j_m))$ is the $\ell \times 3$ matrix whose entry is 1 at positions $(i_1, j_1), \ldots, (i_m, j_m)$ and 0 elsewhere. The following Proposition 3.14 contains the values of all the projection coefficients $\alpha \{p_j^{(i)} : (i, j) \in [\ell] \times [3]\}$ appearing in the Wiener chaos expansion of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ in (3.5) and is a direct consequence of Proposition B.5 applied with $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{T}_{n\star}^{(\ell)}(z), z \in \mathbb{T}^3$ in the three cases $(\ell, k) \in \{(1, 3), (2, 3), (3, 3)\}$; The exact values are entirely determined once we compute (see (1.8))

$$\alpha(1,3) = \frac{4}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$
, $\alpha(2,3) = 2$, $\alpha(3,3) = \frac{4}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$

Proposition 3.14. For every $\ell \in [3]$ and every collection $I = \{(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \neq (i_3, j_3) \neq (i_4, j_4) \in [\ell] \times [3]\}$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{\mathbf{0}_\ell\} = \alpha(\ell,3) \ ,\\ &\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{2s_1^{(\ell)}((i_1,j_1))\} = \frac{1}{2!}\frac{1}{3}\alpha(\ell,3) = \frac{1}{6}\alpha(\ell,3) \ ,\\ &\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{4s_1^{(\ell)}((i_1,j_1))\} = -\frac{1}{4!}\frac{1}{5}\alpha(\ell,3) = -\frac{1}{120}\alpha(\ell,3) \ ,\\ &\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{2s_2^{(\ell)}((i_1,j_1),(i_2,j_2))\} = -\frac{1}{60}\alpha(\ell,3)\mathbf{1}_{i_1\neq i_2,j_1=j_2}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\in\{2,3\}} \ ,\\ &\qquad -\frac{1}{60}\alpha(\ell,3)\mathbf{1}_{i_1\neq i_2,j_1\neq j_2}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\in\{2,3\}} \ ,\\ &\alpha_3^{(\ell)}\{s_4^{(\ell)}((i_1,j_1),(i_2,j_2),(i_3,j_3),(i_4,j_4))\} = -\frac{2}{15}\alpha(\ell,k)\mathbf{1}_{I\in S}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\in\{2,3\}} \ ,\\ &where \ S = \{\{(i_1,j_1),(i_1,j_2),(i_2,j_1),(i_2,j_2)\} : i_1\neq i_2,j_1\neq j_2\}. \end{split}$$

In particular, from Proposition B.5, it becomes clear that the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ does not involve (i) any non-linear interaction of the three ARWs simultaneously (for $\ell = 3$), and (ii) any product of odd Hermite polynomials except expressions of the form $H_1(\cdot)H_1(\cdot)H_1(\cdot)H_1(\cdot)$.

Recalling the random variables introduced in Definition 3.10, we define the following two quantities: for $\ell \in [3]$ and $i_1 \in [\ell]$,

$$\begin{aligned}
A_{n,\ell}^{(i_1)} &:= \frac{\beta_4 \beta_0^{\ell-1}}{4!} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{ \mathbf{0}_\ell \} \cdot a_1^{(i_1)}(n) + \frac{\beta_0^{\ell-1} \beta_2}{2!} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{ 2s_1^{(\ell)}((1,1)) \} \cdot a_2^{(i_1)}(n) \\
&+ \beta_0^{\ell} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{ 4s_1^{(\ell)}((1,1)) \} \cdot a_3^{(i_1)}(n) \\
&+ \beta_0^{\ell} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{ 2s_2^{(\ell)}((1,1),(1,2)) \} \cdot a_4^{(i_1)}(n) ;
\end{aligned}$$
(3.21)

and for $\ell \in \{2, 3\}$ and $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$,

$$B_{n,\ell}^{(i_1,i_2)} := \left(\frac{\beta_2}{2!}\right)^2 \beta_0^{\ell-2} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{\mathbf{0}_\ell\} \cdot b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + \frac{\beta_2 \beta_0^{\ell-1}}{2!} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{2s_1^{(\ell)}((1,1))\} \cdot b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \\ + \frac{\beta_0^{\ell-1} \beta_2}{2!} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{2s_1^{(\ell)}((1,1))\} \cdot b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \\ + \beta_0^{\ell} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{2s_2^{(\ell)}((1,1),(2,2))\} \cdot b_3^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \\ + \beta_0^{\ell} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{2s_2^{(\ell)}((1,1),(2,1))\} \cdot b_4^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \\ + \beta_0^{\ell} \alpha_3^{(\ell)} \{s_4^{(\ell)}((1,1),(1,2),(2,1),(2,2))\} \cdot b_5^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) .$$
(3.22)

Then, the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ is given by (recall (3.3))

$$\operatorname{proj}_{4}(L_{n}^{(\ell)}) = \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \left(\sum_{i_{1} \in [\ell]} A_{n,\ell}^{(i_{1})} + \sum_{i_{1} < i_{2} \in [\ell]} B_{n,\ell}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}\right) =: \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \cdot S_{n}^{(\ell)} , \qquad (3.23)$$

with the convention that $\sum_{i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]} = 0$ if $\ell = 1$. Using (A.4) and Proposition 3.14, the expressions in (3.21) and (3.22) simplify to

$$A_{n,\ell}^{(i_1)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \alpha(\ell,3) \left(\frac{1}{16} a_1^{(i_1)}(n) - \frac{1}{24} a_2^{(i_1)}(n) - \frac{1}{240} a_3^{(i_1)}(n) - \frac{1}{120} a_4^{(i_1)}(n) \right)$$

and

$$B_{n,\ell}^{(i_1,i_2)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \alpha(\ell,3) \left(\frac{1}{8} b_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{1}{24} b_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{1}{24} {b'_2}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right) + \frac{1}{40} b_3^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{1}{120} b_4^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{1}{15} b_5^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right)$$

Using the expansions in Lemma 3.12 and the fact that $W^{(i_1)}(n) = \sum_{k=1}^3 W^{(i_1)}_{kk}(n)$, we compute

$$A_{n,\ell}^{(i_1)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n} \left(-\frac{1}{40} \sum_{k< j} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_1)} \right)^2 - \frac{3}{20} \sum_{k< j} W_{kj}^{(i_1)}(n)^2 + \mu^{(i_1)}(n) \right)$$
(3.24)

where $\mu^{(i_1)}(n)$ is given by

$$\mu^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{1}{20} R^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) + \frac{1}{16} X^{(i_1,i_1)}(n) + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{k=1}^3 X^{(i_1,i_1)}_{kk}(n) - \frac{3}{80} \sum_{k,j=1}^3 X^{(i_1,i_1)}_{kkjj}(n) .$$
(3.25)

Similarly, if $\ell \in \{2,3\}$, using Lemma 3.13 together with the fact that $M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \sum_{k=1}^3 M_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$, yields

$$B_{n,\ell}^{(i_1,i_2)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n} \left(-\frac{1}{10} \sum_{k < j} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_1)}(n) \right) \left(W_{kk}^{(i_2)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_2)}(n) \right) \right. \\ \left. -\frac{3}{5} \sum_{k < j} W_{kj}^{(i_1)}(n) W_{kj}^{(i_2)}(n) + \frac{1}{10} \sum_{k=1}^3 M_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 \right. \\ \left. -\frac{1}{20} \sum_{k \neq j} M_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) M_{jj}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^3 M_k^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 \right. \\ \left. +\frac{3}{10} \sum_{k < j} M_{kj}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 + \eta^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right)$$
(3.26)

where $\eta^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$ is given by

$$\eta^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \frac{2}{5} R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) - \frac{3}{10} S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + \frac{1}{8} X^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^3 X^{(i_1,i_2)}_{kk}(n) - \frac{3}{40} \sum_{k,j=1}^3 X^{(i_1,i_2)}_{kkjj}(n).$$
(3.27)

3.2.2. Asymptotic simplification of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$. We will now lead an asymptotic study of the fourth chaotic component of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$ obtained in (3.23). This analysis is based on a multivariate Central Limit Theorem for the summands composing the expressions of $A_{n,\ell}^{(i_1)}$ and $B_{n,\ell}^{(i_1,i_2)}$.

We start by recalling the following formulae (see Lemma 3.3 and Appendix C in Cammarota, 2019), which are a consequence of the asymptotic equidistribution of lattice points projected to the unit two-sphere.

Lemma 3.15. For every $j, k, l, m \in [3]$, we have

+

$$\frac{1}{n\mathcal{N}_n}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_n}\lambda_k\lambda_j = \frac{1}{3}\mathbf{1}_{k=j} , \qquad (3.28)$$
$$\frac{1}{n^2\mathcal{N}_n}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_n}\lambda_k\lambda_l\lambda_j\lambda_m = \frac{1}{5}\mathbf{1}_{k=l=j=m}$$
$$\frac{1}{15}(\mathbf{1}_{k=l,j=m,k\neq j} + \mathbf{1}_{k=j,l=m,k\neq l} + \mathbf{1}_{k=m,l=j,k\neq l}) + \varepsilon_n , \qquad (3.29)$$

where $\varepsilon_n = O(n^{-1/28 + o(1)})$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$.

For the random variables in Definition 3.9, we prove the following asymptotic relations.

Lemma 3.16. Fix $\ell \in [3]$. For every $i_1, i_2 \in [\ell]$, the following holds as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$:

$$R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}} 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2} + \mathbf{1}_{i_1\neq i_2} , \qquad (3.30)$$

$$S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}} 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2} , \qquad (3.31)$$

$$X^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), X^{(i_1,i_2)}_{kk}(n), X^{(i_1,i_2)}_{kkjj}(n) \xrightarrow{L^2(\mathbb{P})} 0 .$$
(3.32)

Proof: We introduce the equivalence relation \sim on Λ_n defined by $\lambda \sim \lambda'$ if and only if $\lambda = -\lambda'$ and write Λ_n/\sim for the set of representatives of the equivalence classes under \sim . Then, it follows that

 $\operatorname{card}(\Lambda_n/_{\sim}) = \mathcal{N}_n/2$ and the collections $\{|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 | a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 : \lambda \in \Lambda_n/_{\sim}\}$ resp. $\{a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 : \lambda \in \Lambda_n/_{\sim}\}$ are families of i.i.d. random variables with respective means

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2\right] = 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2} + \mathbf{1}_{i_1\neq i_2} , \quad \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2\right] = 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2}$$

Thus, relations (3.30) and (3.31) follow from the Law of Large Numbers: as $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, we have

$$R^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n/2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 |a_{i_2,\lambda}|^2 \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}} 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2} + \mathbf{1}_{i_1 \neq i_2} ,$$

and

$$S^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n/2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2 \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}} 2\mathbf{1}_{i_1=i_2}$$

The convergences in (3.32) have been proved in Cammarota (2019) in the case $i_1 = i_2$. Using independence and the fact that $a_{i_1,\lambda} = \overline{a_{i_1,-\lambda}}$ for every $i_1 \in [\ell]$ and $\lambda \in \Lambda_n$ yields

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[|X^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)|^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[X^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\overline{X^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)}\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}}\sum_{\mathcal{X}_{n}(4)}\sum_{\mathcal{X}_{n}(4)}\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}a_{i_{1},-\mu}a_{i_{1},-\mu'}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{2},\lambda''}a_{i_{2},\lambda'''}a_{i_{2},-\mu''}a_{i_{2},-\mu'''}\right] \\ &=: \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{n}^{2}}\sum_{\mathcal{X}_{n}(4)}\sum_{\mathcal{X}_{n}(4)}\mathbb{E}\left[z^{(i_{1})}_{\lambda,\lambda',\mu,\mu'}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[z^{(i_{2})}_{\lambda'',\lambda''',\mu'',\mu'''}\right] \,. \end{split}$$

Let us consider the random variable $z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}$. Denote by N the number of pairs of vectors that are equal in absolute value among $\{\lambda,\lambda',\mu,\mu'\}$. Since we consider vectors of $\mathcal{X}_n(4)$, we have that $\lambda + \lambda' \neq 0$ and $\mu + \mu' \neq 0$. Conditional to this observation, we claim that the only non-zero contributions of $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right]$ arise when N = 2 or N = 4. Indeed, if N = 0, all the vectors are distinct, so that by independence, $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right] = 0$. If N = 1, then $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right]$ takes one of the forms

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,s}|^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t'}\right] = 0 , \quad \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,s}^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t'}\right] = 0 , \quad s \neq \pm t \neq \pm t'$$

If N = 2, $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right]$ is of the form $\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1}|_{\epsilon}|^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1}^2,\mu\right]$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,s}|^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}^2\right] = 0 , \quad \mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,s}|^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,t}|^2\right] = 1 ,$$
$$\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,s}^2\right] \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}^2\right] = 0 , \quad s \neq \pm t .$$

If N = 3, then $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right]$ is of the form $\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,s}^3\right]\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}\right] = 0$, $\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,s}|^2\overline{a_{i_1,s}}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,t}\right] = 0$, $s \neq \pm t$.

Finally, if N = 4, the elements $\lambda, \lambda', \mu, \mu'$ are all the same in absolute value, so that $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda,\lambda',-\mu,-\mu'}^{(i_1)}\right]$ is of the form $\mathbb{E}\left[|a_{i_1,s}|^4\right] = 2$ or $\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_1,s}^4\right] = 0$. The same arguments hold for $\mathbb{E}\left[z_{\lambda'',\lambda''',\mu'',\mu'''}^{(i_2)}\right]$. Therefore, in every non-zero contributions, the vector $(\lambda, \lambda', \lambda'', \lambda''')$ determines the choices of $(\mu, \mu', \mu'', \mu''')$, so that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|X^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)|^2\right] \ll \frac{\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{X}_n(4))}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \ll \frac{\mathcal{N}_n^{7/4+o(1)}}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} = o(1) \; .$$

as $n \to \infty$, $n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$ in view of (3.7).

<u>A multivariate Central Limit Theorem</u>. Recalling the random variables defined in Definition 3.9, we define the following two random vectors for $n \in S_3$: for every $\ell \in [3]$ and $i_1 \in [\ell]$,

$$\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n) := \left(W_{11}^{(i_1)}(n), W_{12}^{(i_1)}(n), W_{13}^{(i_1)}(n), W_{22}^{(i_1)}(n), W_{23}^{(i_1)}(n), W_{33}^{(i_1)}(n) \right) \in \mathbb{R}^6 ,$$

and, for every $\ell \in \{2,3\}$ and $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$,

$$\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) := \left(M_1^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_2^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_3^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_{11}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_{12}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_{13}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right)$$
$$M_{22}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_{23}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n), M_{33}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right) \in \mathbb{R}^9 .$$

The covariance matrix of the vectors $\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n)$ and $\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$ above is computed in the following lemmas.

Lemma 3.17. For every $n \in S_3, \ell \in [3]$ and every $i_1 \in [\ell]$, the covariance matrix of $\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n)$ is

$$\Sigma_{\mathbb{W}(n)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{5} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n \\ 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{5} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 \\ \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & \frac{2}{5} + \varepsilon_n \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.33)

where $\varepsilon_n = O(n^{-1/28 + o(1)})$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$.

Proof: The proof mainly follows from the relations in Lemma 3.15, together with the fact

$$\mathbb{E}\left[(|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - 1)(|a_{i_1,\lambda'}|^2 - 1) \right] = \mathbf{1}_{\lambda = \pm \lambda'} .$$

The covariances of $W_{jk}^{(i_1)}$ for $j, k \in [3]$ have been computed in Cammarota (2019), Appendix C. **Lemma 3.18.** For every $n \in S_3, \ell \in \{2,3\}$ and every $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$, the covariance matrix of $\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$ is

$$\Sigma_{\mathbb{M}(n)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{5} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{15} + \varepsilon_n & 0 \\ \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.34)$$

where $\varepsilon_n = O(n^{-1/28 + o(1)})$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$.

Proof: Similarly as in the proof of Lemma 3.17, we use Lemma 3.15 and the fact that, by independence

$$\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda'}}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}\ \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda'}}\right] = \mathbf{1}_{\lambda = -\lambda'} .$$
two it follows that

Using this identity, it follows that

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left[M_{j}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n), M_{k}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[M_{j}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)M_{k}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] = \frac{1}{n\mathcal{N}_{n}}\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_{j}\lambda_{k} = \frac{1}{3}\mathbf{1}_{j=k} ,$$

and

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left[M_{j}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n), M_{lm}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[M_{j}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)M_{lm}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] = \frac{i}{n\sqrt{n}\mathcal{N}_{n}}\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_{j}\lambda_{l}\lambda_{m} = 0 \ .$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Cov}\left[M_{jk}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n), M_{lm}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] &= \mathbb{E}\left[M_{jk}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)M_{lm}^{(i_{1},i_{2})}(n)\right] = \frac{1}{n^{2}\mathcal{N}_{n}}\sum_{\lambda}\lambda_{j}\lambda_{k}\lambda_{l}\lambda_{m} \\ &= \frac{1}{5}\mathbf{1}_{k=l=j=m} + \frac{1}{15}\left(\mathbf{1}_{k=l,j=m,k\neq j} + \mathbf{1}_{k=j,l=m,k\neq l} + \mathbf{1}_{k=m,l=j,k\neq l}\right) + \varepsilon_{n} \;, \\ &\text{hes the proof.} \end{aligned}$$

which finishes the proof.

The following proposition plays a central role in the study of the fourth chaotic component of the nodal volume $L_n^{(\ell)}$ in the high-frequency regime. We define the limiting matrices obtained from (3.33) and (3.34):

$$\Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} := \lim_{n \to \infty} \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}(n)} , \quad \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}} := \lim_{n \to \infty} \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}(n)} ,$$

where for a square matrix $M_n = (m_{ij}(n))$, we set $\lim_n M_n := (\lim_n m_{ij}(n))$.

Proposition 3.19. As $n \to \infty$, $n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, the random vector

$$\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n) := \left(\mathbb{W}^{(1)}(n), \mathbb{W}^{(2)}(n), \mathbb{W}^{(3)}(n), \mathbb{M}^{(1,2)}(n), \mathbb{M}^{(1,3)}(n), \mathbb{M}^{(2,3)}(n) \right) \in \mathbb{R}^{45}$$

converges in distribution to

$$\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3} := \left(\mathbb{G}^{(1)}, \mathbb{G}^{(2)}, \mathbb{G}^{(3)}, \mathbb{G}^{(1,2)}, \mathbb{G}^{(1,3)}, \mathbb{G}^{(2,3)} \right) \sim \mathcal{N}_{45}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3}}) ,$$

where

$$\Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3}} = \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}} \in \mathrm{Mat}_{45,45}(\mathbb{R})$$

Proof: We start by showing that the covariance matrix of the vector $\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)$ has the block diagonal form

$$\Sigma_{\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)} = \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}(n)} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}(n)} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}(n)} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}(n)} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}(n)} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}(n)} .$$

From Lemmas 3.17 and 3.18 and by independence, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2}-1\right)a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda'}}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\left(|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2}-1\right)a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda'}}\right] = 0,$$

and therefore $\operatorname{Cov}\left[\left((\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n))_l, \left(\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)\right)_m\right] = 0$ for every $l = 1, \ldots, 6$ and $m = 1, \ldots, 9$. Similarly, since for every $i_2 \neq i_3$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\overline{a_{i_{3},\lambda'}}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[a_{i_{1},\lambda}a_{i_{1},\lambda'}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}\right]\mathbb{E}\left[\overline{a_{i_{3},\lambda'}}\right] = 0 ,$$

we have that $\operatorname{Cov}\left[\left(\left(\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)\right)_l, \left(\mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_3)}(n)\right)_m\right] = 0$ for every $l, m = 1, \ldots, 9$. Thus, $\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)$ is of the desired form. Furthermore, we notice that all the components $\{\left(\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)\right)_l : l = 1, \ldots, 45\}$ of $\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)$ belong to the second Wiener chaos and that $\Sigma_{\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)} \to \Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3}}$ entry-wise as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$. Thus, Theorem 6.2.3 of Nourdin and Peccati (2012) implies that, in order to prove the joint convergence to the Gaussian vector $\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3}$, it suffices to prove that the convergence holds component-wise, that is

$$\left(\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n)\right)_l \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{N}(0, (\Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{1,2,3}})_{ll}) , \qquad n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8} ,$$

for every l = 1, ..., 45. Using the Fourth Moment Theorem (Theorem 5.2.7, Nourdin and Peccati, 2012), this can be shown by proving that the fourth cumulant of $(\mathbf{V}_{1,2,3}(n))_l$ converges to zero for every l = 1, ..., 45. For the sake of completeness, we include the computations for $W_{ik}^{(i_1)}(n)$ with

 $j \neq k$ and $M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)$: writing $\Lambda_n/_{\sim}$ for the set of all the representatives of the equivalence class of Λ_n under the symmetry $\lambda \mapsto -\lambda$ and using the fact that $j \neq k$, we have

$$W_{jk}^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{1}{n\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_j \lambda_k (|a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 - 1) = \frac{2}{n\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \lambda_j \lambda_k |a_{i_1,\lambda}|^2 ,$$

that is, $W_{jk}^{(i_1)}(n)$ is a sum of i.i.d. random variables. Moreover, for $\lambda \in \Lambda_n/_{\sim}$,

$$|a_{i_{1},\lambda}|^{2} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \frac{u_{\lambda}^{2}}{2} + \frac{v_{\lambda}^{2}}{2} ,$$

where $u_{\lambda} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} v_{\lambda}$ are independent real $\mathcal{N}(0,1)$ random variables. Thus, using homogeneity and independence properties of cumulants (see e.g. Peccati and Taqqu, 2011), we have, as $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$

$$\kappa_4 \left(W_{jk}^{(i_1)}(n) \right) = \kappa_4 \left(\frac{2}{n\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \lambda_j \lambda_k \left(\frac{u_\lambda^2}{2} + \frac{v_\lambda^2}{2} \right) \right)$$
$$= \frac{2^4}{n^4 \mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \lambda_j^4 \lambda_k^4 \left(2^{-4} \kappa_4(u_\lambda^2) + 2^{-4} \kappa_4(v_\lambda^2) \right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \left(\kappa_4(u_\lambda^2) + \kappa_4(v_\lambda^2) \right) \ll \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} = o(1) ,$$

where we used that $\lambda_k^2 \leq n$ for every k = 1, 2, 3, which implies that $\lambda_j^4 \lambda_k^4 \leq n^4$. Concerning $M^{(i_1, i_2)}(n)$, we write

$$M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}_n}} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} a_{i_1,\lambda} \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}.$$

Noting that for every $\lambda \in \Lambda_n/_{\sim}$,

$$a_{i_{1},\lambda}\overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \frac{(a_{i_{1},\lambda} + \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}})(a_{i_{1},\lambda} - \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}})}{2} = \frac{a_{i_{1},\lambda}^{2} - \overline{a_{i_{2},\lambda}}^{2}}{2}$$

and using independence, we infer

$$\kappa_4 \left(M^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right) = \frac{2^4}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \kappa_4(a_{i_1,\lambda}\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \kappa_4(a_{i_1,\lambda}^2 - \overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n^2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n/\sim} \left(\kappa_4(a_{i_1,\lambda}^2) + \kappa_4(\overline{a_{i_2,\lambda}}^2) \right) \ll \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_n} = o(1) ,$$

as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$. The other computations are done similarly.

The following corollary follows immediately:

Corollary 3.20. For $\ell \in \{2,3\}$ and $i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, the random vector

$$\mathbf{V}_{i_1,i_2}(n) := \left(\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n), \mathbb{W}^{(i_2)}(n), \mathbb{M}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \right) \in \mathbb{R}^{21}$$

converges in distribution to

$$\mathbf{G}_{i_1,i_2} := \left(\mathbb{G}^{(i_1)}, \mathbb{G}^{(i_2)}, \mathbb{G}^{(i_1,i_2)} \right) \sim \mathcal{N}_{21}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{i_1,i_2}}) ,$$

where

$$\Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{i_1,i_2}} = \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{W}} \oplus \Sigma_{\mathbb{M}} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{21,21}(\mathbb{R})$$

We use the above established CLT in order to derive the limiting distribution of the fourth-order chaotic component of $L_n^{(\ell)}$. From Lemma 3.16, it follows that, as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, the sequences in (3.25) and (3.27) satisfy

$$\mu^{(i_1)}(n) = \frac{1}{10} + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1) , \quad \eta^{(i_1, i_2)}(n) = \frac{2}{5} + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1) , \qquad (3.35)$$

where $o_{\mathbb{P}}(1)$ denotes a sequence converging to zero in probability. Now, bearing in mind the expressions (3.24) and (3.26), we define

$$F(\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}) := -\frac{1}{40} \sum_{k < j} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_1)}(n) \right)^2 - \frac{3}{20} \sum_{k < j} W_{kj}^{(i_1)}(n)^2 , \quad i_1 \in [\ell]$$

and

$$\begin{split} G(\mathbf{V}_{i_1,i_2}) &:= -\frac{1}{10} \sum_{k < j} \left(W_{kk}^{(i_1)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_1)}(n) \right) \left(W_{kk}^{(i_2)}(n) - W_{jj}^{(i_2)}(n) \right) \\ &- \frac{3}{5} \sum_{k < j} W_{kj}^{(i_1)}(n) W_{kj}^{(i_2)}(n) + \frac{1}{10} \sum_{k=1}^3 M_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{20} \sum_{k \neq j} M_{kk}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) M_{jj}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^3 M_k^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 + \frac{3}{10} \sum_{k < j} M_{kj}^{(i_1,i_2)}(n)^2 , \quad i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]. \end{split}$$

Combining these definitions with (3.35), leads to the asymptotic relations

$$A_{n,\ell}^{(i_1)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n} \cdot \left[f(\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n)) + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1) \right], \quad i_1 \in [\ell]$$
(3.36)

$$B_{n,\ell}^{(i_1,i_2)} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n} \cdot \left[g(\mathbf{V}_{i_1,i_2}(n)) + o_{\mathbb{P}}(1) \right], \quad i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]$$
(3.37)

where

$$f(\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n)) := F(\mathbb{W}^{(i_1)}(n)) + \frac{1}{10} , \quad g(\mathbf{V}_{i_1,i_2}(n)) := G(\mathbf{V}_{i_1,i_2}(n)) + \frac{2}{5}.$$
 (3.38)

Plugging (3.36) and (3.37) into (3.23) and using the CLT in Corollary 3.20, we obtain that, as $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$,

$$\left(c_n^{(\ell)}\right)^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \sum_{i_1 \in [\ell]} f(\mathbb{G}^{(i_1)}) + \sum_{i_1 < i_2 \in [\ell]} g(\mathbf{G}_{i_1, i_2}) =: L^{(\ell)} , \qquad (3.39)$$

where

$$c_n^{(\ell)} := \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell/2} \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \frac{\alpha(\ell,3)}{\mathcal{N}_n} \ . \tag{3.40}$$

3.2.3. Proofs of Proposition 3.3 and 3.4. From the convergence in distribution stated in (3.39), we conclude that the sequence $\{Y_n^{(\ell)} := (c_n^{(\ell)})^{-1} \operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)}) : n \in S_3\}$ living in the fourth Wiener chaos, is tight and thus bounded in $L^p(\mathbb{P})$ for any p > 0 by virtue of the hypercontractivity property of Wiener chaoses (see e.g. Lemma 2.1 Nourdin and Rosiński, 2014). This implies that the sequence $\{(Y_n^{(\ell)})^2 : n \in S_3\}$ is uniformly integrable. By Skorohod's Representation Theorem (see e.g. Billingsley, 1999, Theorem 25.6), there exist random variables $\{Y_n^{(\ell)*} : n \in S_3\}$ and $L^{(\ell)*}$ defined on some auxiliary probability space $(\Omega^*, \mathscr{F}^*, \mathbb{P}^*)$, such that (i) $Y_n^{(\ell)*} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} Y_n^{(\ell)}$ for every $n \in S_3$ and

$$\begin{split} L^{(\ell)*} &\stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} L^{(\ell)} \text{ and (ii) } Y_n^{(\ell)*} \to L^{(\ell)*}, \mathbb{P}^*\text{-a.s. as } n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}. \text{ Therefore we conclude that the sequence } \{(Y_n^{(\ell)*})^2 : n \in S_3\} \text{ is uniformly integrable. In particular, we infer that } \|Y_n^{(\ell)}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{P})} = \|Y_n^{(\ell)*}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{P}^*)} \to \|L^{(\ell)*}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{P}^*)} = \|L^{(\ell)}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{P})}, \text{ i.e.} \end{split}$$

$$(c_n^{(\ell)})^{-2} \operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})\right] \to \operatorname{Var}\left[L^{(\ell)}\right]$$

as $n \to \infty, n \not\equiv 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$, or equivalently

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{4}(L_{n}^{(\ell)})\right] \sim \left(c_{n}^{(\ell)}\right)^{2} \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[L^{(\ell)}\right], \qquad (3.41)$$

as $n \to \infty, n \neq 0, 4, 7 \pmod{8}$. Therefore, the asymptotic variance of $\operatorname{proj}_4(L_n^{(\ell)})$ in Proposition 3.3 and its asymptotic distribution in Proposition 3.4 follow respectively from the variance and distribution of $L^{(\ell)}$, given in the following statement.

Proposition 3.21. For the random variable $L^{(\ell)}$ appearing in (3.39), we have

$$\begin{split} L^{(\ell)} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} & -\frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_1(5\ell) - \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_2 \left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \right) + \frac{1}{25} \hat{\xi}_3 \left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \right) \\ & + \frac{1}{50} \hat{\xi}_4 \left(\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \right) - \frac{1}{6} \hat{\xi}_5 \left(\frac{3\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \right) \;, \end{split}$$

where $\{\hat{\xi}(k_i): i = 1, ..., 5\}$ is a family of independent centered chi-squared random variables, and therefore

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[L^{(\ell)}\right] = \ell \cdot \frac{1}{250} + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \frac{76}{375}$$

Proof: The proof is based on lengthy but standard computations involving covariances of Gaussian random variables. We provide a sketch of the proof for the sake of readability. From relation (3.39) and the structure of the covariance matrix of \mathbf{G}_{i_1,i_2} in Corollary 3.20, it follows that

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[L^{(\ell)}\right] = \ell \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[f(\mathbb{G}^{(1)})\right] + \frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2} \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[g(\mathbf{G}_{1,2})\right] \,.$$

The variances of $f(\mathbb{G}^{(1)})$ and $g(\mathbf{G}_{1,2})$ are then computed using the explicit expressions of f and g as well as the covariance matrix $\Sigma_{\mathbf{G}_{123}}$ in (3.19). The probability distribution of $L^{(\ell)}$ is obtained by a standard diagonalization argument in order to express the latter in terms of independent standard Gaussian random variables, implying in particular the formula for its variance.

The proof of Propositon 3.4 is concluded, once we note that the distribution of $L^{(\ell)}$ in Proposition 3.21 can be written in the form $Y^{(\ell)}M^{(\ell)}(Y^{(\ell)})^T$, where $Y^{(\ell)} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\ell(9\ell-4)}(0, \mathrm{Id}_{\ell(9\ell-4)})$ and $M^{(\ell)} \in \mathrm{Mat}_{\ell(9\ell-4),\ell(9\ell-4)}(\mathbb{R})$ is the deterministic matrix given by

$$M^{(\ell)} = \frac{-1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{5\ell} \oplus \frac{-1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{25} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{1}{50} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{5\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} \oplus \frac{-1}{6} \operatorname{Id}_{\frac{3\ell(\ell-1)}{2}} ,$$

with the convention that, $A \oplus 0 = A$ for any matrix A.

Appendix A. Proof of Theorem 2.5 and chaos expansion of level functionals

A.1. Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$. Formal chaotic expansion of the Dirac mass. For $u \in \mathbb{R}$, denote by $\{\beta_j^{(u)} : j \ge 0\}$ the Hermite coefficients of the formal expansion in Hermite polynomials of δ_u , that is

$$\delta_u(x) = \sum_{j \ge 0} \frac{\beta_j^{(u)}}{j!} H_j(x) , \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

where

$$\beta_j^{(u)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \delta_u(y) H_j(y) \gamma(y) dy = H_j(u) \gamma(u) .$$
(A.1)

Approximating the Dirac mass by indicators $(2\varepsilon)^{-1}\mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(x-u)$ for $\varepsilon > 0$ and denoting by $\{\beta_j^{(u)}(\varepsilon) : j \ge 0\}$ their associated Fourier-Hermite coefficients, the following lemma (roughly corresponding to Marinucci et al., 2016, Lemma 3.4) shows that the coefficients $\{\beta_j^{(u)} : j \ge 0\}$ in (A.1) are obtained from $\{\beta_j^{(u)}(\varepsilon) : j \ge 0\}$ by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Lemma A.1. For every $u \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, the following expansion holds in $L^2(\gamma)$:

$$\frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(x-u) = \sum_{j\geq 0} \frac{\beta_j^{(u)}(\varepsilon)}{j!} H_j(x) , \quad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

where

$$\beta_0^{(u)}(\varepsilon) = \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{u-\varepsilon}^{u+\varepsilon} \gamma(y) dy$$

and for $j \geq 1$,

$$\beta_j^{(u)}(\varepsilon) = -\frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \left(H_{j-1}(u+\varepsilon)\gamma(u+\varepsilon) - H_{j-1}(u-\varepsilon)\gamma(u-\varepsilon) \right) .$$
 (A.2)

In particular, for every $j \ge 0$, as $\varepsilon \to 0$,

$$\beta_j^{(u)}(\varepsilon) \to \beta_j^{(u)}$$
 (A.3)

For the nodal case corresponding to u = 0, we write $\beta_j^{(0)} =: \beta_j$, and compute

$$\beta_{2j+1} = 0$$
, $\beta_{2j} = \frac{H_{2j}(0)}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$, $j \ge 0$,

where the first equality is a consequence of the symmetry relation (2.1). In particular, we have

$$\beta_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}, \quad \beta_2 = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}, \quad \beta_4 = \frac{3}{\sqrt{2\pi}}.$$
 (A.4)

The following standard proposition gives the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$ defined in Definition 2.3. Its proof is based on the expansion of $(2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(\cdot - u_i)$ into Hermite polynomials by means of Lemma A.1 and then letting $\varepsilon \to 0$. We omit the details.

Proposition A.2. Let the above setting prevail. Assume that the random field $W = \{W(z) : z \in Z\}$ is such that (i) $\sup_{z \in Z} \mathbb{E} [W(z)^2] < \infty$, (ii) W(z) is $\sigma(\mathbf{G})$ -measurable for every $z \in Z$, and (iii) W(z) is stochastically independent of $(G^{(1)}(z), \ldots, G^{(\ell)}(z))$ for every $z \in Z$. Then, the random variable

$$J_{\varepsilon}(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)}) := \int_{Z} (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]} (G^{(i)}(z) - u_i) \cdot W(z) \ \mu(dz)$$

is an element of $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Moreover, if $J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)})$ as in (2.3) is well-defined in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$, then for every $q \ge 0$,

$$\operatorname{proj}_{q}(J(\mathbf{G}, W; u^{(\ell)}))$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{j_{1}, \dots, j_{\ell}, r \geq 0 \\ j_{1} + \dots + j_{\ell} + r = q}} \frac{\beta_{j_{1}}^{(u_{1})} \cdots \beta_{j_{\ell}}^{(u_{\ell})}}{j_{1}! \cdots j_{\ell}!} \int_{Z} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} H_{j_{i}}(G^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{r}(W(z)) \ \mu(dz) \ ,$$
(A.5)

where $\{\beta_j^{(u)}: j \ge 0\}$ denote the coefficients of the formal Hermite expansion of δ_u given in (A.1).

A.1.1. Some elementary facts. Let $k \ge 1$ be an integer and $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_k)$ a standard kdimensional Gaussian vector. We write $\|\cdot\|_k$ to indicate the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^k . We will need the following standard fact, whose proof is omitted.

Lemma A.3. The random variable $||X||_k$ is stochastically independent of $X/||X||_k$.

For integers $1 \le \ell \le k$, we recall the notation introduced in (1.8)

$$\alpha(\ell,k) := \frac{(k)_{\ell} \kappa_k}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2} \kappa_{k-\ell}} ,$$

where $(k)_{\ell} := k!/(k-\ell)!$ and $\kappa_k := \frac{\pi^{k/2}}{\Gamma(1+k/2)}$ stands for the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^k . The following lemma contains an expression of the moments of the Euclidean norm of a standard k-dimensional Gaussian vector.

Lemma A.4. For all integers $k \ge 1$ and $n \ge 1$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_{k}^{n}\right] = 2^{n/2} \frac{\Gamma((k+n)/2)}{\Gamma(k/2)} .$$
(A.6)

In particular,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_k\right] = \alpha(1,k) , \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_k^2\right] = k , \qquad (A.8)$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_{k}^{3}\right] = \alpha(1,k)(k+1) , \qquad (A.9)$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_{k}^{4}\right] = k(k+2) , \qquad (A.10)$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_{k}^{5}\right] = \alpha(1,k)(k+1)(k+3) , \qquad (A.11)$$

so that

$$\frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_k^3\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_k\right]} = k+1 . \tag{A.12}$$

Proof: The law of the random variable $||X||_k$ is the chi-distribution with k degrees of freedom, whose density is given by

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2^{k/2-1}\Gamma(k/2)} x^{k-1} e^{-x^2/2} , \qquad x > 0 .$$

Thus, it follows that, for $n \ge 1$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_{k}^{n}\right] = \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{n} f(x) dx = \frac{1}{2^{k/2 - 1} \Gamma(k/2)} \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{k+n-1} e^{-x^{2}/2} dx$$

Performing the change of variables $y = x^2/2$ yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|X\|_k^n\right] = \frac{1}{2^{k/2-1}\Gamma(k/2)} \cdot 2^{(k+n)/2-1}\Gamma((k+n)/2) = 2^{n/2} \frac{\Gamma((k+n)/2)}{\Gamma(k/2)} ,$$

which proves (A.6). The identities (A.7)-(A.11) are obtained from (A.6) for n = 1, ..., 6 respectively, together with the relations $\Gamma(z+1) = z\Gamma(z)$ and the definition in (1.8).

A.1.2. Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of $\Phi_{\ell,k}$. For integers $1 \leq \ell \leq k$, we consider a generic map $\Phi_{\ell,k}$ as in Definition 2.2 and a matrix $\mathbf{X} = \{X_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k]\} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R})$ with independent standard normal entries.

The next lemma provides a characterization of the second chaotic projection associated with **X** and $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})$, where we assume that $\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})^2\right] < \infty$. As before, we set $\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] =: \alpha_{\ell,k}$.

Lemma A.5. Let the above assumptions and notation prevail. Then, the following properties hold:

(i) for every $m \ge 1, (i_1, j_1), \dots, (i_m, j_m) \in [\ell] \times [k]$ and $p_1, \dots, p_m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $p_1 + \dots + p_m$ is odd, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\prod_{a=1}^{m}H_{p_a}(X_{j_a}^{(i_a)})\right] = 0 ;$$

(ii) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})X_{j_1}^{(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = 0 ;$$

(iii) for every $(i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})H_2(X_j^{(i)})\right] = \frac{1}{k}\alpha_{\ell,k} \ .$$

Proof: Let us prove (i). Writing $p_1 + \ldots + p_m = r$ and using the fact that $\mathbf{X} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} - \mathbf{X}$ together with property (A3) and the symmetry relation (2.1), we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\prod_{a=1}^{m}H_{p_a}(X_{j_a}^{(i_a)})\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(-\mathbf{X})\prod_{a=1}^{m}H_{p_a}(-X_{j_a}^{(i_a)})\right]$$
$$= (-1)^{r}\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\prod_{a=1}^{m}H_{p_a}(X_{j_a}^{(i_a)})\right],$$

which implies the claim. Let us now prove (ii). Assume first that $\ell \geq 2$ and $i_1 \neq i_2$. Let \mathbf{X}^* be the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying the i_1 -th row by -1. Then, $\mathbf{X} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \mathbf{X}^*$ together with (A2) applied with c = -1 imply

$$J := \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})X_{j_1}^{(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*)X_{j_1}^{*(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{*(i_2)}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})(-X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = -J,$$

and therefore J = 0. Assume now that $i_1 = i_2$ (and therefore that $j_1 \neq j_2$). Let \mathbf{X}^{**} be the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying the j_1 -th column of \mathbf{X} by -1. Then, $\mathbf{X} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \mathbf{X}^{**}$ together with (A3) imply

$$J := \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})X_{j_1}^{(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^{**})X_{j_1}^{**(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{**(i_2)}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})(-X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = -J,$$

which yields the desired conclusion. In order to prove (iii), let \mathbf{X}^* be the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying the *i*-th row by $c = 1/||X^{(i)}||_k$. Then, according to Lemma A.3, the *i*-th row of \mathbf{X}^* is stochastically independent of $||X^{(i)}||_k$. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})H_2(X_j^{(i)})\right] = \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\|X^{(i)}\|_k^2\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] ,$$

so that, using (A2) and the independence mentioned above, yields

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})H_2(X_j^{(i)})\right] &= \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*)\|X^{(i)}\|_k^3\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i)}\|_k\right]}\mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i)}\|_k^3\right] - \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{k}\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] = \frac{1}{k}\alpha_{\ell,k} \;, \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from (A.12).

The following proposition combines Lemma A.5 with the classical general formula for the chaotic projections of all order of $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})$.

Proposition A.6. Let $\Phi_{\ell,k}$: $\operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be as in the previous lemma. Then, for $q \ge 0$, the projection of $\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})$ onto the q-th Wiener chaos associated with \mathbf{X} is given by

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{proj}_q(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})) \\ & = \sum_{\substack{p_1^{(1)}, \dots, p_k^{(1)} \ge 0 \\ p_1^{(1)} + \dots + p_k^{(1)} + \dots + p_1^{(\ell)} + \dots + p_k^{(\ell)} = q}} \alpha_k^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k] \right\} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^k H_{p_j^{(i)}}(X_j^{(i)}) \ , \end{split}$$

where the coefficients $\alpha_k^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [k] \right\}$ are given by

$$\alpha_k^{(\ell)}\left\{p_j^{(i)}:(i,j)\in[\ell]\times[k]\right\} := \frac{1}{\prod_{i=1}^\ell \prod_{j=1}^k (p_j^{(i)})!} \cdot \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\cdot\prod_{i=1}^\ell \prod_{j=1}^k H_{p_j^{(i)}}(X_j^{(i)})\right] .$$
(A.13)

In particular, we have

$$\operatorname{proj}_{0}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})) = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})\right] = \alpha_{\ell,k} , \qquad (A.14)$$

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})) = \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left((X_{j}^{(i)})^{2} - 1 \right) , \qquad (A.15)$$

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2q+1}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})) = 0 , \quad q \ge 0 .$$
 (A.16)

Proof: The formula for $\operatorname{proj}_q(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}))$ follows from the orthogonal decomposition of $L^2(\mathbb{P})$. For q = 0, we have $p_j^{(i)} = 0$ for every $(i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, so that $\operatorname{proj}_0(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})) = \mathbb{E}[\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})]$. For q = 2, in view of Lemma A.5, only the tuples $(p_j^{(i)} : (i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k])$ involving exactly one 2 contribute to the projection on the second chaos and the conclusion then follows from Lemma A.5 (iii). Finally, the projections onto Wiener chaoses of odd order vanish in view of Lemma A.5 (i).

A.2. Proof of Theorem 2.5. Part (i) follows from the form of the q-th chaotic projection of J provided in (A.5) and Proposition A.6 where the random matrix **X** is replaced with $\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z)$. Indeed, by (A.14) and the fact that $\mu(Z) = 1$, we have

$$\operatorname{proj}_{0}(J) = \beta_{0}^{(u_{1})} \cdots \beta_{0}^{(u_{\ell})} \int_{Z} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} H_{0}(X_{0}^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{0}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) \ \mu(dz) = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{i}) \cdot \alpha_{\ell,k} \ .$$

This proves (2.10). For (2.11), since $\operatorname{proj}_1(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) = 0$ by (A.16), we have (recalling the definition of $m^{(i)}$ in (2.6))

$$\operatorname{proj}_{1}(J) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \beta_{1}^{(u_{i})} \prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{\ell} \beta_{0}^{(u_{j})} \int_{Z} H_{0}(X_{0}^{(j)}(z)) H_{1}(X_{0}^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{0}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) \ \mu(dz)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{j}) \gamma(u_{i}) u_{i} \int_{Z} X_{0}^{(i)}(z) \cdot \alpha_{\ell,k} \ \mu(dz) = \prod_{j=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_{j}) \cdot \alpha_{\ell,k} \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} m^{(i)} u_{i} \ .$$

Let us now turn to (2.12). We have

$$\operatorname{proj}_{2}(J) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\beta_{2}^{(u_{i})}}{2!} \prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{\ell} \beta_{0}^{(u_{j})} \int_{Z} H_{0}(X_{0}^{(j)}(z)) H_{2}(X_{0}^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{0}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) \ \mu(dz) + \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \beta_{0}^{(u_{i})} \int_{Z} H_{0}(X_{0}^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{2}(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) \ \mu(dz) .$$

Now, using $\beta_2^{(u_i)} = \gamma(u_i)(u_i^2 - 1)$ and (A.15) yields

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_j) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} (u_i^2 - 1) \int_Z (X_0^{(i)}(z)^2 - 1) \ \mu(dz) \\ &\quad + \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_i) \int_Z \frac{1}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \sum_{j=1}^{k} (X_j^{(i)}(z)^2 - 1) \ \mu(dz) \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_i) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left\{ (u_i^2 - 1) \int_Z (X_0^{(i)}(z)^2 - 1) + \frac{1}{k} \sum_{j=1}^{k} (X_j^{(i)}(z)^2 - 1) \ \mu(dz) \right\} \\ &= \frac{\alpha_{\ell,k}}{2} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \gamma(u_i) \cdot \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left\{ u_i^2 \int_Z (X_0^{(i)}(z)^2 - 1) \ \mu(dz) + D^{(i)} \right\} \,, \end{split}$$

where we used the definition of $D^{(i)}$ in (2.5).

For part (ii), set $u_i = D^{(i)} = 0$ for every $i \in [\ell]$. Then, (2.13) follows since $\gamma(0) = 1/\sqrt{2\pi}$. By (2.12), we have that $\operatorname{proj}_2(J) = 0$. It remains to show that $\operatorname{proj}_{2q+1}(J) = 0$ for $q \ge 0$. The fact that $\beta_{2k+1}^{(0)} = 0$ for every $k \ge 0$ implies that the expansion in (A.5) runs over indices j_1, \ldots, j_ℓ that are all even. The projection of J onto Wiener chaoses of odd order is therefore of the form

$$proj_{2q+1}(J) = \sum_{\substack{j_1,\dots,j_\ell,r\geq 0\\j_1+\dots+j_\ell+r=2q+1}} \frac{\beta_{j_1}^{(0)}\cdots\beta_{j_\ell}^{(0)}}{j_1!\cdots j_\ell!} \int_Z \prod_{i=1}^\ell H_{j_i}(X_0^{(i)}(z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_r(\Phi_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}_{\star}(z))) \ \mu(dz) + \sum_{j_1+\dots+j_\ell+r=2q+1}^\ell H_{j_i}(X_0^{(i)}(Z)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_r(\Phi_{\ell,k}(X_{\star}(Z))) \ \mu(dz)$$

where j_1, \ldots, j_ℓ are all even and r is odd. The conclusion then follows from (A.16).

Appendix B. Fourier-Hermite coefficients of Gramian determinants on the fourth Wiener chaos

For integers $1 \le \ell \le k$ and a $\ell \times k$ matrix **X** with i.i.d. standard normal entries, we consider the function

$$\Phi_{\ell,k}^* : \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,k}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}_+ , \quad \mathbf{X} \mapsto \det(\mathbf{X} \, \mathbf{X}^T)^{1/2} . \tag{B.1}$$

The following lemma shows that $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*$ defined in (B.1) satisfies Assumption A of Definition 2.2. In order to prove this, we recall Cauchy-Binet's identity:

$$\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) = \left[\sum_{j_{1} < \dots < j_{\ell} \in [k]} \det(\mathbf{X}_{j_{1},\dots,j_{\ell}})^{2}\right]^{1/2} , \qquad (B.2)$$

where, for $j_1 < \ldots < j_{\ell} \in [k]$, we denote by $\mathbf{X}_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,\ell}(\mathbb{R})$ the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by only keeping columns labeled j_1,\ldots,j_{ℓ} . We refer to $\det(\mathbf{X}_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}})$ as the *minors* of \mathbf{X} .

Lemma B.1. The function $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*$ in (B.1) satisfies Assumption A of Definition 2.2.

- *Proof*: (A1) Permuting two columns multiplies some of the minors by -1, which is absorbed by taking its square. Permuting two rows multiplies each minor by -1, which is again absorbed by taking its square.
 - (A2) Let \mathbf{X}^* denote the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying the *i*-th row by $c \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, for every $j_1 < \ldots < j_{\ell} \in [k]$, we have $\det(\mathbf{X}^*_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}})^2 = c^2 \det(\mathbf{X}_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}})^2$, so that (B.2) implies $\Phi^*_{\ell \mid k}(\mathbf{X}^*) = |c| \Phi^*_{\ell \mid k}(\mathbf{X}).$
 - (A3) Let \mathbf{X}^* denote the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying its *j*-th column by -1. Then, $\mathbf{X}^*(\mathbf{X}^*)^T = \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}^T$, so that trivially $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}^*)$.
 - (A4) Let \mathbf{X}^* denote the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by replacing its i_1 -th row with the sum of its i_1 -th and i_2 -th row for $i_1 \neq i_2$. Then, the invariance of the determinant under this operation implies that for every $j_1 < \ldots < j_{\ell} \in [k], \det(\mathbf{X}^*_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}}) = \det(\mathbf{X}_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}})$, so that $\Phi^*_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X}^*) = \Phi^*_{\ell,k}(\mathbf{X})$.

B.1. A representation of the Gramian determinant. In the forthcoming discussion, our goal is to compute the Fourier-Hermite coefficients within the fourth Wiener chaos associated with the function $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*$ in (B.1). Our strategy goes as follows: in Lemma B.2, we prove a deterministic identity for Gramian determinants in terms of products of distances between subspaces generated by the matrix based on geometric observations. In Lemma B.3, we subsequently characterize the probability distribution of each of the factors and obtain in particular a formula for the expected value of the Gramian matrix associated with a standard Gaussian matrix. We point out that similar techniques based on factorization of Gramian determinants are used in Chapter 13 of Adler and Taylor (2007) in order to establish the Gaussian Kinematic Formula. We refer the interested reader to this book for further details.

We start with a deterministic result. Let $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(\ell)} \in \mathbb{R}^k$ be linearly independent vectors and **X** the $\ell \times k$ matrix whose *i*-th row is $v^{(i)}$. For $s = 0, \ldots, \ell - 1$, we write $\mathscr{V}_s := \operatorname{span}\{v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(s)}\}$ to indicate the *s*-dimensional linear subspace generated by the first *s* rows of **X** with the convention $\mathscr{V}_0 := \{0\}$ and denote by p_s the projection operator onto \mathscr{V}_s . Furthermore, we set

$$d(k-s) := \|v^{(s+1)} - p_s(v^{(s+1)})\|_k , \qquad s = 0, \dots, \ell - 1$$

that is, d(k-s) is the Euclidean distance in \mathbb{R}^k between $v^{(s+1)}$ and \mathscr{V}_s . The next lemma yields a useful representation of Gramian determinants.

Lemma B.2. Let the above notation prevail. Then, the map $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*$ in (B.1) admits the representation

$$\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} d(k-s) .$$
 (B.3)

Proof: Applying the Gram-Schmidt orthogonalization process to the vectors $\{v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(\ell)}\}$ gives rise to a family of orthogonal vectors $\{w^{(1)}, \ldots, w^{(\ell)}\}$ such that $\operatorname{span}\{w^{(1)}, \ldots, w^{(\ell)}\}$ = $\operatorname{span}\{v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(\ell)}\}$. These are given recursively by $w^{(1)} = v^{(1)}$ and for $s = 1, \ldots, \ell - 1$,

$$w^{(s+1)} = v^{(s+1)} - \sum_{i=1}^{s} \frac{\langle v^{(s+1)}, w^{(i)} \rangle}{\|w^{(i)}\|_{k}^{2}} w^{(i)} = v^{(s+1)} - p_{s}(v^{(s+1)}) ,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the canonical inner product in \mathbb{R}^d . Denote by **W** the $\ell \times k$ matrix with rows $w^{(1)}, \ldots, w^{(\ell)}$. There exists an orthogonal $\ell \times \ell$ matrix P such that $\mathbf{W} = P \mathbf{X}$, which implies that

 $\mathbf{W}\mathbf{W}^T = P \mathbf{X} \mathbf{X}^T P^T$, so that $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{W}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})$. As the rows of \mathbf{W} are mutually orthogonal, we have that

$$\mathbf{W}\mathbf{W}^{T} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\|w^{(1)}\|_{k}^{2}, \dots, \|w^{(\ell)}\|_{k}^{2}\right) = \operatorname{diag}\left(d(k)^{2}, \dots, d(k - (\ell - 1))^{2}\right),$$

and therefore,

$$\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{W}) = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} d(k-s),$$

which is formula (B.3).

We will now pass to the probabilistic setting and replace each of the deterministic vectors $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(\ell)}$ by independent standard Gaussian vectors $X^{(1)}, \ldots, X^{(\ell)}$. The following lemma characterizes the probability distribution of the random variables d(k-s).

Lemma B.3. Let the above setting prevail. For every $s = 0, ..., \ell - 1$, the random variable d(k-s) is chi-distributed with k-s degrees of freedom and stochastically independent of $(X^{(1)}, ..., X^{(s)})$. In particular,

$$\alpha_{\ell,k} := \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})\right] = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} \mathbb{E}\left[d(k-s)\right] = \alpha(\ell,k) , \qquad (B.4)$$

where $\alpha(\ell, k)$ is defined in (1.8).

Proof: Let $\{\mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{e}_k\}$ denote the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^k . Since $d(k) = ||X^{(1)}||_k$, the random variable d(k) is clearly chi-distributed with k degrees of freedom. Now fix $s \in \{1, \ldots, \ell-1\}$. By the rotational invariance of the Gaussian distribution, the conditional distribution of d(k-s) given $\{X^{(1)}, \ldots, X^{(s)}\}$ is precisely the same as the distribution of the distance from $X^{(s+1)}$ to \mathbb{R}^s , that is

$$d(k-s)|\{X^{(1)},\ldots,X^{(s)}\} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \left(\sum_{j=s+1}^{k} \langle X^{(s+1)},\mathbf{e}_{j} \rangle^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

Since the coefficients $\langle X^{(s+1)}, \mathbf{e}_j \rangle = X_j^{(s+1)}$ are i.i.d. standard Gaussian, we infer that $d(k - s)|\{X^{(1)}, \ldots, X^{(s)}\}$ is chi-distributed with k - s degrees of freedom. Thus the characteristic function of $d(k - s)^2|\{X^{(1)}, \ldots, X^{(s)}\}$ is

$$\phi_{d(k-s)^2|\{X^{(1)},\dots,X^{(s)}\}}(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{itd(k-s)^2}|X^{(1)},\dots,X^{(s)}\right] = (1-2it)^{-(k-s)/2} , \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Therefore, taking expectation

$$\phi_{d(k-s)^2}(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[e^{itd(k-s)^2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[e^{itd(k-s)^2}|X^{(1)},\dots,X^{(s)}\right]\right] = (1-2it)^{-(k-s)/2}$$

from which we conclude that d(k-s) is also chi-distributed with k-s degrees of freedom. Moreover, since $d(k-s)|\{X^{(1)},\ldots,X^{(s)}\} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} d(k-s)$, we deduce that d(k-s) is independent of $\{X^{(1)},\ldots,X^{(s)}\}$. The identity in (B.4) follows from independence, and the fact that by (A.7), $\mathbb{E}[d(k-s)] = \alpha(1,k-s)$:

$$\alpha_{\ell,k} = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})\right] = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} \mathbb{E}\left[d(k-s)\right] = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} \alpha(1,k-s) = \prod_{s=0}^{\ell-1} \frac{(k-s)\kappa_{k-s}}{\sqrt{2\pi}\kappa_{k-s-1}} = \alpha(\ell,k) ,$$

which finishes the proof.

B.2. Technical computations. The following result entirely characterizes the fourth chaotic component of the function $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})$ defined in (B.1) where \mathbf{X} is a $\ell \times k$ matrix with i.i.d. standard Gaussian entries.

Lemma B.4. Let the above notations prevail. The following properties hold:

(i) for every $(i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j}^{(i)})^{4}\right] = 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} ;$$

(ii) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^3 X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] = 0 ,$$

(iii) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \neq (i_3, j_3) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^2 X_{j_2}^{(i_2)} X_{j_3}^{(i_3)}\right] = 0$$

(iv) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right] = \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)}\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}=i_{2}}$$
$$+ \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)}\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}\neq i_{2},j_{1}=j_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2}$$
$$+ \alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)\frac{(k+1)(k+2)-(k+3)}{k(k-1)(k+2)}\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}\neq i_{2},j_{1}\neq j_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2};$$

(v) for every collection $I = \{(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \neq (i_3, j_3) \neq (i_4, j_4) \in [\ell] \times [k]\}, we have$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})}X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})}X_{j_{3}}^{(i_{3})}X_{j_{4}}^{(i_{4})}\right] = -\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{k+1}{k(k-1)(k+2)}\mathbf{1}_{I\in S}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2} ,$$

where $S = \{\{(i_{1},j_{1}),(i_{1},j_{2}),(i_{2},j_{1}),(i_{2},j_{2})\}: i_{1}\neq i_{2}, j_{1}\neq j_{2}\}.$

Proof: We prove (i). By (A1), without loss of generality, we can assume that i = 1. Using the representation in (B.3), the fact that $||X^{(1)}||_k = d(k)$, as well Lemma A.3 and (B.4), we have for every $j \in [k]$,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j}^{(1)})^{4}\right] &= \mathbb{E}\left[d(k)\prod_{s=1}^{\ell-1}d(k-s)\frac{(X_{j}^{(1)})^{4}}{\|X^{(1)}\|_{k}^{4}}\|X^{(1)}\|_{k}^{4}\right] \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[d(k)^{5}\prod_{s=1}^{\ell-1}d(k-s)\frac{(X_{j}^{(1)})^{4}}{d(k)^{4}}\right] \\ &= \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[d(k)^{5}\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[d(k)^{4}\right]}\prod_{s=1}^{\ell-1}\mathbb{E}\left[d(k-s)\right]\mathbb{E}\left[(X_{j}^{(1)})^{4}\right] \\ &= 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} \;, \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from Lemma A.4.

We now prove (ii). Assume $i_1 = i_2$ (so that $j_1 \neq j_2$). Multiplying column j_2 by -1 and using (A3) then yields the desired conclusion. If $i_1 \neq i_2$ and $j_1 = j_2$, the result follows from (A2). The case $i_1 \neq i_2, j_1 \neq j_2$ follows either from (A3) or (A2).

The result in (iii) is obtained by arguments similar those in (ii).

For (iv), let us assume that $i_1 = i_2$ (so that $j_1 \neq j_2$). Denote by \mathbf{X}^* the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying the i_1 -th row by $1/||\mathbf{X}^{(i_1)}||_k$. Then, we first observe that by (A2) and Lemma A.3,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) \| X^{(i_{1})} \|_{k}^{4}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}^{*}) \| X^{(i_{1})} \|_{k}^{5}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}^{*})\right] \mathbb{E}\left[\| X^{(i_{1})} \|_{k}^{5}\right]$$
$$= \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\| X^{(i_{1})} \|_{k}\right]} \mathbb{E}\left[\| X^{(i_{1})} \|_{k}^{5}\right] = \alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)(k+3) ,$$

where we used Lemma A.4. On the other hand, we can write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) \|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{4}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\sum_{j,j'=1}^{k} (X_{j}^{(i_{1})})^{2} (X_{j'}^{(i_{1})})^{2}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{k} \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j}^{(i_{1})})^{4}\right] + \sum_{j\neq j'\in[k]} \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j}^{(i_{1})})^{2} (X_{j'}^{(i_{1})})^{2}\right]$$
$$= k \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{4}\right] + k(k-1) \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2} (X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}\right]$$
$$= 3\alpha(\ell,k) \frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k+2} + k(k-1) \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2} (X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}\right]$$

for every $j_1 \neq j_2$, where for the last equality we used the formula proved in (i). Therefore, it follows that for every $j_1 \neq j_2$,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{k(k-1)}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{4}\right] - 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k+2}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{k(k-1)}\left(\alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)(k+3) - 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k+2}\right) \\ &= \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)}. \end{split}$$

Let us now deal with the case $i_1 \neq i_2$ and $j_1 = j_2$, for $\ell \geq 2$. Denote by \mathbf{X}_{\pm} the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} as follows:

$$(X_{\pm})^{(i_1)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (X^{(i_1)} + X^{(i_2)}) ,$$

$$(X_{\pm})^{(i_2)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-2X^{(i_2)} + (X^{(i_1)} + X^{(i_2)}) \right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (X^{(i_1)} - X^{(i_2)}) ,$$

$$(X_{\pm})^{(i)} = X^{(i)} , \quad i \in [\ell] \setminus \{i_1, i_2\} .$$

By construction, the rows $(X_{\pm})^{(i_1)}$ and $(X_{\pm})^{(i_2)}$ are stochastically independent standard Gaussian vectors, so that $\mathbf{X} \stackrel{\mathcal{L}}{=} \mathbf{X}_{\pm}$. Hence, we have on the one hand

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}_{\pm})\big((X_{\pm})_{j_1}^{(i_1)}\big)^4\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^4\right] = 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)}$$

in view of (i), and on the other hand, since $\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}_{\pm}) = \frac{(\sqrt{2})^2}{2} \Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) = \Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})$, we conclude

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}_{\pm})\left((X_{\pm})_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})}\right)^{4}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\left(\frac{X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})} + X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^{4}\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{4}\left(2\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{4}\right] + 6\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right]\right) ,$$

where we used that $\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})})^{3}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{3}X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})}\right] = 0$ in view of (ii). Therefore,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right]$$

= $\frac{1}{6}\left(4\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}_{\pm})\left((X_{\pm})_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})}\right)^{4}\right] - 2\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{4}\right]\right)$
= $\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)}$.

Let us now treat the case $i_1 \neq i_2$ and $j_1 \neq j_2$. Let \mathbf{X}^* be the matrix obtained from \mathbf{X} by multiplying rows $X^{(i_1)}$ resp. $X^{(i_2)}$ by $1/||X^{(i_1)}||_k$ resp. $1/||X^{(i_2)}||_k$. Then, by independence, we infer

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) \|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{2} \|X^{(i_{2})}\|_{k}^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}^{*}) \|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{3} \|X^{(i_{2})}\|_{k}^{3}\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}^{*})\right] \mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{3}\right] \mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i_{2})}\|_{k}^{3}\right] = \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}\right]^{2}} \mathbb{E}\left[\|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{3}\right]^{2}$$

$$= \alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)^{2}.$$

Expanding the product of the norms, we can write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X}) \|X^{(i_{1})}\|_{k}^{2} \|X^{(i_{2})}\|_{k}^{2}\right]$$

$$= k \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right] + k(k-1)\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right]$$

$$= \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k+2} + k(k-1)\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})^{2}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})})^{2}\right] ,$$

where we used the formula proved just before. Hence, we have that for every $j_1 \neq j_2$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^2(X_{j_2}^{(i_2)})^2\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{k(k-1)}\left(\alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)^2 - \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k+2}\right)$$

$$= \alpha(\ell,k)(k+1)\frac{(k+1)(k+2) - (k+3)}{k(k-1)(k+2)},$$

which is the desired formula. The other cases do not contribute as one can multiply a row or column by -1.

We finally prove (v). First, note that if $I \notin S$, then the expectation is zero. Indeed, we notice that if $I \notin S$, there is at least one row or column of **X** that contains only one element corresponding to one of the four pairs of indices of I. Multiplying this row resp. column by -1 and using (A2) gives the desired conclusion. Let us now assume $I \in S$ and denote $E(I) := \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})X_{j_1}^{(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}X_{j_3}^{(i_3)}X_{j_4}^{(i_4)}\right]\mathbf{1}_{I\in S}$. Since $I \in S$, we can write

$$E(I) = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})X_{j_1}^{(i_1)}X_{j_2}^{(i_1)}X_{j_1}^{(i_2)}X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right] , \quad i_1 \neq i_2, j_1 \neq j_2$$

Let us again consider the matrix \mathbf{X}_{\pm} used in part (iv). From formula (iv) in the case $i_1 = i_2$, it follows that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}_{\pm})\big((X_{\pm})_{j_1}^{(i_1)}\big)^2\big((X_{\pm})_{j_2}^{(i_1)}\big)^2\right] = \alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} .$$
(B.5)

On the other hand, we can write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}_{\pm})\big((X_{\pm})_{j_1}^{(i_1)}\big)^2\big((X_{\pm})_{j_2}^{(i_1)}\big)^2\right] = \frac{1}{4}\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)} + X_{j_1}^{(i_2)})^2(X_{j_2}^{(i_1)} + X_{j_2}^{(i_2)})^2\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \left(2\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^2 (X_{j_2}^{(i_1)})^2 \right] + 2\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X}) (X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^2 (X_{j_2}^{(i_2)})^2 \right] + 4E(I) \right)$$

Notice that the terms of the form $\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})^2 X_{j_2}^{(i_1)} X_{j_2}^{(i_2)}\right]$ are zero, by (iii). Hence, combining (B.5) and (B.2) together with the results obtained in (iv), we obtain

$$E(I) = \alpha(\ell, k) \left(\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} - \frac{1}{2} (k+1) \frac{(k+1)(k+2) - (k+3)}{k(k-1)(k+2)} \right)$$

= $-\alpha(\ell, k) \frac{k+1}{k(k-1)(k+2)}$,

which proves the formula.

The following proposition follows immediately from Lemma B.4 and extends the results derived in Lemma 3.3 Dalmao et al. (2019) (corresponding to $(\ell, k) = (2, 2)$ in our notation) to arbitrary integers $1 \le \ell \le k$.

Proposition B.5. The following properties hold:

(i) for every $(i, j) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})H_4(X_j^{(i)})\right] = -\frac{3}{k(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k) ;$$

(ii) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})H_3(X_{j_1}^{(i_1)})H_1(X_{j_2}^{(i_2)})\right] = 0 ,$$

(iii) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \neq (i_3, j_3) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have $\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell_1}^*(\mathbf{X}) H_2(X_{\ell_1}^{(i_1)}) H_1(X_{\ell_2}^{(i_2)}) H_1(X_{\ell_2}^{(i_3)}) \right]$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})H_{2}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})H_{1}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})})H_{1}(X_{j_{3}}^{(i_{3})})\right] = 0 ,$$

(iv) for every $(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \in [\ell] \times [k]$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})H_{2}(X_{j_{1}}^{(i_{1})})H_{2}(X_{j_{2}}^{(i_{2})})\right] = -\frac{1}{k(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k)\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}\neq i_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{j_{1}=j_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2} -\frac{1}{k(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k)\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}\neq i_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{j_{1}\neq j_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2} +\frac{k+3}{k(k-1)(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k)\mathbf{1}_{i_{1}\neq i_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{j_{1}\neq j_{2}}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2};$$

(v) for every collection $I = \{(i_1, j_1) \neq (i_2, j_2) \neq (i_3, j_3) \neq (i_4, j_4) \in [\ell] \times [k]\}, we have$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^*(\mathbf{X})\prod_{a=1}^4 H_1(X_{j_a}^{(i_a)})\right] = -\frac{k+1}{k(k-1)(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k)\mathbf{1}_{I\in S}\mathbf{1}_{\ell\geq 2} ,$$

where $S = \{\{(i_1,j_1),(i_1,j_2),(i_2,j_1),(i_2,j_2)\}: i_1 \neq i_2, j_1 \neq j_2\}.$

Proof: These formulae follow when writing $H_4(x) = x^4 - 6x^2 + 3$, $H_3(x) = x^3 - 3x$, $H_2(x) = x^2 - 1$ and $H_1(x) = x$ and then combining the formulae for monomials proved in Lemma B.4 with Lemma A.5. We include the proof of (i):

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})H_{4}(X_{j}^{(i)})\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j}^{(i)})^{4}\right] - 6\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})(X_{j}^{(i)})^{2}\right] + 3\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,k}^{*}(\mathbf{X})\right]$$
$$= 3\alpha(\ell,k)\frac{(k+1)(k+3)}{k(k+2)} - 6\left(\frac{1}{k}+1\right)\alpha(\ell,k) + 3\alpha(\ell,k) = -\frac{3}{k(k+2)}\alpha(\ell,k) ,$$

where we used (B.4). The remaining formulae are proved in the same spirit.

Appendix C. On the two-point correlation function

C.1. Covariances. Fix $\ell \in [3]$ and $i \in [\ell]$. The following lemma gives the joint distribution of the vector $(\nabla T_n^{(i)}(z), \nabla T_n^{(i)}(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^6$ conditioned on $\{T_n^{(i)}(z) = T_n^{(i)}(0) = u_i\}$ for $u_i \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 \neq z \in \mathbb{T}^3$.

Lemma C.1. For every $z \in \mathbb{T}^3$ such that $r_n(z) \neq \pm 1$, the distribution of the vector $(\nabla T_n^{(i)}(z), \nabla T_n^{(i)}(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^6$ conditioned on $\{T_n^{(i)}(z) = T_n^{(i)}(0) = u_i\}$ is $\mathcal{N}_6(\mu_n^{(i)}, \Omega_n)$, where

$$\mu_n^{(i)} = \mu_n^{(i)}(z) = \frac{u_i}{1 + r_n(z)} \begin{pmatrix} \nabla r_n(z)^T \\ -\nabla r_n(z)^T \end{pmatrix}$$
(C.1)

and

$$\Omega_n = \Omega_n(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \Omega_{1,n}(z) & \Omega_{2,n}(z) \\ \Omega_{2,n}(z)^T & \Omega_{1,n}(z) \end{pmatrix} , \qquad (C.2)$$

where

$$\Omega_{1,n} = \Omega_{1,n}(z) = \frac{E_n}{3} \operatorname{Id}_3 - \frac{\nabla r_n(z) \nabla r_n(z)^T}{1 - r_n(z)^2} ;$$

$$\Omega_{2,n} = \Omega_{2,n}(z) = -\operatorname{Hess}(r_n(z)) + \frac{r_n(z)}{1 - r_n(z)^2} \nabla r_n(z) \nabla r_n(z)^T$$

with $\operatorname{Hess}(r_n(z))$ denoting the Hessian matrix of $r_n(z)$.

Proof: We write $\partial_a := \partial/\partial_{z_a}$ and $\partial_{ab} := \partial^2/\partial_{z_a}\partial_{z_b}$ for a, b = 0, 1, 2, 3 with the convention $\partial_0 = \text{Id.}$ Computing the covariance $\mathbb{E}\left[\partial_a T_n^{(i)}(z) \cdot \partial_b T_n^{(i)}(0)\right]$ and relating it to the covariance function r_n given in (1.2), we obtain that the covariance matrix of the vector $(\nabla T_n^{(i)}(z), \nabla T_n^{(i)}(0), T_n^{(i)}(z), T_n^{(i)}(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^8$ is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_n & B_n \\ B_n^T & C_n \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$A_n = A_n(z) = \begin{pmatrix} E_n/3 \operatorname{Id}_3 & -\operatorname{Hess}(r_n(z)) \\ -\operatorname{Hess}(r_n(z)) & E_n/3 \operatorname{Id}_3 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B_n = B_n(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}^T & \nabla r_n(z)^T \\ -\nabla r_n(z)^T & \mathbf{0}^T \end{pmatrix},$$

$$C_n = C_n(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & r_n(z) \\ r_n(z) & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and $\mathbf{0} := (0, 0, 0)$. Thus, the covariance matrix of $(\nabla T_n^{(i)}(z), \nabla T_n^{(i)}(0))$ conditioned on $\{T_n^{(i)}(z) = T_n^{(i)}(0) = u_i\}$ is given by $\Omega_n = \Omega_n(z) = A_n - B_n C_n^{-1} B_n^T$, which yields the matrix in (C.2) after a standard computation. Its mean is given by

$$\mu_n^{(i)} = \mu_n^{(i)}(z) = B_n C_n^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} u_i \\ u_i \end{pmatrix} = \frac{u_i}{1 + r_n(z)} \begin{pmatrix} \nabla r_n(z)^T \\ -\nabla r_n(z)^T \end{pmatrix} .$$

C.2. Two-point correlation function. For $\ell \in [3]$, we fix $u^{(\ell)} := (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$. The two-point correlation function associated with the random field $\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}$ is given by

$$K^{(\ell)}(x,y;u^{(\ell)}) := \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x))\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(y))| \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y) = u^{(\ell)}\right] \times p_{(\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x),\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y))}(u^{(\ell)},u^{(\ell)}), \quad (C.3)$$

where $p_{(\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x),\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y))}(\cdot,\cdot)$ denotes the density function of the vector $(\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x),\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y)) \in \mathbb{R}^{2\ell}$ and $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(A) = \sqrt{\det(AA^T)}$ for $A \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$. The function $K^{(\ell)}$ is defined whenever the distribution of $(\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x),\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y))$ is non-degenerate, that is, whenever $r_n(x-y) \neq \pm 1$.

The following lemma gives an upper bound for $K^{(\ell)}(z, 0; u^{(\ell)})$ for $z \in \mathbb{T}^3$ in terms of the covariance function r_n and the norm of its gradient.

Lemma C.2. For every $z \in \mathbb{T}^3$ such that $r_n(z) \neq \pm 1$, we have

$$K^{(\ell)}(z,0;u^{(\ell)}) \leq \left(1-r_n(z)^2\right)^{-\ell/2} \cdot (3)_\ell \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell-1} \left(\frac{E_n}{3} - \frac{\ell}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_n(z)\|^2}{1-r_n(z)^2} + \frac{\|u^{(\ell)}\|^2}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_n(z)\|^2}{(1+r_n(z))^2}\right)$$

=: $q^{(\ell)}(z,0;\|u^{(\ell)}\|).$ (C.4)

Proof: By independence, the density factorizes as follows

$$p_{(\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(z),\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(0))}(u^{(\ell)},u^{(\ell)}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} p_{(T_{n}^{(i)}(z),T_{n}^{(i)}(0))}(u_{i},u_{i})$$

and moreover satisfies

$$p_{(\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(z),\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(0))}(u^{(\ell)},u^{(\ell)}) \leq \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} p_{(T_{n}^{(i)}(z),T_{n}^{(i)}(0))}(0,0) \leq \left(1 - r_{n}(z)^{2}\right)^{-\ell/2} .$$
 (C.5)

We now deal with the conditional expectation in (C.3). First, by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(z)) \Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(0)) | \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(z) &= \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)} \right] \\ &\leq \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(z))^2 | \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)} \right]^{1/2} \\ &\cdot \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(0))^2 | \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)} \right]^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

By symmetry, we conclude that the two expectations above coincide, yielding

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}}(z))\Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}}(0))|\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)}\right] \\ \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}}(z))^{2}|\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)}\right] =: \mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(X(z, u^{(\ell)}))^{2}\right], \quad (C.6)$$

where $X(z, u^{(\ell)}) = \{X_j^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)}) : (i, j) \in [\ell] \times [3]\} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{\ell,3}(\mathbb{R})$ is a random matrix having the same distribution as $\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(z)$ conditionally on $\{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)}\}$. Now, the Cauchy Binet formula (B.2) yields

$$\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^2 = \sum_{j_1 < \dots < j_\ell \in [3]} \det \left(X(z,u^{(\ell)})_{j_1,\dots,j_\ell} \right)^2 \,,$$

where, as previously, $X(z, u^{(\ell)})_{j_1,\ldots,j_{\ell}}$ is the matrix obtained from $X(z, u^{(\ell)})$ by only keeping the columns labeled j_1, \ldots, j_{ℓ} . By definition of the determinant, we have

$$\det \left(X(z, u^{(\ell)})_{j_1, \dots, j_\ell} \right) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_\ell} \varepsilon(\sigma) \prod_{i=1}^\ell X^{(i)}_{j_{\sigma(i)}}(z, u^{(\ell)}) ,$$

where $\varepsilon(\sigma)$ denotes the signature of the permutation $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{\ell}$. Then, developing the square, taking expectations and using independence,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^{*}(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^{2}\right] = \sum_{j_{1}<\ldots< j_{\ell}\in[3]} \mathbb{E}\left[\det\left(X(z,u^{(\ell)})_{j_{1},\ldots,j_{\ell}}\right)^{2}\right]$$

$$= \sum_{j_{1}<\ldots< j_{\ell}\in[3]} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'\in\mathfrak{S}_{\ell}} \varepsilon(\sigma)\varepsilon(\sigma')\mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} X_{j_{\sigma(i)}}^{(i)}(z,u^{(\ell)})\cdot\prod_{l=1}^{\ell} X_{j_{\sigma'(l)}}^{(l)}(z,u^{(\ell)})\right]$$

$$= \sum_{j_{1}<\ldots< j_{\ell}\in[3]} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'\in\mathfrak{S}_{\ell}} \varepsilon(\sigma)\varepsilon(\sigma')\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbb{E}\left[X_{j_{\sigma(i)}}^{(i)}(z,u^{(\ell)})\cdot X_{j_{\sigma'(i)}}^{(i)}(z,u^{(\ell)})\right]. \quad (C.7)$$

For notational ease, we write

$$\mathbf{E}_{\ell,ab}^{(i)} = \mathbf{E}_{\ell,ab}^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)}) := \mathbb{E}\left[X_a^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})X_b^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right], \quad i \in [\ell], a, b \in [3] .$$

Exploiting once more the independence of the fields $T_n^{(1)}, \ldots, T_n^{(\ell)}$, we have that

$$\mathbf{E}_{\ell,ab}^{(i)} = \mathbb{E}\left[\partial_a T_n^{(i)}(z)\partial_b T_n^{(i)}(z) | \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(z) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(0) = u^{(\ell)}\right] \\ = \mathbb{E}\left[\partial_a T_n^{(i)}(z)\partial_b T_n^{(i)}(z) | T_n^{(i)}(z) = T_n^{(i)}(0) = u_i\right].$$

Writing formula (C.7) for $\ell = 1, 2, 3$ gives the respective relations

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{1,3}^*(X(z,u^{(1)}))^2\right] = \sum_{a\in[3]} \mathbf{E}_{1,aa}^{(1)} , \qquad (C.8)$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{2,3}^{*}(X(z,u^{(2)}))^{2}\right] = \sum_{a\neq b\in[3]} \left\{\mathbf{E}_{2,aa}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{2,bb}^{(2)} - \mathbf{E}_{2,ab}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{2,ab}^{(2)}\right\}$$
(C.9)

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{3,3}^{*}(X(z,u^{(3)}))^{2}\right] = \sum_{a\neq b\neq c\neq a\in[3]} \left\{\mathbf{E}_{3,aa}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{3,bb}^{(2)}\mathbf{E}_{3,cc}^{(3)} - \left(\mathbf{E}_{3,cc}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(2)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(3)} + \mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{3,cc}^{(2)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(3)} + \mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(2)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(3)}\right) + 2\mathbf{E}_{3,ab}^{(1)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ac}^{(2)}\mathbf{E}_{3,ac}^{(3)}\right\}.$$
(C.10)

We will now provide an explicit expression for the formulae on the right hand side of (C.8), (C.9) and (C.10). For $z = (z_1, z_2, z_3) \in \mathbb{T}^3$ and $(a, b) \in [3] \times [3]$, we use the shorthand notations

$$\partial_a r_n(z) := \frac{\partial}{\partial z_a} r_n(z) ; \quad \partial_{ab} r_n(z) := \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_a \partial z_b} r_n(z)$$

and

$$\rho_{ab} = \rho_{n,ab}(z) := \frac{\partial_a r_n(z) \cdot \partial_b r_n(z)}{1 - r_n(z)^2} ; \quad \mu_{ab} = \mu_{n,ab}(z) := \frac{\partial_a r_n(z) \cdot \partial_b r_n(z)}{(1 + r_n(z))^2} .$$

Note that

$$\rho_{ab}^2 = \rho_{aa}\rho_{bb} , \quad \mu_{ab}^2 = \mu_{aa}\mu_{bb} , \quad \rho_{aa}\mu_{bb} = \rho_{ab}\mu_{ab} .$$
(C.11)
blows that for every $i \in [\ell]$ and $(a, b) \in [3] \times [3]$,

From Lemma C.1, it follows that for every
$$i \in [\ell]$$
 and $(a, b) \in [3] \times [3]$,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\ell,aa}^{(i)} = \operatorname{Var}\left[X_a^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[X_a^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right]^2 = \frac{E_n}{3} - \rho_{aa} + u_i^2 \mu_{aa}$$

and for $a \neq b$,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\ell,ab}^{(i)} = \operatorname{Cov}\left[X_a^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)}), X_b^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[X_a^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right] \mathbb{E}\left[X_b^{(i)}(z, u^{(\ell)})\right] \\
= -\rho_{ab} + u_i^2 \mu_{ab} .$$
(C.13)

(C.12)

Then, it is immediate that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{1,3}^*(X(z,u^{(1)}))^2\right] = \sum_{a\in[3]} \mathbf{E}_{1,aa}^{(1)} = \sum_{a\in[3]} \left\{\frac{E_n}{3} - \rho_{aa} + u_1^2 \mu_{aa}\right\}.$$

Similarly, using (C.12) and (C.13) in (C.9) and (C.10) and exploiting the identities in (C.11) yields after simplifications

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{2,3}^{*}(X(z,u^{(2)}))^{2}\right]$$

$$= \sum_{a \neq b \in [3]} \left\{ \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3} - \rho_{aa} + u_{1}^{2}\mu_{aa}\right) \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3} - \rho_{bb} + u_{2}^{2}\mu_{bb}\right) - \left(-\rho_{ab} + u_{1}^{2}\mu_{ab}\right) \left(-\rho_{ab} + u_{2}^{2}\mu_{ab}\right) \right\}$$

$$= \sum_{a \neq b \in [3]} \left\{ \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{2} - \frac{E_{n}}{3}(\rho_{aa} + \rho_{bb}) + \frac{E_{n}}{3}u_{1}^{2}\mu_{aa} + \frac{E_{n}}{3}u_{2}^{2}\mu_{bb} \right\}$$

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{3,3}^{*}(X(z,u^{(3)}))^{2}\right] = \sum_{a\neq b\neq c\neq a\in[3]} \left\{\left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{3} - \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{2}(\rho_{aa} + \rho_{bb} + \rho_{cc}) + \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{2}u_{1}^{2}\mu_{aa} + \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{2}u_{2}^{2}\mu_{bb} + \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{2}u_{3}^{2}\mu_{cc}\right\}$$

respectively. Then, we note that for every $\ell \in [3]$, writing $\Delta_{\ell} := \{i^{(\ell)} = (i_1, \ldots, i_{\ell}) \in [3]^{\ell} : i_a \neq i_b, \forall a \neq b \in [\ell]\}$, the following identities hold

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} 1 &= (3)_{\ell} ;\\ \sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} (\rho_{i_{1}i_{1}} + \ldots + \rho_{i_{\ell}i_{\ell}}) &= \ell \sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} \rho_{i_{1}i_{1}} = \ell \frac{(3)_{\ell}}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)^{2}\|}{1 - r_{n}(z)^{2}} ;\\ \sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} (u_{1}^{2} \mu_{i_{1}i_{1}} + \ldots + u_{\ell}^{2} \mu_{i_{\ell}i_{\ell}}) &= u_{1}^{2} \left[\sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} \mu_{i_{1}i_{1}} \right] + \ldots + u_{\ell}^{2} \left[\sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} \mu_{i_{\ell}i_{\ell}} \right] \\ &= (u_{1}^{2} + \ldots + u_{\ell}^{2}) \sum_{i^{(\ell)} \in \Delta_{\ell}} \mu_{i_{1}i_{1}} \\ &= \|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2} \frac{(3)_{\ell}}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{(1 + r_{n}(z))^{2}} .\end{split}$$

Using these identities, (C.8), (C.9) and (C.10) finally reduce to

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^{2}\right] = (3)_{\ell} \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell} - \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell-1} \ell \frac{(3)_{\ell}}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{1 - r_{n}(z)^{2}} + \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell-1} \|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2} \frac{(3)_{\ell}}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{(1 + r_{n}(z))^{2}} = (3)_{\ell} \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3}\right)^{\ell-1} \left(\frac{E_{n}}{3} - \frac{\ell}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{1 - r_{n}(z)^{2}} + \frac{\|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2}}{3} \frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{(1 + r_{n}(z))^{2}}\right). \quad (C.14)$$

Plugging the bounds obtained in (C.5) and (C.14) into (C.3) yields the desired upper bound for the two-point correlation function in (C.4). \Box

Lemma C.3. For every fixed $(x, y) \in \mathbb{T}^3 \times \mathbb{T}^3$ such that $r_n(x - y) \neq \pm 1$, the function $u^{(\ell)} := (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell) \mapsto K^{(\ell)}(x, y; u^{(\ell)})$ is continuous.

Proof: Denoting by $\Sigma = \Sigma(x - y)$ the covariance matrix of the vector $(T_n^{(i)}(x), T_n^{(i)}(y))$ for $i \in [\ell]$, the Gaussian density is given by

$$p_{(\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(x),\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(\ell)}(y))}(u^{(\ell)},u^{(\ell)})$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{1-r_{n}(x-y)^{2}}}\right)^{\ell}\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}(u_{i},u_{i})^{T}\Sigma^{-1}(u_{i},u_{i})\right\}$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{1-r_{n}(x-y)^{2}}}\right)^{\ell}\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\exp\left\{-\frac{u_{i}^{2}}{2(1+r_{n}(x-y))}\right\},$$

which is a continuous function of $u^{(\ell)}$. We will now argue that the conditional expectation appearing in (C.3) is a continuous function of $u^{(\ell)}$. It can be rewritten as

$$\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)) \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(y)) | \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y) = u^{(\ell)} \right]$$

= $\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(X(x, u^{(\ell)})) \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(X(y, u^{(\ell)})) \right],$

where, for every $x \in \mathbb{T}^3$, the random $\ell \times 3$ matrix $X(x, u^{(\ell)}) = \{X_j^{(i)}(x, u^{(\ell)}) : (i, j) \in [\ell] \times [3]\}$ has the same distribution as $\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}}(x)$ conditionally on $\{\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x) = \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y) = u^{(\ell)}\}$. From Lemma C.1, it follows that the mean in (C.1) depends linearly on $u^{(\ell)}$. In view of the definition of $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*$, and the structure of the covariance function in (C.2), we conclude that the above expected value is also a continuous function of $u^{(\ell)}$, showing that $K^{(\ell)}(x, y; u^{(\ell)})$ is a continuous function with variable $u^{(\ell)}$.

C.3. Taylor expansions. We compute an expansion of $q^{(\ell)}(z, 0; ||u^{(\ell)}||)$ in (C.4) around z = 0. In order to do so, we start by deriving the Taylor expansions of r_n and its first-order partial derivatives near z = 0. For $n \in S_3$, let

$$\Psi_n := \frac{1}{n^2 \mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_k^4 , \qquad k = 1, 2, 3 .$$
(C.15)

and set $e_n := E_n/3$. Note that $\Psi_n \leq 1$ since $\lambda_k^4 \leq n^2$.

Lemma C.4. For $z = (z_1, z_2, z_3) \in \mathbb{T}^3$ and every $k \in [3]$, the following Taylor expansions hold near z = 0:

$$r_{n}(z) = 1 - \frac{E_{n}}{6} \|z\|^{2} + \frac{E_{n}^{2}}{24} \Psi_{n} \sum_{j=1}^{3} z_{j}^{4} + \frac{E_{n}^{2}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{6} - \frac{1}{2} \Psi_{n}\right) \sum_{i < j \in [3]} z_{i}^{2} z_{j}^{2} + R_{n}^{(0)}$$

$$=: 1 - \frac{e_{n}}{2} \|z\|^{2} + t_{n}(z) + R_{n}^{(0)}$$
(C.16)

$$r_{n}(z) = -\frac{E_{n}}{2} z_{k} + \frac{E_{n}^{2}}{2} \Psi_{n} \sum_{j=1}^{3} z_{j}^{3} + \frac{E_{n}^{2}}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \Psi_{n}\right) \sum_{i < j \in [3]} z_{i}^{2} + R_{n}^{(k)}$$

$$\partial_k r_n(z) = -\frac{E_n}{3} z_k + \frac{E_n}{6} \Psi_n \sum_{j=1} z_j^3 + \frac{E_n}{2} \left(\frac{1}{6} - \frac{1}{2} \Psi_n \right) \sum_{i \neq j \in [3]} z_j z_i^2 + R_n^{(k)}$$

=: $-e_n z_k + u_{n,k}(z) + R_n^{(k)}$, (C.17)

where $R_n^{(0)} = E_n^3 O(||z||^6)$ and $R_n^{(k)} = E_n^3 O(||z||^5)$, and the constants involved in the big-O notation are independent of n.

Proof: These expansions follow from direct computations of partial derivatives. Note that all derivatives of odd (resp. even) order of r_n (resp. $\partial_k r_n$) vanish in view of the fact that, by symmetry, $\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_i^{\alpha}$ is zero whenever α is odd. Also, we note that

$$\frac{1}{n^2 \mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_a^2 \lambda_b^2 = \frac{1}{6} - \frac{1}{2} \Psi_n$$

for $a \neq b \in [3]$, where Ψ_n is as in (C.15). The remainders are of the form $R_n^{(0)} = O(\|\partial^6 r_n\|_{\infty} \|z\|^6)$ and $R_n^{(k)} = O(\|\partial^6 r_n\|_{\infty} \|z\|^5)$, where

$$\partial^6 r_n := \sup_{i_1, \dots, i_6 \in [3]} \partial_{i_1, \dots, i_6} r_n$$

and $\partial_{i_1,\ldots,i_6} r_n(z)$ denotes partial derivatives of r_n of cumulative order equal to 6. Observe that for every $z \in \mathbb{T}^3$,

$$\left|\partial^6 r_n(z)\right| \leq \frac{(2\pi)^6}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_1^{\alpha} \lambda_2^{\beta} \lambda_3^{\gamma} ,$$

where α, β, γ are non-negative even integers such that $\alpha + \beta + \gamma = 6$. Therefore, we can write $\lambda_1^{\alpha} \lambda_2^{\beta} \lambda_3^{\gamma} = \lambda_a^2 \lambda_b^2 \lambda_c^2$ for $a, b, c \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ not necessarily distinct. Then it follows that $\lambda_a^2 \lambda_b^2 \lambda_c^2 \leq \lambda_a^2/3 + \lambda_b^6/3 + \lambda_c^6/3$, so that

$$\left|\partial^6 r_n(z)\right| \le \frac{(2\pi)^6}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} \lambda_1^6 \le \frac{(2\pi)^6}{\mathcal{N}_n} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_n} (\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2)^3 = (2\pi)^6 n^3 \le E_n^3 ,$$

des the proof.

which concludes the proof.

The following result contains the expansion around zero of $q^{(\ell)}(z, 0; ||u^{(\ell)}||)$. In particular, we remark a singularity in the coefficient of $||z||^{-\ell}$ in the case $\ell = 3$, which is consistent with the fact that the mapping $z \mapsto ||z||^{-3}$ is not integrable on \mathbb{T}^3 .

Lemma C.5. For $\ell \in [3]$, as $||z|| \to 0$, we have

$$q^{(\ell)}(z,0; \|u^{(\ell)}\|) = (3)_{\ell} \left(1 - \frac{\ell}{3}\right) e_n^{\ell/2} \|z\|^{-\ell} + (3)_{\ell} \left(1 + \|u^{(\ell)}\|^2\right) E_n^{\ell/2+1} O(\|z\|^{2-\ell}), \tag{C.18}$$

where the constants involved in the big-O notation are independent of n.

Proof: From the expansion in (C.16) we obtain that

$$1 - r_n(z)^2 = (1 - r_n(z))(1 + r_n(z))$$

= $\left(\frac{e_n}{2} \|z\|^2 - t_n(z) + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^6)\right) \left(2 - \frac{e_n}{2} \|z\|^2 + t_n(z) + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^6)\right)$
= $e_n \|z\|^2 - \left[\left(\frac{e_n}{2}\right)^2 \|z\|^4 + 2t_n(z)\right] + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^6)$
=: $e_n \|z\|^2 - f_n(z) + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^6)$, (C.19)

and

$$(1 + r_n(z))^2 = \left(2 - \frac{e_n}{2} ||z||^2 + t_n(z) + E_n^3 O(||z||^6)\right)^2$$

= $4 - 2e_n ||z||^2 + \left[\left(\frac{e_n}{2}\right)^2 ||z||^4 + 4t_n(z)\right] + E_n^3 O(||z||^6)$
=: $4 - 2e_n ||z||^2 + h_n(z) + E_n^3 O(||z||^6)$, (C.20)

where $t_n(z)$ is as in (C.16). Note that since $\Psi_n \leq 1$, we have $t_n(z) = E_n^2 O(||z||^4)$ where the constant in the big-O notation is independent of n. Therefore, we have $f_n(z) := (e_n/2)^2 ||z||^4 + 2t_n(z) = E_n^2 O(||z||^4)$ and $h_n(z) := (e_n/2)^2 ||z||^4 + 4t_n(z) = E_n^2 O(||z||^4)$. From (C.17), we have

$$\partial_k r_n(z)^2 = \left(-e_n z_k + u_{n,k}(z) + E_n^3 O(||z||^5)\right)^2 = e_n^2 z_k^2 - 2e_n z_k u_{n,k}(z) + E_n^4 O(||z||^6) ,$$

so that summing over k = 1, 2, 3 leads to

$$\|\nabla r_n(z)\|^2 = e_n^2 \|z\|^2 - 2e_n \sum_{k=1}^3 z_k u_{n,k}(z) + E_n^4 O(\|z\|^6)$$

=: $e_n^2 \|z\|^2 + g_n(z) + E_n^4 O(\|z\|^6)$, (C.21)

where $g_n(z) = E_n^3 O(||z||^4)$ and again the constant in the big-O notation does not depend on n. Hence we obtain the expansions of the quotient

$$\frac{\|\nabla r_n(z)\|^2}{1 - r_n(z)^2} = \frac{e_n^2 \|z\|^2 + g_n(z) + E_n^4 O(\|z\|^6)}{e_n \|z\|^2 - f_n(z) + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^6)}
= e_n \frac{1 + e_n^{-2} \|z\|^{-2} g_n(z) + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^4)}{1 - e_n^{-1} \|z\|^{-2} f_n(z) + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^4)}
= e_n \left(1 + \frac{g_n(z)}{e_n^2 \|z\|^2} + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^4)\right) \left(1 + \frac{f_n(z)}{e_n \|z\|^2} + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^4)\right)
= e_n \left(1 + \frac{g_n(z)}{e_n^2 \|z\|^2} + \frac{f_n(z)}{e_n \|z\|^2} + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^4)\right)
= e_n + \frac{g_n(z)}{e_n \|z\|^2} + \frac{f_n(z)}{\|z\|^2} + E_n^3 O(\|z\|^4) = e_n + E_n^2 O(\|z\|^2), \quad (C.22)$$

since $e_n^{-1} ||z||^{-2} g_n(z) + ||z||^{-2} f_n(z) = E_n^2 O(||z||^2)$ and similar computations yield

$$\frac{\|\nabla r_n(z)\|^2}{(1+r_n(z))^2} = \left(\frac{e_n}{2}\right)^2 \|z\|^2 + E_n^4 O(\|z\|^4) .$$
(C.23)

Combining (C.22) and (C.23), the expansion around zero of $\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(X(z, u^{(\ell)}))^2\right]$ is then obtained from (C.14):

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^{2}\right] = (3)_{\ell}e_{n}^{\ell-1}\left(e_{n} - \frac{\ell}{3}\frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{1 - r_{n}(z)^{2}} + \frac{\|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2}}{3}\frac{\|\nabla r_{n}(z)\|^{2}}{(1 + r_{n}(z))^{2}}\right) \\
= (3)_{\ell}e_{n}^{\ell-1}\left(e_{n} - \frac{\ell}{3}\left(e_{n} + E_{n}^{2}O(\|z\|^{2})\right) + \frac{\|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2}}{3}\left\{\left(\frac{e_{n}}{2}\right)^{2}\|z\|^{2} + E_{n}^{4}O(\|z\|^{4})\right\}\right) \\
= (3)_{\ell}e_{n}^{\ell-1}\left(e_{n}\left(1 - \frac{\ell}{3}\right) + \left(1 + \|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2}\right)E_{n}^{2}O(\|z\|^{2})\right) \\
= (3)_{\ell}\left(1 - \frac{\ell}{3}\right)e_{n}^{\ell} + (3)_{\ell}\left(1 + \|u^{(\ell)}\|^{2}\right)E_{n}^{\ell+1}O(\|z\|^{2}).$$
(C.24)

Then, using $1 - r_n(z)^2 = e_n ||z||^2 (1 + E_n O(||z||^2)),$

$$q^{(\ell)}(z,0; ||u^{(\ell)}||) = (1 - r_n(z)^2)^{-\ell/2} \cdot \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^2 \right]$$

= $e_n^{-\ell/2} ||z||^{-\ell} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}(X(z,u^{(\ell)}))^2 \right] (1 + E_n O(||z||^2))$
= $(3)_\ell \left(1 - \frac{\ell}{3} \right) e_n^{\ell/2} ||z||^{-\ell} + (3)_\ell \left(1 + ||u^{(\ell)}||^2 \right) E_n^{\ell/2+1} O(||z||^{2-\ell}),$

which has the desired form.

The following lemma justifies the use of Kac-Rice formulae in a sufficiently small cube around the origin, Q_0 .

Lemma C.6. For every $n \in S_3$, there exists a sufficiently small constant $c_0 > 0$ such that for every $(x, y) \in \mathbb{T}^3 \times \mathbb{T}^3$ satisfying $0 < ||x - y|| < c_0/\sqrt{E_n}$, we have $r_n(x - y) \neq \pm 1$.

Proof: We set z = x - y and perform a Taylor expansion of $1 - r_n(z)^2$ around z = 0. From (C.19), we have

$$1 - r_n(z)^2 = \frac{E_n}{3} ||z||^2 + E_n^2 O(||z||^4) = \frac{E_n}{3} ||z||^2 (1 + E_n O(||z||^2))$$

Thus, for every $0 < ||z|| \ll 1/\sqrt{E_n}$, we obtain

$$1 - r_n(z)^2 = \frac{E_n}{3} \frac{C^2}{E_n} (1 + O(1)) = \frac{C^2}{3} (1 + O(1)),$$

for some absolute constant C > 0, so that there exists a sufficiently small constant $c_0 > 0$ such that $1 - r_n(z)^2 > 0$ for every $0 < ||z|| < c_0/\sqrt{E_n}$.

Appendix D. Continuity of nodal volumes

In this section, we prove a more general version of the continuity theorem proved in Theorem 3 of Angst et al. (2018). Our version applies to vector-valued functions on the torus. For completeness, we give the arguments for the *d*-dimensional torus $\mathbb{T}^d, d \geq 2$. Recall that $\mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{R}^d/\mathbb{Z}^d \simeq [0, 1]^d/_{\sim}$, where \sim denotes the equivalence relation given by $(x_1, \ldots, x_d) \sim (x'_1, \ldots, x'_d)$ if and only if $x_i - x'_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, d$. Let us introduce some notation.

Topology on \mathbb{T}^d . (see e.g. Shastri, 2014) Denote by $\pi_d : [0, 1]^d \to \mathbb{T}^d$ the quotient map associated with \sim . We endow the torus with the quotient topology, that is, the open (closed) subsets of \mathbb{T}^d are precisely the subsets $U \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ such that $\pi_d^{-1}(U) \subset [0, 1]^d$ are open (closed) in $[0, 1]^d$ for the Euclidean topology. Moreover, we equip the torus with the quotient metric given by

$$\operatorname{dist}_{d}(\pi_{d}(x), \pi_{d}(x')) = \inf_{a \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} ||x - x' + a||_{d}, \quad x, x' \in [0, 1]^{d},$$

where $\|\cdot\|_d$ denotes the standard Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^d . From now on, we will write x instead of $\pi_d(x)$ for a point on the torus. Since the equivalence relation \sim is defined coordinate-wise, we will implicitly use the fact that the \mathbb{T}^d is a realisation of the cartesian product of d copies of \mathbb{T}^1 .

Banach space of continuous functions on \mathbb{T}^d . For integers $1 \leq k < d$, let $E = C^1(\mathbb{T}^d, \mathbb{R}^k)$ be the set of C^1 real vector-valued functions on \mathbb{T}^d . Then, for a compact space $K \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ (note that a compact subset on the torus has the form $\pi_d(\tilde{K})$ for some compact $\tilde{K} \subset [0,1]^d$), and $F = (F^{(1)}, \ldots, F^{(k)}) \in E$, we define the norm

$$||F||_K := \max_{i=1,\dots,k} \sup_{x \in K} \left(|F^{(i)}(x)| + \sum_{j=1}^d |\partial_j F^{(i)}(x)| \right) \,.$$

We will use the following version of the Implicit Function Theorem for Banach spaces (see e.g. Edwards, 1994, p.417).

Lemma D.1 (Implicit Function Theorem for Banach spaces). Let X, Y, Z be Banach spaces and $f: X \times Y \to Z$ be a function of class C^1 . Let $(x_0, y_0) \in X \times Y$ such that $f(x_0, y_0) = 0$ and $(d_y f)_{(x_0, y_0)}: Y \to Z$ is an isomorphism. Then there exist neighborhoods $U(x_0) \subset X$ of x_0 and $U(x_0, y_0) \subset X \times Y$ of (x_0, y_0) and a function $g: U(x_0) \to Z$ of class C^1 such that

$$((x,y) \in U(x_0,y_0), x \in U(x_0)) \Rightarrow (f(x,y) = 0 \iff y = g(x)).$$

Here $(d_y f)_{(x_0,y_0)}$ denotes the partial differential of f with respect to $y \in Y$ computed at (x_0, y_0) .

Some notation. For $F \in E$, let $Z_K(F)$ be the set of zeros of F lying in the compact $K \subset \mathbb{T}^d$, i.e. $Z_K(F) = \{x \in K : F(x) = 0\}$. We denote by $\operatorname{vol}(Z_K(F)) := \mathcal{H}_{d-k}(Z_K(F))$ the (d-k)-dimensional Hausdorff measure of $Z_K(F)$. As usual, we write $\operatorname{Jac}_F(x) \in \operatorname{Mat}_{k,d}(\mathbb{R})$ to indicate the Jacobian matrix of F computed at x. We introduce the set $D_k := \{J \subset [d] : \operatorname{card}(J) = k\}$, that is, the set of all subsets of [d] that have cardinality k. For $J \in D_k$ and $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$, we denote $x_J := (x_l : l \in J)$ and $p_J(x) := \hat{x}_J := (x_l : l \notin J)$. For x_J as just defined, we write $\operatorname{Jac}_{F,x_J}$ for the $k \times k$ Jacobian matrix obtained when differentiating with respect to the variable x_J . We say that F is non-degenerate on K if $\operatorname{Jac}_F(x_0)$ has full rank k whenever $x_0 \in Z_F(K)$, that is, whenever there exists $J = J(x_0) \in D_k$ such that $\operatorname{Jac}_{F,x_J}(x_0)$ is invertible.

We first prove the following lemma, adapted from Angst et al. (2018).

Lemma D.2. Let $(F_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset E$ and $F \in E$ be such that $F_n \to F$ in the C^1 topology on $K \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ as $n \to \infty$. Then, for n sufficiently large and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we have that $Z_K(F_n) \subset Z_K^{+\varepsilon}(F)$, where

$$Z_K^{+\varepsilon}(F) := \{ x \in K : \operatorname{dist}_d(x, Z_K(F)) \le \varepsilon \} .$$

Proof: We proceed by contradiction. Assume that there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $Z_K(F_n)$ is not a subset of $Z_K^{+\varepsilon}(F)$ for n big enough, i.e. such that for every $N \ge 1$, there exists $n \ge N$ and $x_n \in Z_K(F_n)$ with $\operatorname{dist}_d(x_n, Z_K(F)) > \varepsilon$. As $(x_n)_{n\ge N} \subset K$ and K is compact, we can extract a converging subsequence $(x_{n_j})_{j\ge 1}$; denote $x_{\infty} := \lim_j x_{n_j} \in K$ and note that $\operatorname{dist}_d(x_{\infty}, Z_K(F)) > \varepsilon$ by assumption. Then, using the triangular inequality, we have for every $j \ge 1$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|F(x_{\infty})\|_{k} &= \|F(x_{\infty}) - F_{n_{j}}(x_{n_{j}})\|_{k} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} |F^{(i)}(x_{\infty}) - F_{n_{j}}^{(i)}(x_{n_{j}})| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{k} |F^{(i)}(x_{\infty}) - F_{n_{j}}^{(i)}(x_{\infty})| + \sum_{i=1}^{k} |F_{n_{j}}^{(i)}(x_{\infty}) - F_{n_{j}}^{(i)}(x_{n_{j}})| \\ &\leq k \cdot \|F - F_{n_{j}}\|_{K} + \lambda \cdot \operatorname{dist}_{d}(x_{n_{j}}, x_{\infty}) , \end{aligned}$$
(D.1)

where

$$\lambda := \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{l=1}^{d} \sup_{x \in K} |\partial_l F_{n_j}^{(i)}(x)| \le k \cdot \max_{i=1,\dots,k} \sum_{l=1}^{d} \sup_{x \in K} |\partial_l F_{n_j}^{(i)}(x)| \le k \cdot \|F_{n_j}\|_K < \infty ,$$

because $(F_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset E$. Letting $j \to \infty$ in (D.1) leads to $F(x_{\infty}) = 0$, since $F_{n_j} \to F$ in the C^1 topology on K and $x_{n_j} \to x_{\infty}$. Hence $x_{\infty} \in Z_K(F)$, but this contradicts the fact that $\operatorname{dist}_d(x_{\infty}, Z_K(F)) \geq \varepsilon > 0$.

We now prove the continuity result about nodal volumes. The strategy of our proof is inspired by the proof in Angst et al. (2018).

Theorem D.3 (Continuity of the nodal volume). Let $(F_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset E$ and $F \in E$ be such that F is non-degenerate on a compact $K \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ and $F_n \to F$ in the C^1 topology on K as $n \to \infty$. Then, as $n \to \infty$,

$$\operatorname{vol}(Z_K(F_n)) \to \operatorname{vol}(Z_K(F))$$
.

Proof: Denote by $\phi: E \times \mathbb{T}^d \to \mathbb{R}^k$ the evaluation map $\phi(f, x) := f(x)$. Since F is non-degenerate, for all $x_0 \in K$ such that $\phi(F, x_0) = 0$, there exists $J_0 = J_0(x_0) \in D_k$ such that $\operatorname{Jac}_{F, x_{J_0}}(x_0)$ is invertible, that is, the linear map $(d_{x_{J_0}}\phi)_{(F, x_0)} : \mathbb{T}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is an isomorphism. Therefore, by the Implicit Function Theorem stated in Lemma D.1, there exist open neighborhoods $U(F) \subset E$ of F, $U((x_0)_{J_0}) \subset \mathbb{T}^k$ of $(x_0)_{J_0}$ and $U((\hat{x_0})_{J_0}) \subset \mathbb{T}^{d-k}$ of $(\hat{x_0})_{J_0}$ as well as a function $X_0 : E \times \mathbb{T}^{d-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ of class C^1 such that

$$(f \in U(F), x_{J_0} \in U((x_0)_{J_0}), \hat{x}_{J_0} \in U((\hat{x}_0)_{J_0})) \Rightarrow (\phi(f, x) = 0 \iff x_{J_0} = X_0(f, \hat{x}_{J_0})).$$
 (D.2)

Now denote $W_0 = W_0(J_0) \subset \mathbb{T}^d$ the set of points of $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$ such that $x_{J_0} \in U((\hat{x}_0)_{J_0})$ and $\hat{x}_{J_0} \in U((\hat{x}_0)_{J_0})$. Then, choosing f = F in (D), we obtain that $Z_K(F)$ restricted to W_0 is the (d-k)-dimensional submanifold of \mathbb{T}^d

$$Z_K(F) \cap W_0 = \left\{ x \in W_0 : x_{J_0} = X_0(F, \hat{x}_{J_0}) = (X_0^{(1)}(F, \hat{x}_{J_0}), \dots, X_0^{(k)}(F, \hat{x}_{J_0})) \right\}$$

parametrized by

$$g_0 = g_0(J_0) : \mathbb{T}^{d-k} \to \mathbb{T}^{d-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k , \quad \hat{x}_{J_0} \mapsto (\hat{x}_{J_0}, X_0(F, \hat{x}_{J_0})) .$$
(D.3)

Exploiting the compactness of $Z_K(F)$ together with the Implicit Function Theorem, there is $m \ge 1$ such that for every $j \in [m]$, there are $x_j \in Z_K(F)$, $J_j = J_j(x_j) \in D_k$ and $W_j = W_j(J_j) \subset \mathbb{T}^d$, such that

$$Z_K(F) \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^m W_j,$$

and moreover, for every $j \in [m]$, the Implicit Function Theorem ensures the existence of an implicit function X_j of class C^1 that yields a local parametrization

$$g_j = g_j(J_j) : \mathbb{T}^{d-k} \to \mathbb{T}^{d-k} \times \mathbb{R}^k , \quad \hat{x}_{J_j} \mapsto (\hat{x}_{J_j}, X_j(F, \hat{x}_{J_j}))$$

of $Z_K(F) \cap W_j$. Hence, if $T = \{j_1, \ldots, j_r\} \subset [m]$ for $r \leq m$ and $\bigcap_{j \in T} W_j \neq \emptyset$, then

$$\Gamma_T(F) := Z_K(F) \cap \left(\bigcap_{j \in T} \overline{W_j}\right)$$
(D.4)

describes a (d - k)-dimensional surface whose volume is computed when integrating the corresponding volume element $y \mapsto \sqrt{\det(\operatorname{Jac}_{g_{j_1}}^T(y)\operatorname{Jac}_{g_{j_1}}(y))}$ (see e.g. Humpherys and Jarvis, 2020, Section 10.4). An application of the chain rule gives

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_T(F)) = \int_{Y_T} \sqrt{\det(\operatorname{Jac}_{g_{j_1}}^T(y) \operatorname{Jac}_{g_{j_1}}(y))} \, dy = \int_{Y_T} \sqrt{1 + \sum_{i \in [k]} \|\nabla X_{j_1}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_k^2} \, dy \,,$$

where the region of integration is $Y_T = p_{J_1} \left(\bigcap_{j \in T} \overline{W_j} \right)$. The total volume of $Z_K(F)$ is then computed by

$$\operatorname{vol}(Z_K(F)) = \sum_{\emptyset \neq T \subset [m]} (-1)^{\operatorname{card}(T)} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_T(F)) .$$
 (D.5)

Now we can find $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough such that $Z_K^{+\varepsilon}(F) \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^m W_j$ and in view of Lemma D.2, it follows that $Z_K(F_n) \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^m W_j$ for n sufficiently large, so that

$$Z_K(F_n) = \bigcup_{j=1}^m \left(Z_K(F_n) \cap \overline{W_j} \right) \,.$$

Since for $T = \{j_1, \ldots, j_r\} \subset [m], \Gamma_T(F_n)$ as defined in (D.4) identifies with a (d-k)-dimensional surface of volume vol $(\Gamma_T(F_n))$, the total nodal volume of F_n in K is given by

$$\operatorname{vol}(Z_K(F_n)) = \sum_{\emptyset \neq T \subset [m]} (-1)^{\operatorname{card}(T)} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_T(F_n))$$

Using Lipschitz continuity of $x \mapsto \sqrt{1+x}$ for x > 0, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \operatorname{vol}(Z_{K}(F_{n})) - \operatorname{vol}(Z_{K}(F)) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\emptyset \neq T \subset [m]} \int_{Y_{T}} \left| \sqrt{1 + \sum_{i \in [k]} \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k}^{2}} - \sqrt{1 + \sum_{i \in [k]} \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k}^{2}} \right| \, dy \\ &\leq \sum_{\emptyset \neq T \subset [m]} \int_{Y_{T}} \sum_{i \in [k]} \left| \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k}^{2} - \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k}^{2} \right| \, dy \, . \end{aligned}$$

Now, using the reversed triangular inequality $|||u|| - ||v||| \le ||u - v||$ yields

$$\left| \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k}^{2} - \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k}^{2} \right|$$

$$= \left| \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k} - \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k} \right| \cdot \left(\|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k} + \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k} \right)$$

$$\leq \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y) - \nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k} \cdot \left(\|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F_{n}, y)\|_{k} + \|\nabla X_{j_{1}}^{(i)}(F, y)\|_{k} \right) .$$

In order to conclude, it suffices to show that the first factor converges to 0 uniformly on Y_T as $n \to \infty$. Consider the equation

$$F(\hat{y}_{J_1}, y_{J_1}) = F(\hat{y}_{J_1}, X_{j_1}(F, \hat{y}_{J_1})) = 0, \tag{D.6}$$

where, for the vector (\hat{y}_{J_1}, y_{J_1}) it is implicitly understood that coordinates with indices in J_1 are located in the corresponding position. Differentiating (D.6) with respect to the coordinates \hat{y}_{J_1} , we obtain

$$\operatorname{Jac}_{F,\hat{y}_{J_1}}(\hat{y}_{J_1}, y_{J_1}) \cdot \operatorname{Id}_{d-k} + \operatorname{Jac}_{F,j_{J_1}}(\hat{y}_{J_1}, y_{J_1}) \cdot \operatorname{Jac}_{X_{j_1},\hat{y}_{J_1}}(F, \hat{y}_{J_1}) = 0,$$

where the zero in the right-hand side denotes the zero $k \times (d - k)$ matrix. Therefore, since $\operatorname{Jac}_{F,y_{J_1}}(\hat{y}_{J_1}, y_{J_1})$ is invertible,

$$\operatorname{Jac}_{X_{j_1},\hat{y}_{J_1}}(F,\hat{y}_{J_1}) = -\left[\operatorname{Jac}_{F,y_{J_1}}(\hat{y}_{J_1},y_{J_1})\right]^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{Jac}_{F,\hat{y}_{J_1}}(\hat{y}_{J_1},y_{J_1}) . \tag{D.7}$$

Since F_n converges to F in the C^1 topology, we have that, for n sufficiently large, (D.7) holds true for F_n . Writing out the *i*-th row for $i \in [k]$ of this relation, and using the fact that all the partial derivatives of F_n converge uniformly to the corresponding partial derivatives of F (as $F_n \to F$), we conclude that $\|\nabla X_{j_1}^{(i)}(F_n, \hat{y}_{J_1}) - \nabla X_{j_1}^{(i)}(F, \hat{y}_{J_1})\|_k$ converges to zero uniformly on Y_T as $n \to \infty$, proving the statement.

Appendix E. Singular and non-singular cubes

E.1. Definitions and ancillary results.

E.1.1. Singular and non-singular pairs of points and cubes. For every $n \in S_3$, we partition the torus into a disjoint union of cubes of length 1/M, where $M = M_n \ge 1$ is an integer proportional to $\sqrt{E_n}$ as follows: Let $Q_0 = [0, 1/M)^3$; then we consider the partition of \mathbb{T}^3 obtained by translating Q_0 in the directions $k/M, k \in \mathbb{Z}^3$. Denote by $\mathcal{P}(M)$ the partition of \mathbb{T}^3 that is obtained in this way. By construction, $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{P}(M)) = M^3$. By linearity, we can decompose the random variable $L_n^{(\ell)}$ as

$$L_n^{(\ell)} = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{P}(M)} L_n^{(\ell)}(Q) , \quad \ell \in [3]$$
(E.1)

where $L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)$ denotes the nodal volume restricted to Q. From now on, we fix a small number $0 < \eta < 10^{-10}$. In the forthcoming definition, we define singular pairs of points and cubes.

Definition E.1 (Singular pairs of points and cubes). A pair of points $(x, y) \in \mathbb{T}^3 \times \mathbb{T}^3$ is called a *singular pair of points* if one of the following inequalities is satisfied:

$$|r_n(x-y)| > \eta$$
, $|\partial_i r_n(x-y)| > \eta \sqrt{E_n/3}$, $|\partial_{ij} r_n(x-y)| > \eta E_n/3$

for $(i, j) \in [3] \times [3]$. A pair of cubes $(Q, Q') \in \mathcal{P}(M)^2$ is called a singular pair of cubes if the product $Q \times Q'$ contains a singular pair of points. We denote by $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{S}(M) \subset \mathcal{P}(M)^2$ the set of singular pairs of cubes. A pair of cubes $(Q, Q') \in \mathcal{S}^c$ is called *non-singular*. By construction, $\mathcal{P}(M)^2 = \mathcal{S} \cup \mathcal{S}^c$.

For fixed $Q \in \mathcal{P}(M)$, let us furthermore denote by \mathcal{B}_Q the union over all cubes $Q' \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ such that $(Q, Q') \in \mathcal{S}$. In particular, analogously as in Lemma 6.3 of Dalmao et al. (2019), we have

$$\operatorname{Leb}(\mathcal{B}_Q) = O(\mathcal{R}_n(6)), \tag{E.2}$$

where $\mathcal{R}_n(6) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} r_n(z)^6 dz$. We write

$$\tilde{r}_{a,b}(x-y) := \mathbb{E}\left[\tilde{\partial}_a T_n^{(i)}(x) \cdot \tilde{\partial}_b T_n^{(i)}(y)\right] , \quad a,b = 0, 1, 2, 3 , \quad i \in [\ell] ,$$

where, we recall that $\tilde{\partial}_a = (E_n/3)^{-1/2} \partial_a$ with the convention $\tilde{\partial}_0 :=$ Id. Note that $\tilde{r}_{0,0} = r_n$ and that we dropped the dependence on n in order to simplify notations. We need the following lemma: its proof is based on differentiating the expression of r_n and the orthogonality relations for complex exponentials on the full torus. We omit the details.

Lemma E.2. For every $a, b \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ and every integer $m \ge 1$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \tilde{r}_{a,b}(z)^{2m} \, dz \ll \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} r_n(z)^{2m} \, dz = \mathcal{R}_n(2m), \tag{E.3}$$

where the constant involved in the ' \ll ' notation depends only on m.

E.1.2. A diagram formula. The proofs to be presented in the forthcoming sections are based on the following diagram formula. Such a formula is counterpart to Proposition 8.1 in Dalmao et al. (2019), and is based on the Leonov-Shiryaev formulae (see e.g. Peccati and Taqqu, 2011, Proposition 3.2.1). We introduce some notation: For $i \in [\ell]$, write

$$\left(X_0^{(i)}(x), X_1^{(i)}(x), X_2^{(i)}(x), X_3^{(i)}(x)\right) := \left(T_n^{(i)}(x), \tilde{\nabla}T_n^{(i)}(x)\right), \quad x \in \mathbb{T}^3$$
(E.4)

and consider families of non-negative integers

$$p^{(i)} = \{p_j^{(i)} : j = 0, 1, 2, 3\}, \quad q^{(i)} = \{q_j^{(i)} : j = 0, 1, 2, 3\}$$

for which we write

$$S(p^{(i)}) := \sum_{j=0}^{3} p_j^{(i)} , \quad S(q^{(i)}) := \sum_{j=0}^{3} q_j^{(i)} .$$
 (E.5)

For $m \in \{p^{(i)}, q^{(i)}\}$, we also define the vector of $\mathbb{R}^{m_0} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_2} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_3}$ given by

$$X_m^{(i)}(x) := \left([X_0^{(i)}(x)]_{m_0}, [X_1^{(i)}(x)]_{m_1}, [X_2^{(i)}(x)]_{m_2}, [X_3^{(i)}(x)]_{m_3} \right) ,$$

where for an integer $n \ge 1$ and a real number N, we write $[N]_n := (N, \ldots, N) \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Proposition E.3. For $i \in [\ell]$, consider families of non-negative integers $p^{(i)} = \{p_j^{(i)} : j = 0, 1, 2, 3\}$ and $q^{(i)} = \{q_j^{(i)} : j = 0, 1, 2, 3\}$ as above, as well as $x, y \in \mathbb{T}^3$. Then,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\prod_{j=0}^{3}H_{p_{j}^{(i)}}\left(X_{j}^{(i)}(x)\right)\cdot H_{q_{j}^{(i)}}\left(X_{j}^{(i)}(y)\right)\right]$$

$$=\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{S(p^{(i)})=S(q^{(i)})} \sum_{\sigma_i} \prod_{j=1}^{S(p^{(i)})} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(X_{p^{(i)}}^{(i)} \right)_j (x) \cdot \left(X_{q^{(i)}}^{(i)} \right)_{\sigma_i(j)} (y) \right] ,$$

where the sum runs over all permutations σ_i of $\{1, \ldots, S(p^{(i)})\}$.

E.2. Proof of Lemma 3.1. Proof of the almost sure convergence: In the case $\ell = 3$, one can argue similarly as in the proof of Lemma 3.1 in Dalmao et al. (2019). We present the arguments for $\ell = 2$. Since, $\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)}$ is of class C^{∞} , Sard's Theorem (see e.g. Sard, 1942) implies that its set of critical values has almost surely zero Lebesgue measure. Therefore, applying the Co-Area formula (Proposition 6.13, Azaïs and Wschebor, 2009) to the functions $f = \mathbf{T}_n^{(2)} : \mathbb{T}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ and $g : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}, g(x_1, x_2) = (2\varepsilon)^{-2} \prod_{i=1}^2 \mathbf{1}_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]}(x_i)$ yields

$$L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(2)} = (2\varepsilon)^{-2} \int_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]^2} L_n^{(2)}(\mathbb{T}^3; (u_1, u_2)) \, du_1 du_2 \,, \tag{E.6}$$

where for $B \subset \mathbb{T}^3$, we set $L_n^{(2)}(B;(u_1,u_2)) = \mathcal{H}_1\{(\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)})^{-1}(\{(u_1,u_2)\}) \cap B\}$. Now, as $(u_1,u_2) \to (0,0)$, the random field $\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)} - (u_1,u_2)$ converges in the C^1 topology on \mathbb{T}^3 to the random field $\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)}$, which is non-degenerate - as can be seen e.g. by checking the assumptions of Proposition 6.12 in Azaïs and Wschebor (2009) - so that by the continuity of the nodal volume proved in Theorem D.3,

$$\lim_{(u_1,u_2)\to(0,0)} \mathcal{H}_1\left\{ (\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)} - (u_1,u_2))^{-1} (\{(0,0)\}) \right\} = \mathcal{H}_1\left\{ (\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)})^{-1} (\{(0,0)\}) \right\}$$
$$= L_n^{(2)} (\mathbb{T}^3; (u_1,u_2)) .$$

This proves the continuity of $L_n^{(2)}(\mathbb{T}^3; (u_1, u_2))$ at $(u_1, u_2) = (0, 0)$. The almost sure convergence then follows by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ in (E.6).

<u>Proof of the $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ -convergence</u>: We now prove that the convergence also takes place in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$. For completeness, we include the three cases corresponding to $\ell = 1, 2, 3$ in our proof. We start by proving an auxiliary result. Recall that Q_0 is the small cube around the origin of side length 1/M.

Lemma E.4. The map
$$(u_1, \ldots, u_\ell) \mapsto \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell))^2\right]$$
 is continuous at $(0, \ldots, 0)$

Proof: Writing $u^{(\ell)} := (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell)$, we will prove that

$$\lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; u^{(\ell)})^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; (0,...,0))^2\right]$$
(E.7)

By virtue of Lemma C.6 the random field $(\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(x), \mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}(y))$ is non-degenerate in Q_0 so that we may use Kac-Rice formulae in the cube Q_0 . For $\ell = 1, 2$, by Azaïs and Wschebor (2009, Theorem 6.9),

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; u^{(\ell)})^2\right] = \int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(\ell)}(x, y; u^{(\ell)}) \, dx dy \; ,$$

where $K^{(\ell)}$ is as in (C.3), whereas for $\ell = 3$, we write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0; u^{(3)})^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0; u^{(3)})\left(L_n^{(3)}(Q_0; u^{(3)}) - 1\right)\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0; u^{(3)})\right] ,$$

and apply Theorem 6.2 resp. Theorem 6.3 of Azaïs and Wschebor (2009) to the respective summands, so that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0; u^{(3)})^2\right]$$

= $\int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(3)}(x, y; u^{(3)}) dx dy$

$$+ \int_{Q_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x)) | \mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x) = u^{(3)} \right] \cdot p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)}) dx$$
$$= \int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(3)}(x, y; u^{(3)}) dx dy + \int_{Q_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x)) \right] \cdot p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)}) dx$$

where the last line follows from the independence of $\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(3)}(x)$ and $\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(3)}}(x)$. Thus, the LHS of (E.7) reduces to

$$\lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} \mathbb{E} \left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; u^{(\ell)})^2 \right] = \lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} \left(\int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(\ell)}(x, y; u^{(\ell)}) dx dy + \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3} \times \int_{Q_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x)) \right] \cdot p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)}) dx \right).$$
(E.8)

Let us deal with the additional term appearing in the case $\ell = 3$: The Hadamard inequality (see e.g. Różański et al., 2017) and independence yield

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x))\right] \le \prod_{i=1}^3 \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla T_n^{(i)}(x)\|\right] \le \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla T_n^{(1)}(x)\|^2\right]^{3/2} = E_n^{3/2}.$$

Moreover, the Gaussian probability density $u^{(3)} \mapsto p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)})$ satisfies

$$p_{\mathbf{T}_{n}^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)}) = \prod_{i=1}^{3} p_{T_{n}^{(i)}(x)}(u_{i}) \le \left(p_{T_{n}^{(1)}(x)}(0)\right)^{3} = (2\pi)^{-3/2}$$

Therefore, applying dominated convergence yields,

$$\lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} \int_{Q_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x)) \right] \cdot p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(u^{(3)}) dx$$
$$= \int_{Q_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\Phi_{\ell,3}^* (\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}}(x)) \right] p_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(3)}(x)}(0,0,0) \ dx = \mathbb{E} \left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0;(0,0,0)) \right]$$

We now deal with the first summand of the RHS of (E.8). By stationarity,

$$\int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(\ell)}(x, y; u^{(\ell)}) dx dy = \int_{Q_0 - Q_0} \operatorname{Leb}(Q_0 \cap Q_0 - z) K^{(\ell)}(z, 0; u^{(\ell)}) dz.$$

Now, for every $u^{(\ell)}$ in a neighbourhood of $(0, \ldots, 0)$, say $||u^{(\ell)}|| < \delta$, for some $\delta > 0$, in view of (C.4), we have $K^{(\ell)}(z, 0; u^{(\ell)}) \le q^{(\ell)}(z, 0; ||u^{(\ell)}||) < q^{(\ell)}(z, 0; \delta)$ for every z. Therefore, again by dominated convergence, we infer

$$\lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} \int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} K^{(\ell)}(x,y;u^{(\ell)}) dx dy = \int_{Q_0 \times Q_0} \lim_{u^{(\ell)} \to (0,...,0)} K^{(\ell)}(x,y;u^{(\ell)}) dx dy$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \left[L_n^{(\ell)}(\mathbb{T}^3;(0,\ldots,0))^2 \right],$$

where, in the last line we used the continuity result proved in Lemma C.3.

Now, for a domain $B \subset \mathbb{T}^3$, we set $L_n^{(\ell)}(B) := L_n^{(\ell)}(B; (0, \ldots, 0))$ and for $\varepsilon > 0$, we write $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(B) := L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(B; (0, \ldots, 0))$ for the ε -approximation of $L_n^{(\ell)}(B)$ (recall definition (3.3)). We define the random variable

$$A_n^{(\ell)}(B;\varepsilon,\varepsilon') := L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(B) - L_{n,\varepsilon'}^{(\ell)}(B) , \quad n \in S_3, \ \varepsilon > 0, \ \varepsilon' > 0.$$
(E.9)

Proving that $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}$ converges to $L_n^{(\ell)}$ in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$ is equivalent to showing that for every $n \in S_3$, the random variable $A_n^{(\ell)}(\mathbb{T}^3; \varepsilon, \varepsilon')$ converges to zero in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \to 0$. We first show that the latter convergence holds in the small cube Q_0 around the origin.

Lemma E.5. For every $n \in S_3$, one has that $A_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; \varepsilon, \varepsilon') \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \to 0$.

Proof: We will show that, for every $n \in S_3$, the sequence $\{L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0) : \varepsilon > 0\}$ converges in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ to $L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. This implies that $\{L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0) : \varepsilon > 0\}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$, and therefore $A_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0;\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ as $\varepsilon,\varepsilon' \to 0$. Since almost sure convergence together with convergence of norms implies convergence in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$ (see e.g. Rudin, 1987, p.73), it suffices to show that $\mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \to \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right]$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. We start by proving that $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0) \in L^2(\mathbb{P})$ for every $\varepsilon > 0$: Using the definition of $L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)$ and the Hadamard inequality, we have

$$\begin{split} L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0) &\leq (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \int_{Q_0} \Phi_{\ell,3}^*(\operatorname{Jac}_{\mathbf{T}_n^{(2)}}(x)) \ dx \leq (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \int_{Q_0} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|\nabla T_n^{(i)}(x)\| dx \\ &\leq (2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|\nabla T_n^{(i)}(x)\| dx \ , \end{split}$$

and hence, using Jensen's inequality,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \leq (2\varepsilon)^{-2\ell} \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|\nabla T_n^{(i)}(x)\| dx\right)^2\right]$$
$$\leq (2\varepsilon)^{-2\ell} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \|\nabla T_n^{(i)}(x)\|^2 dx\right]$$
$$= (2\varepsilon)^{-2\ell} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla T_n^{(1)}(x)\|^2\right]^\ell dx = (2\varepsilon)^{-2\ell} E_n^\ell < +\infty.$$

In order to prove that $L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)$ is in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$, we use Kac-Rice formulae for second moments and proceed as in the proof of Lemma E.4: For $\ell = 3$, we write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0)(L_n^{(3)}(Q_0)-1)\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0)\right],$$

and apply Kac-Rice formula for moments and use stationarity, to write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_{n}^{(\ell)}(Q_{0})^{2}\right] = \int_{Q_{0}\times Q_{0}} K^{(\ell)}(x, y; (0, \dots, 0)) \, dx dy + \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n}^{(3)}(Q_{0})\right] \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}$$
$$\leq \operatorname{Leb}(Q_{0}) \int_{2Q_{0}} K^{(\ell)}(z, 0; (0, \dots, 0)) \, dz + \frac{E_{n}^{3/2}}{M^{3}} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3} , \qquad (E.10)$$

where the last line follows from the fact that $\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}(Q_0)\right] = \operatorname{Leb}(Q_0)\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(3)}\right] \ll M^{-3}E_n^{3/2}$. From (C.4) and the Taylor expansion in Lemma C.5, we can upper bound (E.10) by

$$\leq \frac{1}{M^3} \int_{2Q_0} q^{(\ell)}(z,0;0) \, dz + \frac{E_n^{3/2}}{M^3} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}$$

$$\ll \frac{1}{M^3} \int_0^{1/M} \left[(3)_\ell \left(1 - \frac{\ell}{3} \right) e_n^{\ell/2} r^{2-\ell} + (3)_\ell \left(1 + \|u^{(\ell)}\|^2 \right) E_n^{\ell/2+1} r^{4-\ell} \right] dr$$

$$+ \frac{E_n^{3/2}}{M^3} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}$$

$$\ll E_n^{-2} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=1} + E_n^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{\ell=2} + \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}.$$
(E.11)

This proves that $L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)$ is an element of $L^2(\mathbb{P})$. In order to show that the convergence holds in $L^2(\mathbb{P})$, we will prove the inequalities

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \le \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \le \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right].$$

For the first inequality, we use the almost sure convergence proved above and Fatou's Lemma to write

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right].$$

The second inequality is proved as follows: Applying the Co-Area formula (Proposition 6.13, Azaïs and Wschebor, 2009) and then the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_{n,\varepsilon}^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] = (2\varepsilon)^{-2\ell} \int_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]^\ell \times [-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]^\ell} \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; u^{(\ell)}) \cdot L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; v^{(\ell)})\right] du^{(\ell)} dv^{(\ell)}$$
$$\leq \left((2\varepsilon)^{-\ell} \int_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon]^\ell} \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0; u^{(\ell)})^2\right]^{1/2} du^{(\ell)}\right)^2,$$

where $u^{(\ell)} = (u_1, \ldots, u_\ell)$ and $v^{(\ell)} = (v_1, \ldots, v_\ell)$. By Lemma E.4, the map $u^{(\ell)} \mapsto \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(\mathbb{T}^3; u^{(\ell)})^2\right]$ is continuous at $(0, \ldots, 0)$, so that letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields the desired inequality.

Taking advantage of the partition of the torus introduced in Section E.1.1, we decompose

$$\mathbb{E}\left[A_n^{(\ell)}(\mathbb{T}^3;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')^2\right] = \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{P}(M)^2} \mathbb{E}\left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')A_n^{(\ell)}(Q';\varepsilon,\varepsilon')\right]$$
$$= \left\{\sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}} + \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c}\right\} \mathbb{E}\left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')A_n^{(\ell)}(Q';\varepsilon,\varepsilon')\right] =: S_{n,1}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') + S_{n,2}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')$$

and control each term separately. This is the content of the next two lemmas.

Lemma E.6. For every $n \in S_3$, one has that $|S_{n,1}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon')| \to 0$ as $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \to 0$.

Proof: Using the triangular inequality and then the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \left| S_{n,1}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \right| &\leq \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}} \sqrt{\mathbb{E} \left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')^2 \right]} \mathbb{E} \left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q';\varepsilon,\varepsilon')^2 \right] \\ &= \operatorname{card}(\mathcal{S}) \cdot \mathbb{E} \left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')^2 \right] , \end{aligned}$$
(E.12)

where we used translation-invariance of $\mathbf{T}_n^{(\ell)}$ in order to reduce the arguments over the cube Q_0 . Now, thanks to (E.2) and the fact that we are summing over pairs of cubes yields $\operatorname{card}(\mathcal{S}) = M^6 \cdot \operatorname{Leb}(\mathcal{B}_Q) = O(E_n^3 \mathcal{R}_n(6))$. By Lemma E.5, $\mathbb{E}\left[A_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0;\varepsilon,\varepsilon')^2\right]$ converges to 0 as $\varepsilon,\varepsilon' \to 0$, which yields the desired conclusion.

Lemma E.7. For every $n \in S_3$, one has that $|S_{n,2}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon')| \to 0$ as $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \to 0$.

Proof: Adopting the same notation as in Section E.1.2, we write **p** for multi-indices of the form $\{p_j^{(i)}: (i,j) \in [\ell] \times \{0,1,2,3\}\}$ and set $S(\mathbf{p}) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \sum_{j=0}^{3} p_j^{(i)}$. The Wiener-chaos decomposition of $A_n^{(\ell)}(Q; \varepsilon, \varepsilon')$ in (E.9) is obtained from that of $L_n^{(\ell)}$ in (3.5) by replacing \mathbb{T}^3 with Q and the coefficients $\beta_{p_0^{(1)}} \cdots \beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}}$ with

$$\delta_{p_0^{(1)},\ldots,p_0^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon'):=\prod_{i=1}^\ell\beta_{p_0^{(i)}}(\varepsilon)-\prod_{i=1}^\ell\beta_{p_0^{(i)}}(\varepsilon'),$$

where the coefficients $\beta_j(\varepsilon)$ are as in (A.2). Moreover, using the notation in (E.4) and writing

$$\gamma_3^{(\ell)}\left\{p_j^{(i)}\right\} = \gamma_3^{(\ell)}\left\{p_j^{(i)}: (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [3]\right\} := \alpha_3^{(\ell)}\left\{p_j^{(i)}: (i,j) \in [\ell] \times [3]\right\} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} p_j^{(i)}! \qquad (E.13)$$

for the Fourier-Hermite coefficients of the function $\Phi_{\ell,3}^*$, we infer that

$$\begin{split} \left| S_{n,2}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \right| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{E_n}{3} \right)^{\ell} \sum_{q \geq 0} \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \left| \frac{\delta_{p_0^{(1)},\dots,p_0^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')}{p_0^{(1)}!\dots p_0^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} \right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} p_j^{(i)}!} \frac{\delta_{q_0^{(1)},\dots,q_0^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')}{q_0^{(1)}!\dots q_0^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ q_j^{(i)} \right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} q_j^{(i)}!} \right| \\ &\times \mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{p})=2q} \mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{q})=2q} |W(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q})| \\ =: \left(\frac{E_n}{3} \right)^{\ell} \times B_n^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon'), \end{split}$$

where

$$W(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) = \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c} \int_Q \int_{Q'} \mathbb{E}\left[\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=0}^{3} H_{p_j^{(i)}}\left(X_j^{(i)}(x)\right) H_{q_j^{(i)}}\left(X_j^{(i)}(y)\right)\right] dxdy.$$
(E.14)

Applying Proposition E.3, using that $\mathbf{1} \leq 1$ and the fact that $S(p^{(1)})! \cdots S(p^{(\ell)})! \leq (S(p^{(1)}) + \ldots + S(p^{(\ell)}))! = S(\mathbf{p})! = (2q)!$, we see that $W(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ is a sum of at most (2q)! terms of the type

$$w = \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c} \int_Q \int_{Q'} \prod_{j=1}^{2q} \tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j}(x-y) \, dxdy$$
(E.15)

for some $a_1, b_1, \ldots, a_{2q}, b_{2q} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. Now, using the fact that for every $(x, y) \in Q \times Q' \subset S^c$ and every $a, b \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$, we have $|\tilde{r}_{a,b}(x, y)| \leq \eta$, we infer that $|W(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})| \leq (2q)! \times \eta^{2q}$. Using

$$\sum_{q\geq 0}\sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(2q)!\cdot\mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{p})=2q}\mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{q})=2q}\leq \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}\sqrt{S(\mathbf{p})!}\sqrt{S(\mathbf{q})!},$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| B_{n}^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \right| &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \left| \frac{\delta_{p_{0}^{(1)},\dots,p_{0}^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')}{p_{0}^{(1)}!\dots p_{0}^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_{3}^{(\ell)}\left\{p_{j}^{(i)}\right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\prod_{j=1}^{3}p_{j}^{(i)}!} \right| \cdot \sqrt{S(\mathbf{p})!} \sqrt{\eta}^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}} \\ &\times \left| \frac{\delta_{q_{0}^{(1)},\dots,q_{0}^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')}{q_{0}^{(1)}!\dots q_{0}^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_{3}^{(\ell)}\left\{q_{j}^{(i)}\right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\prod_{j=1}^{3}q_{j}^{(i)}!} \right| \cdot \sqrt{S(\mathbf{q})!} \sqrt{\eta}^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}} \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \frac{\left[\delta_{p_{0}^{(1)},\dots,p_{0}^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')\right]^{2}}{p_{0}^{(1)}!\dots p_{0}^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_{3}^{(\ell)}\left\{p_{j}^{(i)}\right\}^{2}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\prod_{j=1}^{3}p_{j}^{(i)}!} \cdot \frac{S(\mathbf{p})!}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell}\prod_{j=0}^{3}p_{j}^{(i)}!} \sqrt{\eta}^{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})} , \end{aligned}$$
(E.16)

where the last inequality follows from an application of the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality to the symmetric measure $(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}) \mapsto \sqrt{\eta}^{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}$. We now argue that $|B_n^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon')| \to 0$ as $\varepsilon, \varepsilon' \to 0$. First, the estimate (see e.g. Stein, 1970, formula 22.14.16),

$$|\beta_j(\varepsilon)| \le \gamma\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \frac{j!}{2^{j/2}(j/2)!} < |\beta_j|, \quad \varepsilon > 0, \ j \ge 1,$$

implies that

$$\left| \delta_{p_0^{(1)},\ldots,p_0^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \right| < 2 \times \left| \beta_{p_0^{(1)}}\ldots\beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}} \right|$$

so that we can apply dominated convergence and use the fact that $\delta_{p_0^{(1)},\ldots,p_0^{(\ell)}}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon') \to 0$ as $\varepsilon,\varepsilon' \to 0$ in view of (A.3). We will now prove that the remaining series over \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} is finite. We note that (i) for every \mathbf{p} , the quantity

$$\frac{\beta_{p_0^{(1)}}^2 \cdots \beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}}^2}{p_0^{(1)}! \cdots p_0^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} \right\}^2}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} p_j^{(i)}!}$$

is bounded, and (ii) using the multinomial theorem

$$\frac{S(\mathbf{p})!}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=0}^{3} p_{j}^{(i)}!} \leq \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{m} = (m_{j}^{(i)}):\\S(\mathbf{m}) = S(\mathbf{p})}} \frac{S(\mathbf{p})!}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=0}^{3} m_{j}^{(i)}!} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=0}^{3} 1^{m_{j}^{(i)}} = (4\ell)^{S(\mathbf{p})} .$$

Plugging (i) and (ii) into (E.16) and using the fact that $4\ell\sqrt{\eta} < 1$, gives

$$\left|B_n^{(\ell)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon')\right| \ll \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} (4\ell)^{S(\mathbf{p})} \sqrt{\eta}^{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})} < +\infty.$$

This finishes the proof.

E.3. Proofs of Lemma 3.6 and Lemma 3.7.

Proof of Lemma 3.6. Arguing as in (E.12), we have

$$\left|S_{n,1}^{(\ell)}\right| \le \operatorname{card}(\mathcal{S}) \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0))\right] \ll E_n^3 \mathcal{R}_n(6) \cdot \operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0))\right],$$
(E.17)

where Q_0 is the cube around the origin. Now we notice that

$$\operatorname{Var}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0))\right] \le \operatorname{Var}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)\right] \le \mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right]$$

Using Kac-Rice formulae and reasoning as in (E.10) and (E.11), we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[L_n^{(\ell)}(Q_0)^2\right] \le E_n^{-2}\mathbf{1}_{\ell=1} + E_n^{-1}\mathbf{1}_{\ell=2} + \mathbf{1}_{\ell=3}.$$

Combining this with the estimate in (E.17), yields the desired conclusion.

Proof of Lemma 3.7: Using the fact that $\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q))$ is centred and the triangular inequality, we first write

$$\left|S_{n,2}^{(\ell)}\right| \leq \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c} \mathbb{E}\left[\operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q)) \cdot \operatorname{proj}_{6+}(L_n^{(\ell)}(Q'))\right].$$

For a family of non-negative integers $\mathbf{p} := \{p_j^{(i)} : (i,j) \in [\ell] \times \{0,1,2,3\}\}$, we write $S(\mathbf{p}) := \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \sum_{j=0}^{3} p_j^{(i)}$. Adopting the notation introduced in (E.4), it follows from the chaotic expansion in Proposition 3.2 that,

$$\begin{split} \left| S_{n,2}^{(\ell)} \right| &\leq \left(\frac{E_n}{3} \right)^{\ell} \sum_{q \geq 3} \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \left| \frac{\beta_{p_0^{(1)}} \dots \beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}}}{p_0^{(1)}! \dots p_0^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ p_j^{(i)} \right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} p_j^{(i)}!} \frac{\beta_{q_0^{(1)}} \dots \beta_{q_0^{(\ell)}}}{q_0^{(1)}! \dots q_0^{(\ell)}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{ q_j^{(i)} \right\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} q_j^{(i)}!} \right| \\ &\times \mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{p})=2q} \mathbf{1}_{S(\mathbf{q})=2q} |W(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q})| \;, \end{split}$$
(E.18)

where $\gamma_3^{(\ell)}\{\cdot\}$ is as in (E.13) and $W(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ as in (E.14). Arguing as in the proof of Lemma E.7, we see that $W(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$ is a sum of at most (2q)! terms of the type

$$w = \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c} \int_Q \int_{Q'} \prod_{j=1}^{2q} \tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j}(x-y) \, dxdy$$

for some $a_1, b_1, \ldots, a_{2q}, b_{2q} \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. Now, using the fact that for every $(x, y) \in Q \times Q' \subset S^c$ and every $a, b \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$, we have $|\tilde{r}_{a,b}(x, y)| \leq \eta$, we deduce that

$$|w| \le \eta^{2q-6} \sum_{(Q,Q')\in\mathcal{S}^c} \int_Q \int_{Q'} \prod_{j=1}^6 \tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j}(x-y) dx dy \le \eta^{2q-6} \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} \prod_{j=1}^6 \tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j}(z) dz$$

Then, by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality $|\tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j}(z)| \leq 1$ for every $z \in \mathbb{T}^3$, we have $\tilde{r}_{a_j,b_j} \in L^6(dz)$ for every $j \in [6]$, so that applying the generalised Hölder inequality yields

$$|w| \leq \eta^{2q-6} \prod_{j=1}^{6} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^{3}} \tilde{r}_{a_{j},b_{j}}(z)^{6} dz \right)^{1/6} \\ \ll \eta^{2q-6} \cdot \mathcal{R}_{n}(6) = \frac{\mathcal{R}_{n}(6)}{\eta^{6}} \cdot \sqrt{\eta}^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}} \sqrt{\eta}^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}} , \qquad (E.19)$$

where we used Lemma E.2 and the fact that $S(\mathbf{p}) = S(\mathbf{q}) = 2q$. Then, arguing exactly as in (E.16), we write

$$\begin{aligned} |W(\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q})| &\leq (2q)! \cdot \frac{\mathcal{R}_n(6)}{\eta^6} \cdot \sqrt{\eta^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}}} \sqrt{\eta^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}}} \\ &= \frac{\mathcal{R}_n(6)}{\eta^6} \cdot \sqrt{S(\mathbf{p})!} \sqrt{S(\mathbf{q})!} \sqrt{\eta^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}}} \sqrt{\eta^{\frac{S(\mathbf{p})+S(\mathbf{q})}{2}}}, \end{aligned}$$

and obtain that

$$\left|S_{n,2}^{(\ell)}\right| \ll \left(\frac{E_n}{3}\right)^{\ell} \frac{\mathcal{R}_n(6)}{\eta^6} \sum_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}} \frac{\beta_{p_0^{(1)}}^2 \dots \beta_{p_0^{(\ell)}}^2}{p_0^{(1)!} \dots p_0^{(\ell)!}!} \frac{\gamma_3^{(\ell)} \left\{p_j^{(i)}\right\}^2}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{3} p_j^{(i)!}!} \cdot \frac{S(\mathbf{p})!}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=0}^{3} p_j^{(i)!}!} \sqrt{\eta}^{S(\mathbf{p}) + S(\mathbf{q})}.$$

Proceeding exactly as in the end of the proof of Lemma E.7, shows that the series over \mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q} converges, which finishes the proof.

References

- Adler, R. J. and Taylor, J. E. Random fields and geometry. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, New York (2007). ISBN 978-0-387-48112-8. MR2319516.
- Angst, J., Pham, V.-H., and Poly, G. Universality of the nodal length of bivariate random trigonometric polynomials. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 370 (12), 8331–8357 (2018). MR3864378.
- Azaïs, J.-M. and Wschebor, M. Level sets and extrema of random processes and fields. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ (2009). ISBN 978-0-470-40933-6. MR2478201.
- Benatar, J. and Maffucci, R. W. Random waves on T³: nodal area variance and lattice point correlations. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (10), 3032–3075 (2019). MR3952558.
- Benatar, J., Marinucci, D., and Wigman, I. Planck-scale distribution of nodal length of arithmetic random waves. J. Anal. Math., 141 (2), 707–749 (2020). MR4179775.
- Berry, M. V. Regular and irregular semiclassical wavefunctions. J. Phys. A, 10 (12), 2083–2091 (1977). MR489542.
- Berry, M. V. Statistics of nodal lines and points in chaotic quantum billiards: perimeter corrections, fluctuations, curvature. J. Phys. A, **35** (13), 3025–3038 (2002). MR1913853.

- Billingsley, P. Convergence of probability measures. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics: Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, second edition (1999). ISBN 0-471-19745-9. MR1700749.
- Cammarota, V. Nodal area distribution for arithmetic random waves. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 372 (5), 3539–3564 (2019). MR3988618.
- Cammarota, V., Marinucci, D., and Rossi, M. Lipschitz-Killing curvatures for arithmetic random waves. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints (2020). arXiv: 2010.14165.
- Cammarota, V., Marinucci, D., and Wigman, I. Fluctuations of the Euler-Poincaré characteristic for random spherical harmonics. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 144 (11), 4759–4775 (2016a). MR3544528.
- Cammarota, V., Marinucci, D., and Wigman, I. On the distribution of the critical values of random spherical harmonics. J. Geom. Anal., 26 (4), 3252–3324 (2016b). MR3544960.
- Canzani, Y. and Hanin, B. Local universality for zeros and critical points of monochromatic random waves. Comm. Math. Phys., 378 (3), 1677–1712 (2020). MR4150887.
- Canzani, Y. and Sarnak, P. Topology and nesting of the zero set components of monochromatic random waves. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, **72** (2), 343–374 (2019). MR3896023.
- Cheng, S. Y. Eigenfunctions and nodal sets. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, **51** (1), 43–55 (1976). MR397805.
- Dalmao, F., Estrade, A., and León, J. R. On 3-dimensional Berry's model. ALEA Lat. Am. J. Probab. Math. Stat., 18 (1), 379–399 (2021). MR4213863.
- Dalmao, F., Nourdin, I., Peccati, G., and Rossi, M. Phase singularities in complex arithmetic random waves. *Electron. J. Probab.*, 24, Paper No. 71, 45 (2019). MR3978221.
- Dennis, M. R. Topological singularities in wave fields. Ph.D. thesis, University of Bristol (2001).
- Donnelly, H. and Fefferman, C. Nodal sets of eigenfunctions on Riemannian manifolds. Invent. Math., 93 (1), 161–183 (1988). MR943927.
- Duke, W. Hyperbolic distribution problems and half-integral weight Maass forms. Invent. Math., 92 (1), 73–90 (1988). MR931205.
- Duke, W. and Schulze-Pillot, R. Representation of integers by positive ternary quadratic forms and equidistribution of lattice points on ellipsoids. *Invent. Math.*, **99** (1), 49–57 (1990). MR1029390.
- Edwards, C. H., Jr. Advanced calculus of several variables. Dover Publications, Inc., New York (1994). ISBN 0-486-68336-2. MR1319337.
- Erdős, P. and Hall, R. R. On the angular distribution of Gaussian integers with fixed norm. volume 200, pp. 87–94 (1999). Paul Erdős memorial collection. MR1692282.
- Estrade, A. and León, J. R. A central limit theorem for the Euler characteristic of a Gaussian excursion set. Ann. Probab., 44 (6), 3849–3878 (2016). MR3572325.
- Granville, A. and Wigman, I. Planck-scale mass equidistribution of toral Laplace eigenfunctions. Comm. Math. Phys., 355 (2), 767–802 (2017). MR3681390.
- Grosswald, E. *Representations of integers as sums of squares*. Springer-Verlag, New York (1985). ISBN 0-387-96126-7. MR803155.
- Humpherys, J. and Jarvis, T. J. Foundations of applied mathematics. Vol. 2. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, PA (2020). ISBN 978-1-611976-05-2. MR4077176.
- Khovanskiĭ, A. G. Fewnomials, volume 88 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (1991). ISBN 0-8218-4547-0. MR1108621.
- Kratz, M. F. and León, J. R. Central limit theorems for level functionals of stationary Gaussian processes and fields. J. Theoret. Probab., 14 (3), 639–672 (2001). MR1860517.
- Krishnapur, M., Kurlberg, P., and Wigman, I. Nodal length fluctuations for arithmetic random waves. Ann. of Math. (2), 177 (2), 699–737 (2013). MR3010810.
- Kurlberg, P. and Wigman, I. On probability measures arising from lattice points on circles. Math. Ann., 367 (3-4), 1057–1098 (2017). MR3623219.
- Lee, J. M. Riemannian manifolds. An introduction to curvature, volume 176 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York (1997). ISBN 0-387-98271-X. MR1468735.

- Linnik, Y. V. Ergodic properties of algebraic fields. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 45. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York (1968). MR0238801.
- Logunov, A. Nodal sets of Laplace eigenfunctions: proof of Nadirashvili's conjecture and of the lower bound in Yau's conjecture. Ann. of Math. (2), 187 (1), 241–262 (2018). MR3739232.
- Maffucci, R. W. Nodal intersections of random eigenfunctions against a segment on the 2dimensional torus. Monatsh. Math., 183 (2), 311–328 (2017). MR3641930.
- Maffucci, R. W. Restriction of 3D arithmetic Laplace eigenfunctions to a plane. *Electron. J. Probab.*, 25, Paper No. 60, 17 (2020). MR4095056.
- Marinucci, D. and Peccati, G. Random fields on the sphere. Representation, limit theorems and cosmological applications, volume 389 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2011). ISBN 978-0-521-17561-6. MR2840154.
- Marinucci, D., Peccati, G., Rossi, M., and Wigman, I. Non-universality of nodal length distribution for arithmetic random waves. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 26 (3), 926–960 (2016). MR3540457.
- Marinucci, D. and Rossi, M. Stein-Malliavin approximations for nonlinear functionals of random eigenfunctions on S^d. J. Funct. Anal., **268** (8), 2379–2420 (2015). MR3318653.
- Marinucci, D. and Rossi, M. On the correlation between nodal and nonzero level sets for random spherical harmonics. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 22 (1), 275–307 (2021). MR4201595.
- Marinucci, D., Rossi, M., and Wigman, I. The asymptotic equivalence of the sample trispectrum and the nodal length for random spherical harmonics. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Stat., 56 (1), 374–390 (2020). MR4058991.
- Nourdin, I. and Peccati, G. Normal approximations with Malliavin calculus. From Stein's method to universality, volume 192 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2012). ISBN 978-1-107-01777-1. MR2962301.
- Nourdin, I., Peccati, G., and Rossi, M. Nodal statistics of planar random waves. Comm. Math. Phys., 369 (1), 99–151 (2019). MR3959555.
- Nourdin, I. and Rosiński, J. Asymptotic independence of multiple Wiener-Itô integrals and the resulting limit laws. Ann. Probab., 42 (2), 497–526 (2014). MR3178465.
- Nualart, D. The Malliavin calculus and related topics. Probability and its Applications (New York). Springer-Verlag, New York (1995). ISBN 0-387-94432-X. MR1344217.
- Oravecz, F., Rudnick, Z., and Wigman, I. The Leray measure of nodal sets for random eigenfunctions on the torus. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 58 (1), 299–335 (2008). MR2401223.
- Peccati, G. and Rossi, M. Quantitative limit theorems for local functionals of arithmetic random waves. In *Computation and combinatorics in dynamics, stochastics and control*, volume 13 of *Abel Symp.*, pp. 659–689. Springer, Cham (2018). MR3967400.
- Peccati, G. and Taqqu, M. S. Wiener chaos: moments, cumulants and diagrams. A survey with computer implementation, Supplementary material available online, volume 1 of Bocconi & Springer Series. Springer, Milan; Bocconi University Press, Milan (2011). ISBN 978-88-470-1678-1. MR2791919.
- Peccati, G. and Vidotto, A. Gaussian random measures generated by Berry's nodal sets. J. Stat. Phys., 178 (4), 996–1027 (2020). MR4064212.
- Rossi, M. The geometry of spherical random fields. ArXiv Mathematics e-prints (2016). arXiv: 1603.07575.
- Rossi, M. and Wigman, I. Asymptotic distribution of nodal intersections for arithmetic random waves. Nonlinearity, 31 (10), 4472–4516 (2018). MR3846437.
- Różański, M., Wituł a, R., and Hetmaniok, E. More subtle versions of the Hadamard inequality. Linear Algebra Appl., 532, 500–511 (2017). MR3688651.
- Rozenshein, Y. The number of nodal components of arithmetic random waves. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (22), 6990–7027 (2017). MR3737329.
- Rudin, W. *Real and complex analysis*. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, third edition (1987). ISBN 0-07-054234-1. MR924157.

- Rudnick, Z. and Wigman, I. On the volume of nodal sets for eigenfunctions of the Laplacian on the torus. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 9 (1), 109–130 (2008). MR2389892.
- Rudnick, Z. and Wigman, I. Nodal intersections for random eigenfunctions on the torus. Amer. J. Math., 138 (6), 1605–1644 (2016). MR3595496.
- Rudnick, Z., Wigman, I., and Yesha, N. Nodal intersections for random waves on the 3-dimensional torus. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 66 (6), 2455–2484 (2016). MR3580177.
- Sard, A. The measure of the critical values of differentiable maps. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 48, 883–890 (1942). MR7523.
- Sarnak, P. and Wigman, I. Topologies of nodal sets of random band-limited functions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 72 (2), 275–342 (2019). MR3896022.
- Shastri, A. R. Basic algebraic topology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (2014). ISBN 978-1-4665-6243-1. MR3134904.
- Stein, J. Table errata: Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables (Nat. Bur. Standards, Washington, D.C., 1964) edited by Milton Abramowitz and Irene A. Stegun. Math. Comp., 24 (110), 503 (1970). MR415962.
- Todino, A. P. A quantitative central limit theorem for the excursion area of random spherical harmonics over subdomains of \mathbb{S}^2 . J. Math. Phys., **60** (2), 023505, 33 (2019). MR3916834.
- Todino, A. P. Nodal lengths in shrinking domains for random eigenfunctions on S^2 . *Bernoulli*, **26** (4), 3081–3110 (2020). MR4140538.
- Wigman, I. Fluctuations of the nodal length of random spherical harmonics. Comm. Math. Phys., 298 (3), 787–831 (2010). MR2670928.
- Wigman, I. and Yesha, N. Central limit theorem for Planck-scale mass distribution of toral Laplace eigenfunctions. *Mathematika*, **65** (3), 643–676 (2019). MR3938309.
- Yau, S. T. Survey on partial differential equations in differential geometry. In Seminar on Differential Geometry, volume 102 of Ann. of Math. Stud., pp. 3–71. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J. (1982). MR645729.
- Yau, S.-T. Open problems in geometry. In Differential geometry: partial differential equations on manifolds (Los Angeles, CA, 1990), volume 54 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pp. 1–28. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (1993). MR1216573.
- Zelditch, S. Real and complex zeros of Riemannian random waves. In Spectral analysis in geometry and number theory, volume 484 of Contemp. Math., pp. 321–342. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2009). MR1500155.